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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents
of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any
liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report
is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present to you the
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting
Period").

REVIEW

The ongoing challenges in the Hong Kong property market are
placing considerable pressure on the Group due to cyclical factors
such as interest rates, economic conditions, and supply-demand
dynamics. As a result, the Group is facing significant difficulties in
2025 in providing design and project management services related
to facade and curtain wall installation. The decline in revenue is
mainly attributed to the substantial completion of projects last
year, with no new contracts tendered during the Reporting Period.
During the Reporting Period, the Company concentrated on four
ongoing projects and managed variation orders for several recently
completed projects, down from seven in 2024. However, the
revenue recognized from these variation orders is comparatively
minor compared to the overall project values. Consequently, this
situation has resulted in a significant reduction in recognized
revenue during the Reporting Period. The total revenue of the
Group decreased by approximately HK$189.8 million or 44.4%
from approximately HK$427.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2024 to approximately HK$237.6 million for the year ended 31
March 2025.

FORWARD

Looking ahead, the Board maintains a prudent yet optimistic
outlook for the Group's core business. The Group is dedicated to
allocating resources for its development while actively pursuing new
opportunities. To effectively navigate the risks and uncertainties
within the Hong Kong facade and curtain wall industry, the Group
will proactively identify and address challenges by enhancing
strategic flexibility and implementing timely cost control measures.

To ensure long-term sustainability, the Company will adopt a
cautious approach and remain vigilant against potential risks. It
will closely monitor its working capital management, including
possible fundraising efforts, while staying attentive to operational
developments. Additionally, the Company will explore acquisition
opportunities and seek diversification into new business ventures.
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Chairman’s Statement

EERE

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to express
my sincere gratitude to all of our customers, shareholders and
business partners for their patronage. | would also like to express
our sincere appreciation to the Group’'s management and staff for
their commitment, contribution and dedication throughout the
years.

By order of the Board
Chow Mo Lam
Chairman

31 October 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are a subcontractor that provides facade and curtain wall works
solutions in Hong Kong. Our solutions are customised to meet
the technical specifications and performance requirements of our
customers. We generally provide both design and build services
in our projects, ranging from developing designs, conducting
structural calculations, preparing shop drawings, sourcing and
procuring building materials, arranging for building material
logistics and installation works, project management to post-project
completion services. We engage subcontractors to perform the
installation work from time to time.

The Group had two ongoing projects as of 31 March 2025, with a
total contract value (including contract sum and variation orders)
of HK$539.0 million. The cumulative revenue recognized for these
projects up to that date amounted to HK$537.7 million. This
includes HK$205.9 million that was recognized specifically during
the financial year ended 31 March 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWED

OUTLOOK

The demand for facade and curtain wall works is primarily driven
by construction of residential and commercial buildings. The
development of residential buildings in Hong Kong has been a
major driver of facade and curtain wall works and the forecast
completions in 2025 and 2026 are 20,862 new units and 20,098
new units respectively. This information is sourced from the Hong
Kong Property Review 2025, issued by the Rating and Valuation
Department of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. This forecast of completions of residential
buildings indicated that the demand for facade and curtain wall
works is anticipated to decline slightly in the coming future.

Notwithstanding the negative impact from the economic slowdown
driven by the global macro-economic conditions, the Group remains
optimistic about its core business as the management believes
that there is a market for quality facade and curtain wall works in
Hong Kong. Despite the ongoing challenges facing Hong Kong's
property sector and related industries, which have affected facade
and curtain wall engineering works, the Company remains steadfast
in its commitment to sustaining this core business. The Company
is actively pursuing new project opportunities to enhance resilience
and drive growth.

To achieve this, the Company plans to diversify its operations
by expanding into complementary sectors, including (i) interior
decoration; (ii) electrical and drainage works; and (iii) logistics and
frozen storage warehouse.

The strategic expansion outlined above aligns with the Company's
objective to broaden the scope of our construction business. The
Company is evaluating opportunities to extend its operations into
Macau and Mainland China, leveraging its expertise to capture new
market potential. While concrete plans for these expansions have
not yet established, the Company is committed to exploring these
avenues.

By enhancing operational skills, pursuing business acquisitions, and
exploring expansion into related business sectors, the company aims
to generate profits for the group and mitigate sector-specific risks.
The company expects to navigate the evolving market landscape
effectively while capitalizing on emerging opportunities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The total revenue of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$189.8 million or 44.4% from approximately HK$427.3 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$237.6
million for the year ended 31 March 2025. Such decline is primarily
due to the substantial completion of projects last year. During
2025, the Company concentrated on four ongoing projects and
managed variation orders for several recently completed projects,
down from seven in 2024. However, the revenue recognized from
these variation orders is comparatively small compared to the
overall project values. Consequently, this situation has resulted in a
significant reduction in recognized revenue.

Our revenue during the Reporting Period are generated from the
Group’s customers in Hong Kong. For the year ended 31 March
2025, the Group generated revenue of approximately HK$237.6
million from residential properties projects, representing 100%
of the Group’s revenue. In contrast, for the year ended 31 March
2024, the Group reported revenue of approximately HK$373.8
million from residential property projects and HK$53.5 million from
commercial properties, representing approximately 87.5% and
12.5% of the Group's total revenue, respectively.

Cost of Services

The Group's cost of services primarily consisted of building material
costs, subcontracting charges, staff costs and other direct costs.
The cost of services decreased to approximately HK$320.9 million
for the year ended 31 March 2025 from approximately HK$403.2
million for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing a decrease
of approximately 20.4%. The decrease in service costs of the
Group is not proportional to the reduction in revenue. The primary
reasons include: (i) poor conditions at the construction site, which
necessitated the assignment of additional manpower as project
durations exceeded the planned schedule; (ii) the need for defect
rectifications; and (iii) rework or finalization of incomplete projects
due to subcontractors leaving or delivering substandard quality.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

Gross (Loss) Profit and Gross (Loss) Profit Margin

The Group recorded a gross loss of approximately HK$83.3 million,
resulting in a gross loss margin of 35.1% for the year ended 31
March 2025. This represents a significant decline compared to
the previous year, when the Group achieved a gross profit of
approximately HK$24.1 million and a gross profit margin of 5.6%.
This change reflects a deterioration in financial performance, with a
reduction in gross profit of HK$107.4 million and a decline of 40.7
percentage points in gross margin.

The gross loss and gross loss margin are due to the substantial
reduction in recognized revenue, while the cost of services remains
high, as detailed in the sections head “Revenue” and “Cost of
Services” above.

Other Income, Gains and Losses, Net

The other income, gains and losses, net increased by approximately
HK$0.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2025 to approximately
HK$2.6 million. The increase was primarily due to a rise in sundry
income related to the Guaranteed Aluminum Purchase Rebate
from a supplier, amounting to approximately HK$2.1 million. This
increase offset a reduction in project management fee income of
approximately HK$1.0 million and an increase of approximately
HK$0.4 million in fair value losses on payments for life insurance
policies for the Directors.

Impairment Losses Under Expected Credit Loss, Net

The Group recorded the impairment losses under the expected
credit loss model of approximately HK$23.0 million for the year
ended 31 March 2025 as compared to the impairment losses of
approximately HK$4.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2024,
which was mainly affected by the current industry and general
market conditions in which the Group operates.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group increased significantly by
approximately HK$11.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2025,
reaching HK$20.3 million. The increase was primarily attributable
to additional payments for laid-off staff concerning annual leave
compensation and payments in lieu of notice.

Finance Costs

Finance costs decreased from approximately HK$10.8 million for
the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$8.5 million for
the year ended 31 March 2025. The decrease in finance costs was
mainly attributable to a reduction in the bank borrowing balance
and a decline in the average interest rate of the bank borrowings.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group's income tax expenses decreased by approximately
HK$0.1 million, from about HK$0.8 million for the year ended 31
March 2024 to an income tax expense of approximately HK$0.7
million for the year ended 31 March 2025.

(Loss) Profit for the Year

The loss for the year ended 31 March 2025 amounted to
approximately HK$133.1 million, compared to a profit of HK$1.2
million in 2024. This significant loss is primarily attributable to (i)
gross losses on several projects recorded in 2025; (ii) an increase in
administrative expenses of approximately HK$11.1 million; and (iii)
the increase in impairment losses under expected credit loss model
HK$19.0 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Bank balances and cash as at 31 March 2025 was approximately
HK$0.8 million, which decreased by approximately HK$11.9
million when compared with approximately HK$12.7 million as at
31 March 2024. The pledged bank balances were approximately
HK$36.6 million as at 31 March 2024 and approximately HK$35.3
million as at 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had outstanding borrowings of
approximately HK$135.0 million repayable on demand or within
one year (2024: HK$148.9 million) and no outstanding borrowings
of repayable after one year (2024: HK$0.6 million). The Group's
borrowings were denominated in HK$. The amounts due are based
on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. For
information about the interest rate, please refer to note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The current ratio of the Group remained steady at approximately
1.2 as at 31 March 2024 to approximately 0.79 as at 31 March
2025. The gearing ratio, being the net debt (defined as bank
and other borrowings less bank balances and cash and pledged
bank balances) divided by net debt plus total equity at the end of
the year, increased from approximately 57.8% to approximately
241.2% as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025, respectively.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange on 23 February 2018 (the “Listing Date”).

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$8,487,440 and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
848,744,000 of HK$0.01 each.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE PLACING
OF NEW ORDINARY SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 23
August 2024, 28 August 2024, 12 September 2024, and 8 October
2024 regarding the placing of new ordinary shares of the Company
to not less than six placees (the “Placees”) who and whose ultimate
beneficial owners were independent third parties.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Company and the placing agent (the “Placing Agent”) entered
into the placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) on 23 August
2024, under which the Company appointed the Placing Agent to act
as agent for procuring Placees on a best effort basis for a maximum
of 160,000,000 ordinary shares (the “Target Placing Share(s)”) at
the adjusted placing shares at HK$0.041 per Placing Share.

On 8 October 2024, the Company completed the placement of
48,744,000 Shares (the "Placing Shares”), as the Target Placing
Shares stated in the announcement dated 23 August 2024 were
not fully subscribed. The net proceeds of the Placing Shares, after
deducting the commission paid to the Placing Agent, relevant
professional fees, and other related costs and expenses incurred
in relation to the Placing Shares (“Net Proceeds”), amounted to
approximately HK$1.90 million. The net proceeds per Placing Share
is approximately HK$0.039.

As of 31 March 2025, the Company has fully utilised the net
proceeds of HK$1.9 million. The Net Proceeds applied by the Group
during the period from the completion date of the Placing Shares
up to 31 March 2025 are as follows:

EEENWED N

RARIREENRE (REMRIE]) R202448
RA23B:TvEEEwE ((REwE]) - Hitt -
AAREZEREREELSRIBIZIBEFTE
ERFEAEARCABRLEEEERE SR
70.041%8 703 88 £ % 160,000,000/% & 18 I
(TBEERERMD]) -

R2024F10A8H » N A A TKEE
48,744,0000 fetn (TERERRM 1) - b ThER
HE A2024F8A23HM A EFT#L A B 12
ERDAEERRBERE - ERMDAB R
HFREHRENESERERA:  HEFZE
BRANMRERMDES ZEMEREK ALY
% (BB FBEDNEBI0EBEETT -
IR R & AR 10 FT 15 5K IB F 88 40 80.039/8 7T ©

720253 A318 A AR ERHBABME
FRIBFFEI9OBEB T - AR RN T A HE
202593 A3V IFHEMMA 2 B RIEF
BT

Net proceeds Actual use of Unused
Intended use of proceeds (approximately) proceeds amount
RS REFE BEREA
FRERABERZR (#BE49) Fri&RE rBRAEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Bank loan repayment HK$1.0 million HK$1.0 million -
BERRITERK 1.0888 T 1.088ETT S
General working capital (including staff cost, professional
fees, rental payment and other general administrative
and operating expenses) HK$0.9 million HK$0.9 million -
—REEES (BEEINA FEER .-
MeMRREM —RITHREERR) 09AEBTT 0.9BBETT =
Total HK$1.9 million HK$1.9 million -
et 1T9A&AETT T9R&EATT -
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have other plans
for material investments or capital assets as at the date of this
report.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s bank balances with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$35.3 million (2024: HK$36.6
million), trade receivables with total amount of approximately
HK$5.0 million (2024: HK$20.0 million) and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$10.1 million
(2024: HK$11.4 million) were pledged to secure certain letters of
guarantee facility and banking facilities respectively, granted to the
Group.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2025, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu")
and a company controlled by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr. Chow")
and his close family members (namely, Polyfaith Holdings Limited)
had pledged their properties to secure banking facilities granted
to certain subsidiaries of the Group for nil consideration. Details
regarding the pledge of asset of Directors for the bank and other
borrowings are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statement.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group did not have any
significant capital commitments.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS

There were no significant investments held, acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies by the Group during the
Reporting Period. Saved as disclosed in this report, the Group did
not have other plans for significant investments, acquisitions and
disposal of subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

The majority of the Group’s businesses is in Hong Kong and is
denominated in HK$, Renminbi and United States Dollars (“USD"). As
no material monetary assets or liabilities were denominated in foreign
currencies, the Group is of the opinion that its exposure to foreign
exchange rate risk is limited. Thus, the Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 19 (2024: 153) employees.
Total staff cost (including Directors’ emoluments) were
approximately HK$35.7 million (2024: HK$56.8 million). The
remuneration package offered to our employees generally included
basic salaries, bonuses and other cash allowances or subsidies. The
Group determines the salary of our employees mainly based on
each employee’s qualifications, relevant experience, position and
seniority. The Group conducts annual review on salary increase
and promotions based on the performance of each employee. The
Group provides on-the-job training to our employees and sponsors
certain employees to attend training courses.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(a) Acquisition

On 24 April 2025, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company (the “Purchaser”) and the vendors entered
into the sales and purchase agreement, pursuant to which
the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to purchase, and the
vendors has conditionally agreed to sell, the 10,000 ordinary
shares of Kings Construction & Decoration Company Limited
(the "Target Company”), a private company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability, representing the entire issued
shares in the Target Company, at the total consideration
of HK$7,500,000 by issue of the Convertible Bonds. Upon
completion, the entire shareholding of the Target Company
will be owned by the Purchaser, and accordingly, the Target
Company will become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. Further details of this transaction are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 24 April 2025.
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(b) Issuance of convertible bonds

On 30 June 2025, the Company entered into two subscription
agreements with Mr. Wong Chi Kan Johnny and Ms. Yip
Nuen Yu (the “Subscribers”), pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to issue to the Subscribers, and
the Subscribers have conditionally agreed to subscribe for,
the convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount
of HK$1,274,938 at the conversion price of HK$0.024 per
conversion share, the ordinary share of nominal or par value
of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company which
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of the conversion
rights attached to the convertible bonds. Further details of
this transaction are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 30 June 2025.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 25
January 2018. Up to 31 March 2025, no share option had been
granted. Please refer to note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group mainly carries out its business in Hong Kong. To the
best of the Directors’ knowledge, the Group has complied with all
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong during the year.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that the risk management practices are
important and uses its best effort to ensure it has sufficiently
mitigated the risks present in our operations and financial position
as efficiently and effectively as possible.

- Changes in the cost of building materials and staff as well
as the subcontracting fees may result in cost overrun, which
could materially affect our results of operation and financial
performance;

- The Group may face difficulties in refinancing or increase in
cost of financing;

- Mismanagement or delay of our projects will materially affect
our reputation and also our financial performance potentially
resulting in penalties and additional costs for retaining staff,
rectifying defects, and purchasing materials for rework;
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Management Discussion and Analysis

- Cash flow of our projects may fluctuate;

- We rely on subcontractors to complete our projects.
Underperformance of our subcontractors or unavailability
of subcontractors may adversely affect our operations,
profitability and reputation; and

- Our success significantly depends on the key management
and our ability to attract and retain additional facade and
curtain wall design team staff.

For other risks and uncertainties the Group facing, please refer
to the section headed "Risk Factors” in the prospectus dated 31
January 2018 (the “Prospectus”).

THE DISCLAIMER AND ACTION PLAN TO
ADDRESS THE DISCLAIMER

The Group reported a gross loss of approximately HK$83.3 million
and loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$133.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2025 and,
as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and net
liabilities of approximately HK$58.0 million and HK$57.9 million
respectively. Moreover, the Group's total borrowings amounted to
approximately HK$135.0 million were classified as current liabilities
as at 31 March 2025, while its bank balances and cash amounted
to approximately HK$0.8 million only. These conditions indicate the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore
it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities
in the normal course of business. Due to the uncertainty of the
Group’s ability to maintain adequate future cash flows, the auditor
has a disclaimer of opinion on the going concern of the Gorup.

The Group is taking the measures to strengthen its financial
position, including:

(i) financial support from the major shareholder from time to
time, by considering the financial needs of the Group. The
Company’s controlling shareholder, C.N.Y. Holdings Limited
undertakes that it will provide financial support to the Group
based on the assessment of financial needs;
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(i) negotiating with banks and financial institutions for new
facilities on the future projects to be successfully engaged
by the Group. As at the date of this report, the Group is
awarded for three projects (the “Awarded Projects”) and the
Group is in negotiation with the bank on Awarded Projects
for bank facilities if necessary;

(iiiy  considering for fund raising by issuing shares to enrich the
capital of the Group. The Group is considering issuing shares
in appropriate timing to utilize the ability for fund raising to
enrich the financial position of the Group; and

(iv)  negotiating with subcontractors for those long overdue
payments to be capitalised, for reducing the liabilities.

The Group has been actively negotiating and will continue to
maintain constant communications with creditors and lenders
of the Group on the extension of borrowings. By leveraging on
the support from potential strategic partners and/or the major
shareholder (as disclosed on the announcement dated 8 October
2025), the Group will continue to work with lenders and creditors
of the Group on new principal and/or interests payments terms.

THE MANAGEMENT'S VIEW AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEW TOWARDS THE
DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The management of the Company concurs with the view of the
Auditors. The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the
Disclaimer for the Current Year and has well noted the basis thereof.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

REMOVAL OF THE DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

As described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the
management of the Company has been undertaking a number of plans
and measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position
and to restructure the existing borrowings. The above action plans and
measures have been fully discussed with the Audit Committee and
the Auditors. Contingent on the aforementioned plans and measures
having a successful or favourable outcome, the Company expects that
the Disclaimer of Opinion can be removed in the following year’s audit
of the Company (i.e. the audit for the financial year ending 31 March
2026). The Auditor’s concern is on the status and development of (i)
the Group's various defaulted borrowings; (i) ongoing negotiations
with banks for new facilities; (iii) negotiating with certain suppliers and
sub-contractors to extend payment due date and reduce the amount of
payment at the reporting date; and (iv) the Group is able to enter into
new profitable construction contracts and generate net operating cash
inflows from its future business operations. When the Group is able to
resolve each of these matters to a satisfactory level, and provide with
sufficient appropriate audit evidence relating to such matters to the
Auditors, the Auditors will consider the removal of the Disclaimer of
opinion in the coming audits of the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Mo Lam, aged 71, is one of the controlling shareholders
(the “Controlling Shareholders”, which has the meaning as cited
under the GEM Listing Rules), an executive Director, the chairman
of the Board and a member of the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee, respectively. Mr. Chow is one of the
founding members of the Group and joined the Group in February
2006. He is primarily responsible for the overall business strategy,
annual budget proposals and major business decisions of the Group
with a focus on our finance. Mr. Chow was appointed as a Director
on 25 May 2017, appointed as the chairman of the Board on 9
August 2017 and re-designated as an executive Director on 25
January 2018. He is also a director of 2 subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Chow obtained a Master of Business Administration from the
Henley Management College (which is, after merging with another
school, currently known as the Henley Business School) in the
United Kingdom through distance learning in 1995 and a Master
of Laws in People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"”) Law from The
Open University of Hong Kong (currently known as Hong Kong
Metropolitan University) in 2005. Mr. Chow is also a fellow member
of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants from the
United Kingdom. Mr. Chow has over 20 years of experience in
the construction industry, and has been a founder, an investor
and a manager of curtain wall companies in Hong Kong and
the PRC. He has been a director of CMD Aluminium Industry
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (HBEESBEBHEBCRINER2A]) ("CMD (S2)"),
which is principally engaged in the manufacturing of curtain wall
in the PRC and wholesale of construction materials, glass and
aluminium products in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau, since
February 2003, and gained experience in the curtain wall industry
for over 10 years therein. In February 2006, Mr. Chow co-founded
Polyfair Construction & Engineering Limited (“Polyfair HK") with
other founding members, aiming to capture emerging business
opportunities within the construction industry in Hong Kong.

Mr. Chow is a director of the following companies:

HITES

BARMEE 715 AEREE (AEGEME
MRBIFTEIMARE) 2 —  HITEE  EF
CEIREURTHEZESRIRBEEEGKE -
BrRERBETEENBIRAZ— ﬁ?mmizﬂ
bu/\zlxﬁlofﬁzi BEAEBMNEEBER
RE FEBEEERTBEBRTE 23
ﬁ&ﬁﬁ%%%%ﬂ B 20179E5 A25
HEZTAZE  M2017F8AHEZT A
BEeXF  WH2018F1 A25HAENTE
F-HMARNRTREMBATNES -

|

9954F i iR 3% i 22 F ES HB = 7
E‘ﬁm—ﬁﬁﬂﬁémfé REAEZT
IEmEEE LT 246 WHK2005
jifﬁ(f %@%/%%BEKE)E’J
REBEL BN

4 N

/

ﬁy‘”ﬂﬁi
3

i

=

118 I

E

B
%

+

DSt > b I8 4B HF
DA
o
=

S

0
IH I8
Raksidsa
B HF
= Bt

\
V

- N EE
B ugp 2 =

il

H%ot)g

e EI

o
w

o
W%ﬁ*
ISR
B AERY o

=

% 18 2 A
[ 5B my g 2 D

o
—RF
i
FAl
e
S
o
o
w
H
N
|

/

BX

i S @B S HT 2 T e ofF

5 DU D24 o 4y
o am N

AR\ eivy

HH
o
>
k>
B <5
I
B
&
ot
il
Rl

&l ([CMD

tEERR

E

=R FAELE

%ﬁ > FA2006F2 A -

= éwf?%*r“ﬂf
CEERERASZE

Q

N
I
Il

L HE g
hui
=t

~

«“n
N
6
o
«m
T
T4t
rN

S

o 3 -
/(HEN

ft 1 %A

&S5

2
_H—DHI' ;
i =
g
o

EH -
jnts2)
i

| o
o

ﬁ,
\
£
ﬁtwﬁmﬂ}}
7l Bpt
o
l_\
\_// =

P

Ha

i e
&
FRr
>

W o -
0 1 B

el
i~

o
B

FAREREATRANES :

Name of Company Nature of Business Jurisdiction Date of Dissolution
NCIECE: EBHE AEEE fREE
Polyfair Construction Inactive Hong Kong 15 February 2018
& Engineering
(International) Limited
Polyfair Construction 7 S 7% &5 201842 A15H
& Engineering
(International) Limited
Polyfair Chemical Material Inactive Hong Kong 15 February 2018
Limited
Polyfair Chemical Material 3 % 2 7% BB 20182 A15H
Limited
CMD Aluminium Industry Manufacturing of curtain wall The PRC Had been in business relationship

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd and wholesale of construction
materials, glass and aluminium
products in the PRC,

Hong Kong and Macau
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Name of Company Nature of Business Jurisdiction Date of Dissolution
YNGR EBMHE AEERE i =R
CMD Metal Industry Holding company Hong Kong Nil
(H.K.) Limited
BETBERE (5E) 2l /N ES i
BRAF]
Keen Elegant Limited Property holding Hong Kong Nil
Keen Elegant Limited BEMHE BB i

Mr. Chow is a proprietor of Albert Chow C.P.A., a secretarial firm
incorporated in Hong Kong which, save and except for providing
company secretarial service to Polyfair HK since our establishment
up to 1 September 2017, does not have any business relationship
with the Group.

Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, aged 67, is one of the Controlling
Shareholders, an executive Director, the chief executive officer of
the Group and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, respectively. Mr. Yu joined the Group as an
executive officer of Polyfair HK in April 2009 and was appointed as a
director of Polyfair HK in February 2010. Mr. Yu is primarily responsible
for the overall business strategy, annual budget proposals, and major
business decisions of the Group with a focus on our operation and
project management. Mr. Yu was appointed as a Director on 25 May
2017 and re-designated as an executive Director on 25 January 2018.
He is also a director of 2 subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Yu has over 30 years of experience in facade and curtain wall,
aluminium window and entrance door construction, and project and
enterprise management in Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Yu co-founded Condo Construction & Engineering Company
Limited (subsequently known as Condo Curtain Wall Company
Limited) and Condo Engineering (China) Limited in 1983 and 1986,
which specialised in the design, supply and installation of aluminium
windows, curtain walls, glass walls and metal claddings in Hong
Kong, Macau and the PRC, and worked therein until December
2002. During his service in these two companies, Mr. Yu participated
in business operations and was responsible for overseeing the design,
supply, installation and quality control matter of projects.

Mr. Wong Wai Man, aged 53, was appointed as an executive Director
on 16 May 2024. Mr. Wong is primarily responsible for the overall
strategic management and development of the Group’s business
operations. He is also a director of 3 subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wong has over 20 years of business management experience
in different industries, such as insurance, environmental protection
and engineering. He has held marketing and management positions
in different international financial groups, and has been involved
in corporate investment and project management since 2014. Mr.
Wong has been serving as a managing director of Smart United
Consultant Limited, a Hong Kong company, since March 2017.

& % 4 AAlbert Chow C.P.AHIREZE -
Albert Chow C.P.A. B—FRESE B Mk 7 #Y
WEQR  BAETRMKIZEEZR2017F9A1
AItABEBRESREQFRMERBEI - BA
BEET A EKBEER -

675 BIERBRRZ— 1T
BITREZARTFMEE SRR
¢ B o A5 A 20094 A bu)\ZJS
SR BHITHESE » WHKR20104F
%%%M§$ REETESE
LXK FTEREERK
EEBEERMOZEERER
HER2017F5 2B ER T AE
2018F 1 A2SHAMEHITE S - %
A2 B A RIMES -

m

B
Wit
el @*

>1HFF

N S IR
ERY RN
mRe I -
H:Emﬁ)
>m§r<|-
2y

m
it
A
=
)II]‘!';H

JHE

355(
=
;E

St 4 00 H i

- R Bt
BHEK o e
D)%%W%m
IS H%&E

ﬂﬁ:

EH

%%i&%%%%ﬂ K - saE R AHM

B ﬁeﬂlﬁi&ﬁtaoim
+%$ﬂw%¢&
IiﬁﬂL ATIRA
T)Eﬁﬁfﬂl

o
[0
(o)}
i
i
>_

?‘“@
tg
=
>,
4
A
i
EwN%
ﬁlb

=
W%p}@f
E'IAHH’
D=
D=

7

piind
%Mm

%Fﬁﬁglﬂ#\
> B 6
| 2
=i
F

B
<
X
!
el
[=a)
u

o

\é\%ﬂwyﬁcﬁ#
NI AR -

B K E
A
 EE S

i
N
o
o .
No
=
N
5 -
=]l
N\
el
&
=yl

s
oF
HF
W
pais
e |
S
i3
oo P
m
il
m
o M
o
= of
s

&
X
s
sl
!
s
o
At
tm} B

1

(o)}

E%iEEQ

S 0 5358 0 1202445
5 I%&%*JE

%H}:m

2 A
+t @ D

m
D e i
il

FEERRE  RERNTE
HBIB204F 1) X 7% B IR L B
REeRMEEEIHSH

%ﬁﬂ‘rﬂ ° o
%Dnr )ﬁ%%#ﬁ
T i I8 —

I % A 20

S - oI

ot o T at

R

‘ﬁ =\
S E W)

° J5 ME IEF ZB M

h
&
i
mj

oK
>
‘Ell
=
ek

3’

Annual Report 2025 —Z - FH5 4 21




Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEBEFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah, aged 74, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 25 January 2018. He also serves as the
chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee respectively. He
has been working as a lecturer at the School of Continuing and
Professional Studies of The Chinese University of Hong Kong since
1996. Dr. Lung also worked at the City University of Macau from
2013 to 2018, where he last served as an assistant professor.

Dr. Lung was employed as a company secretary (November 2002 to
October 2009) and financial controller (November 2002 to October
2008) of VSTECS Holdings Limited (Formerly known as VST Holdings
Limited) , a main board listed company (stock code: 856). He was
also appointed as an independent non-executive director of eprint
Group Limited (stock code: 1884) from November 2013 to August
2016. Dr. Lung has over 30 years of professional and commercial
experience in company secretary, accounting and finance.

Dr. Lung is a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute respectively. He is also an associate member of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Dr. Lung obtained a degree of
Doctor of Philosophy in Business Administration from the Tarlac
State University in the Philippines through distance learning in
November 2012 and a degree of Master of Business Administration
from the University of Macau (formerly known as the University of
East Asia, Macau) in February 1988.

Mr. Man Yun Yee, aged 72, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 12 February 2020. He also serves as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. He has over 40
years of experience in auditing, accounting and management. He
is currently an engagement partner of Dickson W. P. Mak & Co.,
a certified public accountants firm in Hong Kong. He first joined
Dickson W. P. Mak & Co. in May 2009 and served as a senior auditor
from May 2009 to April 2012 and from February 2015 to April 2016,
and he has become an engagement partner since May 2016.

Mr. Man obtained a master of professional accountancy from
Jinan University in the People’s Republic of China through distance
learning in January 2002. He was admitted as an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
May 2000 and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in March 2005.

Ms. Sun Shui, aged 48, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 11 December 2024. She also serves as
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Ms. Sun has
over 22 years of experience in corporate secretarial, corporate
governance and compliance matters.

Ms. Sun Shui is a member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom. Ms. Sun obtained an Honours Bachelor of Business
Administration degree from University of Lincoln, a Master of
Corporate Governance degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and a Juris Doctor degree from City University of Hong
Kong.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Directors, having reviewed the corporate governance practices
of the Company, confirm that the Company has complied with all
the applicable code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the
GEM Listing Rules, except for the code provision D.1.2 of the Code.

Code provision D.1.2 requires management to provide all
members of the board with monthly updates on the issuer’s
business. The management of the Company currently reports to
the Board on a half-yearly basis on the Group’s performance,
position and prospects and will promptly escalate to the Board
if any material issues is noted. The Board believes that, with the
executive Directors overseeing the daily operations of the Group
and the effective communication between the executive Directors,
management, and the non-executive Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors) on the Group's affairs, the
current practice is sufficient for the Board members to discharge
their duties. The Board will continue to review this practice and will
make any necessary changes when appropriate, reporting to the
shareholders accordingly.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
INTERESTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this
report, the Directors were not aware of any business or interest
of each of the Directors, or the controlling shareholders of the
Company and their respective close associates (as defined under
the GEM Listing Rules) that competes or may compete with the
business of the Group and any other conflicts of interest which any
such person has or may have within the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealing as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard”).
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Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the Required Standard for
the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
“Employees Written Guidelines”) no less than the Required
Standard for securities transactions by employees who are likely to
be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the
Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises six Directors, consisting of three
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman of the Board and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee)

Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (Chief Executive Officer and a member of
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee)

Mr. Wong Wai Man

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah (Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee)

Mr. Man Yun Yee (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee)

Ms. Sun Shui (Chairman of the Nomination Committee and
a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee)

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management” from pages 20 to 22 of this annual report.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules,
changes of the information of the Directors during the Year,
required to be disclosed, are set out as below:

1. The monthly remuneration or salary of each of the following
directors of the company had been adjusted and took effect

Corporate Governance Report
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RIFEGEM ETARBIE 17.50AMNIE  KNEEZA
THRENEEENSEFHIWOT :

1. ARBTISEE2EAMEHEE
2 FAE . WHR2024F11A1B S 2

on or after 1 November 2024. BER -
Monthly
remuneration Revised
or salary monthly
before  remuneration
Name of Directors Positions reduction or salary
Hlm A1 8 B KAEFA
EEng B FMmEe FM=mE e
Mr. Chow Mo Lam Executive Director HK$141,000.00 HK$1.00
JE AR o A WMITES 141,000.00/% 7T 1.00% 7T
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen Executive Director HK$188,600.00 HK$1.00
RUKFE BITES 188,600.00/%8 7T 1.00% 7T
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah Independent non-executive HK$19,200.00 HK$5,000.00
Director (the “INED")
REEERL BYIERITES 19,200.00/%& 7T 5,000.007% 7T
([BIFEFITES])
Mr. Man Yun Yee INED HK$19,200.00 HK$5,000.00
MRSt BUIFFRITEF 19,200.00/8 7T 5,000.007%8 7T
2. Mr. Wong Kam Man resigned as an executive Director of 2. BERXEEEHARNRAARITES

the Company, with effect from 11 December 2024.

3. Mr. Wong Chi Yung resigned as an INED on 11 December 3.

2024, and immediately ceased to be the chairman of the
Nomination Committee, as well as a member of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

4. Ms. Sun Shui was appointed as an INED on 11 December 4.

2024, and immediately took on the roles of the chairman
of the Nomination Committee, as well as a member of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
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Board Meetings

For the year ended 31 March 2025, 5 board meetings were held,
of which all the meetings were regular Board meetings. Apart from
regular board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors.

Notice of at least 14 days are given to all Directors for all regular
Board meetings and the Directors can include matters for discussion
in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying Board
papers in respect of regular Board meetings are sent out in full
to all Directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all Board meetings are circulated to Directors for
comment within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretary of the respective meetings and all
Directors have access to Board papers and related materials, and
are provided with adequate information in a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer
are held by Mr. Chow Mo Lam and Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen,
respectively. The chairman provides leadership and is responsible
for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The chief
executive officer focuses on the Company’s business development
and daily management and operations generally.

Independent non-executive Directors

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors, representing
at least one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code states that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the executive Directors, Mr. Chow Mo Lam and Mr.
Yu Lap On Stephen, entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years in 2018 and renewed his service
agreement for a term of three years from 23 February 2021, and
further renewed his service agreement for a term of three years
from 23 February 2024 until terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.
Another executive Director, Mr. Wong Wai Man, also entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years from
16 May 2024.

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah, an independent non-executive Director,
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company with a term
of three years in 2018 and renewed his letter of appointment for
a term of three years from 23 February 2021, and further renewed
his service agreement for a term of three years from 23 February
2024 until terminated by not less than one month’s notice in
writing served by either party on the other. Another independent
non-executive Director, Mr. Man Yun Yee, also entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company with a term of three years
from 12 February 2020 and renewed his letter of appointment for
a term of three years from 12 February 2023 until terminated by
not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either party
on the other. Additionally, Ms. Sun Shui, also an independent
non-executive Director, has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for a three-year term commencing on 11
December 2024.

One-third of the Directors are subject to re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (“"AGM")
pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”). The term of offices of every Director is also subject to
retirement by rotation at the AGM at least once every three years
pursuant to the Articles.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.
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The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, determines the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company, and ensures that sound internal
control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are primarily responsible
for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves its right to decide on all major matters relating
to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management.

The Board also advocates the participation of independent
non-executive Directors and (if any) non-executive Directors
in various Board committees to safeguard objectivity and
independence.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.
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Every newly appointed Director received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction training upon their appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of
the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Throughout the year, Mr. Wong Wai Man, Executive
Director, and Ms. Sun Shui, Independent Non-Executive Director,
participated in a director induction training, where they also learned
about the significance of corporate governance and the obligations
and responsibilities of Directors in a listed company. The Board and
each Director should have a separate and independent access to and
meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.

The Directors have participated in the following training during the
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year ended 31 March 2025: TF I -
Directors Types of Training "ot gE $ 3|4
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chow Mo Lam B BEMEE B
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen B RUTHAE B
Mr. Wong Wai Man (appointed on HE XL E (R2024F
16 May 2024) A&B SHI6HEZF) AKB
Mr. Wong Kam Man (resigned on =B A (R20244F
11 December 2024) B 124118 B#1E) B
Independent non-executive Directors BIYFHITES
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah A&B EEEE L+ AKB
Mr. Man Yun Yee A&B XER k& AKB
Mr. Wong Chi Yung (resigned on FTEBRE (KR20244F
11 December 2024) B 124 11H g ) B
Ms. Sun Shui (appointed on BRI+ (R2024%F
11 December 2024) A&B 12A11HEZ(F) AKB
Notes: ML
Types of Training AR A
A:  Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, A: HEMEFBETIRMENS WIS g2
seminars, conferences and workshops R TEH EEIRE
B:  Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and B: HMEMBFHEHET WA HT - i kAE

relevant publications

E2RilkY)
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authorities and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out under “Corporate
Information” of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 January 2018
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to
5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision D.3.3 of the
CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules. The
written terms of reference of the Audit Committee was revised on
12 November 2018.

On 11 December 2024, Mr. Wong Chi Yung tendered his
resignation as an Independent Non-Executive Director. He ceased
to be a member of the Audit Committee effective immediately.
On the same day, Ms. Sun Shui was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee.
As at the date of this Report, the Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors: Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah,
Mr. Man Yun Yee and Ms. Sun Shui. Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah was
appointed to serve as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings for the year ended 31 March
2025, at which the Audit Committee made recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and removal of external auditor, reviewed
the interim and annual financial statements and the related results
announcement, reports and documents discussed and confirmed
with the management the effectiveness of the Group’s financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control systems,
reviewed the risk management and internal control systems and
made recommendation to the Board and reviewed the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance to comply with the
CG Code. The Audit Committee members met the external auditors
once a year without the presence of the executive Directors.

The Company’'s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2025 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2025 comply with applicable accounting
standards, the GEM Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures
have been made.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 25
January 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision
E.1.2 of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee has adopted
the recommendation model described in code provision E.1.2(c)(ii)
of CG code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are
to make recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior management
of the Group; to determine, with delegated responsibility, the
specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment; review
performance-based remuneration; and ensure none of our Directors
determine their own remuneration. The remuneration policy for
the Directors and senior management members is based on their
experience, level of responsibility and general market conditions.
Any discretionary bonus and other merit payments are linked to the
profit performance of the Group and the individual performance of
the Directors and senior management members.

On 11 December 2024, Mr. Wong Chi Yung tendered his
resignation as an Independent Non-Executive Director. He ceased
to be a member Remuneration Committee effective immediately.
On the same day, Ms. Sun Shui was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of the Remuneration
Committee. As at the date of this report, the Remuneration
Committee currently consists of five members, namely Mr. Man
Yun Yee, Mr. Chow Mo Lam, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, Dr. Lung
Cheuk Wah and Ms. Sun Shui. The chairman of the Remuneration
Committee is Mr. Man Yun Yee.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, 1 meeting was held by the
Remuneration Committee, at which the Remuneration Committee
discussed and reviewed the existing policy and structure of the
remuneration for the Directors and senior management, assessed
the performance of the Directors and approved the remuneration
packages of senior management of the Company. During the
year ended 31 March 2025, the Remuneration Committee
recommended a reduction in directors' fees and salaries to the
Board, which approved the resolution by way of written resolution.

No share options were granted under the Share Option Scheme for
the year ended 31 March 2025.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band are
set out in note 12 in the notes to the audited consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 25
January 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rules 5.36A to 5.36B of the GEM Listing Rules code provision B.3.1
of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
are to review the structure, size and composition of the Board on a
regular basis; identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members; assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and make recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

On 11 December 2024, Mr. Wong Chi Yung tendered his
resignation as an independent non-executive Director. He ceased
to be the chairman of the Nomination Committee effective
immediately. On the same day, Ms. Sun Shui was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director and the chairman of
the Nomination Committee. As at the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee currently consists of five members, namely
Ms. Sun Shui, Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah, Mr. Man Yun Yee, Mr.
Chow Mo Lam and Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen. The chairman of the
Nomination Committee is Ms. Sun Shui.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company's Board
diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and industrial and regional experience etc. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary,
and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria
necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, 1 meeting was held by the
Nomination Committee, at which the Nomination Committee
reviewed the Board’'s structure, size, composition and diversity,
and assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors. Additionally, the Nomination Committee has reviewed
and approved the appointments of both the Executive Director and
the Independent Non-Executive Director during the year.
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Attendance Record for Board Meeting,

Committees’ Meeting and General Meeting

The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, the
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Board Committees meetings and the general meeting for the year H& &% Z=FEZ8eemMREASNT

ended 31 March 2025 is set out in the following table: BERINMT -
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting Meeting
E¥ M RE
Name of Directors EENZ Ezegs ZEEEH ZEEEH ZEEEH BRRAE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman) —~ BRMKEL (&) N/A
5/5 TEA 1”7 11 n
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen RURTHE N/A
(Chief Executive Officer) (TR AE%) 5/5 @A 11 11 17
Mr. Wong Kam Man (Note 2) &R X4 (f1#2) N/A N/A N/A
3/3 TEA TEA TNEA 171
Mr. Wong Wai Man (Note 1) BEXEEMET) N/A N/A N/A N/A
5/5 TEA TEA TEA TNEA
Independent Non-executive BYEHITEES
Directors
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah EEERT 5/5 212 11 11 11
Mr. Man Yun Yee YEREE 5/5 22 ”n 1N 1/1
Mr. Wong Chi Yung (Note 3)  EEB%A (Hf:#23) 33 22 11 11 11
Ms. Sun Shui (Note 4) BEnit (hfi4) N/A N/A N/A N/A
171 TER TER TER TER
Total number of meeting(s) EELE 5 2 1 1 1
Notes: BT -

(M

Mr. Wong Wai Man appointed as executive Director on 16 May
2024.

Mr. Wong Kam Man resigned as executive Director due to his
personal health issues, with effect from 11 December 2024.

Mr. Wong Chi Yung resigned as an independent non-executive
Director and ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, effective 11
December 2024 as he would like to spend more time pursuing his
own business.

Ms. Sun Shui has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, effective 11 December 2024. Since that date, she has
served as the chairman of Nomination Committee and a member of
both the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee.

EERXEENR202455 A 16 AEZE R
e

ERNEERBEARFERERTIRTES
BH2024F12 11T HARLER -

TEBLAECBITBYIENTES THE
TARREREZEE FHNZE8SRIZEEZE
BEeME  B2024F 1211 BBER - AR
BEERREZRERBRELRG 2 ET -

BRIt tEEZTABYIERNTES A
20245 12 A 1M BRAEM - BZ B - HIET
REZECIRURTHNEZESGRERZE
gKE °

Annual Report 2025 — T -5 33




Corporate Governance Report
TEELA®RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the chairman of the Board held
1 meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without
the executive Directors present.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the functions
set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to
identify, assess and manage different types of risks. As the first line
of defence, business units are responsible for identifying, assessing
and monitoring risk associated with each business or transaction.
The management, as the second line of defence, defines rule sets
and models, provides technical support, develops new system
and oversees project management. It ensures that risks are within
acceptable range and that the first line of defence is effective. As
the final line of defence, the independent consultant assists the
Audit Committee to review the first and second lines of defence.

The Group is committed to the identification, evaluation and
management of risks associated with its business activities through
ongoing assessment of a risk register, by considering the likelihood
and impact of each identified risk. The Group has implemented
an effective control system which includes a defined management
structure with limits of authority, a sound management system
and periodic review of the Group’s performance by the Audit
Committee and the Board.
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As the corporate and operation structure of the Group is not
complex and a separate internal audit department may divert
resources of the Group, the Group currently does not have an
internal audit department. However, the Group has engaged
an independent third-party internal control consultant to, on an
annual basis, review and provide recommendations on improving
its internal control system in order to manage our business risks
and to ensure our smooth operation. The review covered certain
operational procedures. No significant control failings or weakness
have been identified by the consultant during the review. The Board
and the Audit Committee would review the need for an internal
audit function on an annual basis.

The management of the Company has reported to the Board and
the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems for the year ended 31 March 2025.
As of the date of this annual report, the Board has indicated that
the Company has previously encountered delays in publishing
its annual results for 2025. The primary reason for this delay
was the departure of key financial personnel responsible for the
Group's overall financial operations and reporting. Due to the
lack of a suitable replacement, the Company could not finalize
its consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2025, nor complete the breakdown of accounts receivable
and accounts payable as of that date. As a result, the Expected
Credit Loss (ECL) valuation report could not be finalized by the
end of June 2025, leading to further delays in the circulation
of audit confirmations and the implementation of alternative
audit procedures for accounts receivable and accounts payable
as of 31 March 2025. As a result, the Company suspended
trading of its shares on the Stock Exchange effective 9:00 a.m.
on 2 July 2025, with resumption scheduled for 9:00 a.m. on
4 November 2025.
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The Audit Committee reviewed the resources, qualifications, and
experience of the accounting, internal audit, and financial reporting
functions, finding them inadequate for the year ended 31 March
2025. To address this, the Company has increased its finance team
size from 2 to 4 persons to assist with the preparation of financial
management accounts and consolidations of the Company.
Additionally, the Company plans to engage an internal control
adviser within one month after the publication of the 2025 Annual
Report to assess potential internal control deficiencies and provide
recommendations in financial reporting. The scope of work will be
determined by the Board and the Audit Committee. If any material
internal control deficiencies or remedial actions are identified,
the Company will make further announcements. The Board
recommended refining the financial management policy, which is
expected to be adopted within three months after the publication
of the 2025 Annual Report. This refinement aims to establish clear
timelines for submitting financial information for board review at
least quarterly, as well as addressing any urgent issues that may
arise, to minimize audit delays. Additionally, the Company will
enhance staff qualifications to uphold high performance standards
and develop standard operating procedures that require all financial
transactions to be systematically recorded in the accounting system
on a daily basis. This process will involve separate accounting staff
for reviews and preparations, thereby expediting financial reporting
to management and reducing the risk of errors.

The Company has also considered adopting the following internal
control measures and improvements (the "IC Measures and
Improvements") to prevent the recurrence of a delay in results
publication:

(1) Dedicated Review Sessions: Meetings will be scheduled
between the Audit Committee, the Company, and the
auditors of the Company to promptly address complex
accounting issues and outstanding audit matters, ensuring
that audit concerns are resolved in a timely manner.

(2) Pre-Audit Work Arrangement: To prevent bottlenecks, the
Audit Committee recommended that the audit timetable
should be established earlier by the Company and directed
the finance team to prepare the consolidated management
accounts for review by both the Board and the Audit
Committee. Furthermore, the Company will engage its
auditors to conduct pre-audit work two months before the
end of the financial year. This proactive measure aims to
identify and address any discrepancies early in the process.
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Moving forward, the Board and the Audit Committee are
committed to enhancing internal controls, ensuring that all relevant
information is promptly communicated to auditors of the Company,
and reinforcing the Company's risk management and internal
control systems. Except for the above, the Board and the Audit
Committee considered the risk management and internal control
systems are effective and adequate. No significant areas of concern
that might affect shareholders were identified.

Whistleblowing procedures are in place to facilitate employees
of the Group to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters
of the Group. The Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed annually by
the Audit Committee to ensure its effectiveness. For more details,
please refer to the section headed “B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION" in the
Environmental, Social, and Governance Report within this annual
report.

The anti-corruption policy is also adapted forms an integral part
of the Group’s corporate governance framework. The Group’s
anti-corruption policies set out standards of conduct to which all
employees are required to adhere in order to promote the integrity
of the workplace. It demonstrates the Group’s commitment to
the practice of ethical business conduct and the compliance of
the anti-corruption laws and regulations that apply to its local
and foreign operations. The Anti-corruption Policy is reviewed
and updated periodically to align with the applicable laws and
regulations as well as the industry best practice. For more details,
please refer to the section headed “B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION" in the
Environmental, Social, and Governance Report within this annual
report.

Disclosure Policy

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Directors, officers, senior management and relevant
employees of the Company in handling confidential information,
monitoring information disclosure and responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorised
access and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

Procedures and internal controls include:
i) Only designated persons are authorised to communicate the

Company’s corporate matters with investors, analysts, the
media or other members of the investment community;
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i) Directors should report to the Chief Executive Officer any potential
or suspected inside information as soon as possible for him to
consult the Board for determining the nature of developments,
and if required, making appropriate disclosure; and

iii)  Disclosure of inside information must be made in a manner
that can provide for equal, timely and effective access by the
public to the disclosed inside information.

According to GEM Rule 18.48A and Rule 18.49, the Company must
publish the 2025 Annual Results and 2025 Annual Report not later
than three months and four months after the end of the financial
year, respectively. Additionally, Paragraphs D.1 and D.2 of the CG
Code outline principles and best practices for financial reporting
obligations, including the board's responsibility to conduct an
annual review of effectiveness.

The Company delayed publishing its consolidated financial results for
the year ended 31 March 2025 (the "2025 Annual Results"), resulting
in a trading suspension of its shares. The delay in publication of the
2025 Annual Results indicates a violation of GEM Rule 18.49 and
Paragraphs D.1 and D.2 of the CG Code.

To prevent future non-compliance with these rules and the CG
Code, the Company will implement the above mentioned IC
Measures and Improvements.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Directors are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages
86 to 89 of this report.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditor of
the Company, Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited, in respect of
audit services for the year ended 31 March 2025 amounted to
HK$600,000.
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An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to the external
auditor of the Company in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out below:
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600,000

COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Tsang King Sun (“Mr. Tsang”) is the Company Secretaries of
the Company, with their appointment since 16 May 2024.

Mr. Tsang has over 10 years of experience in the corporate services
field. Mr. Tsang is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He holds a Bachelor of Business Administration
(Hons) degree in Accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and a Juris Doctor Degree from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Tsang is currently the company secretary of Japan
Kyosei Group Company Limited (stock code: 627) and Rongzun
International Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 1780), which are
both listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange. He is also a
director in a company service provider in Hong Kong, namely, I-SOL
Limited and responsible for supervising the company secretarial
teams to provide a full range of listed and private company
secretarial services.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board has access to the
advice and services of Mr. Tsang at all time in accordance with code
provision C.6.4 of the CG Code. Mr. Tsang has taken no less than
15 hours of professional training for the year ended 31 March 2025
pursuant to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to code provision C.6.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code, an
issuer can engage an external service provider as its company
secretary, provided that the issuer should disclose the identity of
a person with sufficient seniority at the issuer whom the external
provider can contact. Mr. Tsang does not act as an individual
employee of the Company, but as an external service provider in
respect of the appointment of Mr. Tsang as the Company Secretary
of the Company. In this respect, the Company has nominated Mr.
Wong Wai Man as its contact point with Mr. Tsang. While the
Company is well aware of the importance of the company secretary
in supporting the Board on governance matters, after having
considered Mr. Tsang’s prior experience in acting as the company
secretary of other companies listed on the Stock Exchange, both
the Company and Mr. Tsang are of the view that there will be
sufficient experience as well as time, resources and support for
fulfilment of the company secretary requirements of the Company.
In view of Mr. Tsang's experience in company secretarial functions,
the Directors believe that Mr. Tsang has the appropriate company
secretarial expertise for the purposes of Rule 8.17 of the Listing
Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of individual Director. All resolutions
put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the website of
the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meeting

According to article 58 of the Articles, any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the voting rights at general meeting, on a
one vote per share basis, in the share capital of the Company shall
at all times have the right to make a written requisition to convene
an extraordinary general meeting and/or add resolutions to the
agenda of a meeting.
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If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as a Director of the Company at a general
meeting, pursuant to article 85 of the Articles, the shareholder
(other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and
vote at the general meeting shall send a written notice, duly signed
by the shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such person for
election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of
his/her willingness to be elected. These notices should be lodged at
the Company’s head office or the office of the Company’s branch
share registrar. The period for lodgement of such notices shall
commence on the day after the despatch of the notice of such
general meeting and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of
such general meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board and
Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries as mentioned above to the
following:
Address:  Lynco Premier Delightings Company Limited
Room 15, 11/F, Nan Fung Commercial Centre,
19 Lam Lok Street,

Kowloon Bay,

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 3952 9008

Email: polyfair@lynco.com.hk

Shareholders are also welcome to make enquiries via the
online message form available on the Company’s website at
www.polyfaircurtainwall.com.hk and are reminded to lodge the
questions together with their contact information for the prompt
response from the Company if it deems appropriate. The Company
will not normally deal with anonymous enquiries.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the” Board Diversity
Policy”) on 25 January 2018. The details are as follows:

1. Objective

The Company recognises the importance of board diversity
which is beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the
approach with the objective of achieving diversity on the Board.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Nomination Committee of the Company reviews and
assesses the Board composition on behalf of the Board and
recommends the appointment of new Directors. In addition
to its terms of reference, the Nomination Committee will also
take into account the following:

2.1 In designing and reviewing the Board’s composition, the
Nomination Committee will consider from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

2.2 All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Company appointed a female Director on 11 December
2024, in line with the Board Diversity Policy and CG Code
requirements. As of the Annual Report date, the Board
comprises 5 male Directors and 1 female Director.

The Company acknowledges the significance of gender
diversity and its positive impact on performance. It considers
increasing Board diversity essential for achieving strategic
objectives and fostering sustainable development.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of
the Board annually in the corporate governance report of
the Company and monitor the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy. A summary of the Board Diversity Policy
together with the measurable objectives set for implementing
the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress made towards
achieving those objectives will be disclosed in the annual
corporate governance report of the Company.
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5. Review of the Board Diversity

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, which will include an assessment of
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy on an annual basis in accordance with code provision
B.1.3 of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) on 22 June 2018. The details are as follows:

1. PURPOSE

This Director Nomination Policy aims to:

J set out the criteria and process in the nomination and
appointment of Directors;

o ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company; and

o ensure the Board continuity and appropriate leadership
at Board level.

2. SCOPE

The Director Nomination Policy applies to the Directors and
where applicable, senior management prepared for Board
positions under the succession planning of the Company.

3. RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for
selection and appointment of Directors to the Nomination
Committee.

Without prejudice to the authority and duties of the
Nomination Committee as set out in its terms of reference,
the ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of
Directors rests with the entire Board.
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4. NOMINATION AND APPOINTMENT OF
DIRECTORS

4.1 CRITERIA

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for
directorship, the following criteria should be considered:

o Character and integrity.

o Qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience and diversity
aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy.

o Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving
diversity on the Board.

o Requirement for the Board to have independent
Directors in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules
and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

o Any potential contributions the candidate can
bring to the Board in terms of qualifications,
skills, experience, independence and gender
diversity.

o Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or
Board committee(s) of the Company.

o Such other perspectives that are appropriate to
the Company’s business and succession plan and
where applicable, may be adopted and/or amended
by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee
from time to time for nomination of Directors and
succession planning.
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4.2 NOMINATION PROCESS

(a) Appointment of New Director

(b)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should, upon receipt of the proposal
on appointment of new Director and the
biographical information (or relevant details)
of the candidate, evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above
to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each
candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then
recommend to the Board to appoint the
appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a
shareholder for election as a Director at
the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board should make recommendation to
shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
Director at the general meeting.

Re-election of Director at General
Meeting

(i)

The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should review the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring
Director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.
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(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should also review and determine whether
the retiring Director continues to meet the
criteria as set out above.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should then make recommendation
to shareholders in respect of the proposed
re-election of Director at the general
meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect
or re-elect a candidate as Director at the general
meeting, the relevant information of the candidate
will be disclosed in the circular to shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and/or
applicable laws and regulations.

5. MONITORING AND REPORTING

A summary of the Director Nomination Policy including the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted for
selection and recommendation for directorship, should be disclosed
in the annual corporate governance report of the Company.

6. REGULAR REVIEW

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on
the structure, size and composition of the Board and the
Director Nomination Policy and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy and business needs.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION
MECHANISM

The Company has adopted the board independence evaluation
mechanism on 2 June 2022. The details are as follows:

Objective

Continuing improvement and development of the Board and its
committee processes and procedures through Board independence
evaluation provides a powerful and valuable feedback mechanism for
improving Board effectiveness, maximising strengths, and identifying
the areas that need improvement or further development.

The evaluation process also clarifies what actions of the Company
need to be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance,
for instance, addressing individual training and development needs
of each Director.
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This mechanism is designed to ensure a strong independent
element on the Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises
independent judgment to better safequard shareholders’ interests.

Mechanism

o Nomination Committee is established with clear terms of
reference to identify suitable candidates, including independent
non-executive Directors, for appointment as Directors.

o Director Nomination Policy is in place with details of the
process and criteria of identifying, selecting, recommending,
cultivating and integrating new directorship.

° For independent non-executive Directors (“INED(s)"):

o Every INED is required to confirm in writing to
the Company his/her independence upon his/her
appointment as Director with reference to such criteria
as stipulated in the Director Nomination Policy as well as
the GEM Listing Rules;

0 Each INED has to declare his/her past or present financial
or other interests in the Group’s business as soon
as practicable, or his/her connection with any of the
Company’s connected persons (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules), if any;

o Each INED is required to inform the Company as soon as
practicable if there is any change in his/her own personal
particulars that may affect his/her independence.

o The Nomination Committee will assess annually the
independence of all INEDs and affirm if each of them still satisfies
the criteria of independence as set out in the GEM Listing Rules
and is free from any relationships and circumstances which are
likely to affect, or could appear to affect, their independent
judgement. Every Nomination Committee member should
abstain from assessing his/her own independence.

o Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as
an INED at the general meeting, it will set out in the circular to
shareholders the reasons it believes he/she should be elected
and the reasons it considers him/her to be independent.

o A mechanism is in place for Directors to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense.
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o Directors are encouraged to access and consult with the
Company’s senior management independently, if necessary.

° An annual review on Board independence (the “Board
Independence Evaluation”) will be conducted, with attention
to ensuring that it remains independent in judgement, and
continue to present an objective and constructive challenge to
the assumptions and viewpoints presented by the management.

o The Board Independence Evaluation may take in the form
of a questionnaire to all Directors individually and may be
supplemented by individual interview with each Director,
if necessary, and/or in any other manners which the Board
considers fit and necessary.

o The Board Independence Evaluation report will be presented
to the Board which will collectively discuss the results and the
action plan for improvement, if appropriate.

o The results of the Board Independence Evaluation or a
summary of its findings will be disclosed in the annual
corporate governance report of the Company for
accountability and transparency purposes.

o The aforesaid Board Independence Evaluation will be regarded
as an ongoing exercise of the Company while the Company
may seek assistance from external consultant if an external
evaluation on the same subject is needed.

For the year ended 31 March 2025 and as at the date of this report,
the Board Independence Evaluation had been conducted by way of
completing a questionnaire by all Directors. The results of the Board
Independence Evaluation are summarized as follows:

1. The Board as a whole possesses the skills and range
of experience needed to adequately fulfill its fiduciary
responsibilities, more reliably hold management to account,
and better safeguard shareholders’ interests.

2. Board meetings are conducted in a manner that allows open
communication, meaningful participation (including in-depth
discussion and resolutions of issues).

3. AllINEDs bring independent judgement to bear on the Board's
deliberations.

4. Al INEDs have actively participated in all Board meetings and

committees’ meetings; and raised governance and ethical
issues to the Board.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the "Dividend Policy")
on 12 November 2018.

1. PURPOSE

The Dividend Policy aims to set out the principles and
guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to
the declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits as
dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

2. PRINCIPLES AND GUIDELINES

2.1 The Board adopts the Dividend Policy that, in
recommending or declaring dividends, the Company
shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its
working capital requirements and future growth as well
as its shareholder value.

2.2 The Company does not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio.

2.3 The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute
dividends to the shareholders of the Company, subject
to the Articles and all applicable laws and regulations
and the factors set out below.

2.4 The Board shall also take into account the following
factors of the Group when considering the declaration
and payment of dividends:

. financial results;

. cash flow situation;

° business conditions and strategies;

o future operations and earnings;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;

. interests of shareholders;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

o any other factors that the Board may consider
relevant.

2.5 Depending on the financial conditions of the Company
and the Group and the conditions and factors as set out
above, dividends may be proposed and/or declared by
the Board for a financial year or period:

. interim dividend;

. final dividend;

. special dividend; and

o any distribution of net profits that the Board may
deem appropriate.
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2.6 Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
shareholders’ approval.

2.7 The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of
cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate.

2.8 Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall
revert to the Company in accordance with the Articles.

3. REVIEW OF THE DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from
time to time.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. A shareholder’s communication policy was adopted by
the Board at the Board meeting held on 25 January 2018 aiming
to provide to the shareholders and potential investors with ready
and timely access to balanced and understandable information
of the Company. Extensive information about the Company’s
activities is provided in its interim report, quarterly reports and this
annual report, which are sent to shareholders of the Company.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings. At the annual general meeting,
directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet
shareholders and answer their enquiries. The notice of the annual
general meeting is distributed to all shareholders at least 21
days before the meeting. Separate resolutions are proposed at
general meetings on each separate issue and voting of which is
taken by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. Results of the
poll are published on both the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website. All corporate communication with shareholders
will be posted on the Company’s website for shareholders’
information. The Company reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders' communication policy and
considered them to be effective.

The Company has not made any changes to its Articles for the
year ended 31 March 2025. An up-to-date version of the Articles is
also available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange's
website.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THE REPORT

The Company is pleased to present this Environment,
Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) on the
environmental, social, and governance (the “ESG") aspects
with the initiative of outlining selected key performance
indicators (the “KPI(s)"), in accordance with the guidelines of
the GEM Listing Rules.

In this ESG Report, the Company strives to disclose its policies
and practices towards the ESG aspects of the Group in
Hong Kong during the Reporting Period. All information and
data disclosed herein were based on formal documents and
internal statistics of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Company is principally
engaged in investment holding. The principal activities
of the Group include the provision of design and project
management services for facade and installation of curtain
wall systems in Hong Kong.

BOARD OVERSIGHT

A robust governance framework is fundamental to effectively
integrating ESG considerations into the Group’s corporate
agenda. To ensure comprehensive oversight by key
management, sustainability governance is embedded within
the Group’s overall corporate governance structure— spanning
from Board-level to management functions and operational
units across the organization.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE - THE BOARD

The Group adopts a top-down approach in managing ESG-
related matters. The Board holds overall responsibility for
formulating the ESG strategy and overseeing ESG reporting.
It remains committed to strengthening the Group’s ESG
performance and data management capabilities and has
approved this ESG report.
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RE -#HE8REBHSE

To support a structured and coordinated approach to ESG
management, the Board, the Executive Director and the
department heads from key functional areas including
finance, human resources, and operations, are tasked with
overseeing the implementation and monitoring of ESG

matters across the Group.

The Board convenes regular meetings to identify, assess,
and monitor ESG-related risks faced by the Group. It also
evaluates the Group's ESG performance against established
goals and targets, ensuring alignment with the Group’s overall

sustainability objectives.
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MANAGEMENT APPROACH AND ESG
POLICIES

The Group incorporated corporate, environmental and social
responsibilities into its business strategies to promote healthy
entertainment and integration of society, contribute to
environmental sustainability, achieve healthy and harmonious
developments of its staff as well as continue to create
long-term value for its stakeholders. During the Reporting
Period, the Company implemented a series of ESG-related
policies that:

° ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations
governing ESG matters that may have a material impact
on the Group’s operations;

o promote social cohesion by actively advancing the
principle of “eliminating racial discrimination and
fostering a harmonious society”;

] encourage employee awareness and engagement in
energy and resource conservation, while supporting and
promoting energy efficiency and emission reduction;

° integrate green principles into the Group’s development
strategy and ensure compliance with relevant
environmental regulations; and

° foster constructive and sustainable relationships with
employees, shareholders, suppliers, and other key
stakeholders.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT IV. B ASE

The Company places high importance on its stakeholders, AAREREAEELE T ENE
including customers, suppliers, employees, community groups, mABEERES  BEEP f ﬁ?ﬁﬁ &
and regulatory authorities, who are impacted by the Group's B tEEEREEHE - FEBR— R
operational activities. Through a range of communication BREE  ARAFER “E/\/ﬁﬁ'
channels, the Company engages with stakeholders on an DAREM I ERIRERTEEEHHRF
ongoing basis to foster mutual understanding of shared FESFIHRZER) T f% -

visions and expectations in relation to environmental and

social responsibilities.

Insights gathered from these engagements inform the HEt2EP e R - AERY

development of a structured environmental and social
under which the Company
establishes long-term objectives to support its commitment to

responsibility framework,
sustainable development.

Major Stakeholders

Communications Channel
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=

ERENRENESREEERREHR T2
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Expectations

TERERA BBRRE HiEE
Government — Inspection in daily operating — Compliance with the law
B — Letter from the Government — Tax payment

Shareholders

e

Customers

BF

Employees

(==

Suppliers or subcontractors

HEBR D EH

Communities

#HE

- REELEBEPRE
- BUF

— General meetings

— Information disclosed on company
website and Stock Exchange

- REX®g

- RRRELREBRAMEENER

— Meeting with customers

— Communication by email/telephone
- SREF
- BB /BEER

— Meeting with management
— Training

- EREHEE

- &

— Business visits

— Communication by email/telephone
- BBES

- B BFEEBR

— Charitable activities
— Sponsorship

- BEED

- BB

- EPAE
- W

— Corporate image

— Economic performance
- BEER

- RERR

— Environmental protection
— Product/service quality
- RER#

- Em/RBER

— Occupational safety

— Remuneration benefits
- BEZzr

- FBES

— Payment on time

— Operating conditions
- R

- &R

— Protecting the nature
— Social responsibility
- REBA

- HEEME
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MATERIALITY AND REPORTING BOUNDARY

To ensure that this ESG report addresses the issues that are
critical to the Group and significant to our stakeholders, we
have conducted a materiality assessment. This will help us to
identify improvements in our corporate social responsibility
work.

The Board has analyzed those information, compared with
industry reference and evaluated them in accordance with
the principles of materiality, quantitative and consistency.
The Group applies a consistent methodology in setting out
relevant materiality level, quantitatively measurement and
reporting scope.

The scope of this ESG report included our major business
segment— provision of design and project management
services for facade and installation of curtain wall systems
covering our headquarters in Hong Kong and design house in
Shenzhen.

The Board has reviewed and approved the assessment of the
ESG matters and then disclosed the result in this ESG report.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group aims to protect the environment by minimizing
environmental adverse impacts in daily operations, such as
energy-saving and recycling of office resources. The Group
will continue to seek for better environmental practices
and promote the right environmental attitudes within the
organisation. In pursuit of these objectives, the Group strives
to:

J ensure compliance with applicable environmental laws
and regulations, with the ambition to exceed baseline
requirements where practicable;

o prevent or reduce emissions, discharges water and
land, and the generation of both hazardous and
non-hazardous waste;

o optimise the efficient use of energy, water, and other
resources;
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56 Polyfair Holdings Limited £ %%

wE

o mitigate the environmental impacts associated with the
Group'’s business activities; and

J encourage stakeholders to adopt environmentally
responsible practices and regularly evaluate the
environmental impact of their operations.

A1 EMISSION

Emissions refer to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes.

As the Group is primarily engaged in the provision of design
and project management services for facade works and
the installation of curtain wall systems in Hong Kong, its
operations did not result in significant discharges of pollutants
into water or land, nor in the substantial generation of
hazardous or non-hazardous waste during the Reporting
Period.

The principal source of the Group’s carbon footprint arises
from indirect greenhouse gas emissions, primarily attributable
to electricity consumption within office premises.

We promote energy efficiency and emission reduction in all
operational processes. Nevertheless, the Group is committed
to protect the environment by seeking to reduce the impact
on the environment, especially regarding the reduction of
greenhouse gas emissions and preservation of resources.

To achieve this, the Group has adopted various measures to
lower waste and consumption levels in our office and other

facilities, including:

o restricting air-conditioning hours and maintaining
optimal indoor temperatures;

o powering down photocopiers, printers, and computers
after office hours;

o unplugging chargers and adapters when not in use to
minimise standby energy consumption; and
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o conducting regular cleaning and maintenance of
air conditioning and ventilation systems to ensure
energy-efficient performance.

There are no relevant laws and regulations applicable to the
Group’s businesses on this aspect.

As minimum environment impact results from the Group's
operation, KPIs A1.3 Hazardous waste produced, A1.4
Non-hazardous waste produced and A1.6 Waste management
are immaterial to the Group’s operation and have not been
disclosed in this ESG Report.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s greenhouse
gas emission from energy indirect emissions (Scope 2)
resulting from electricity consumption were approximately
7.67 tonnes of carbon dioxide (“CO,").

Emission
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A1.2 Greenhouse gas emission
A12 BERBHR

Year ended 31 March 2025
B E2025F3A31ALFE

Scope 2- indirect emission— CO,
HE2 - MK — = ALK
Intensity

Around 7.67 tonnes

%497 .67WE

Around 0.03 tonnes/Revenue in HKD million
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A2 USE OF RESOURCES

The Group has implemented paperless concept in the internal
human resources management processes. It includes paperless
employee pay advice and company internal notice. In
addition, the use of recycled paper for printing and copying,
double-sided printing and copying have become the Group’s
internal practices. These practices greatly reduced paper
consumption and cost. The Group regularly collects and
evaluates printer usage data to monitor the effectiveness of
the paperless environment.

In order to reduce unnecessary usage and improve the
efficient use of resources, the Group has established the
“energy and resource savings” policy, under which:

o switch off lights and electrical appliances when not in
use;

J limit air-conditioning hours and maintaining optimal
indoor temperatures;

o power down computers, photocopiers, printers, and
other office equipment during non-working hours and
staff absences;

o turn off lighting and air-conditioning in unoccupied
guest rooms; and

o encourage the use of recyclable materials, such as

recycled paper.

The Group will continuously monitor and manage the use of
resources in order to reduce its operating costs as well as its
carbon footprints.
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As there is no issue in sourcing water, KPl A2.4 has not been B PN &= B 72 SKEUGE /KRS B & B
disclosed in this ESG Report. Further, as only immaterial EFIME WARE HEREB/RS
water and packaging material were consumed in the Group's W E R BEBREYIRIRA2.4 - 151 - K
operation, KPI A2.2 and KPl A2.5 are not applicable to the SENEERARIENKRBEMN

B BREBUERA2. 2N BERERIER
A25TERNASE  MARE e
RERBETTHE -

Group and has not been disclosed in this ESG Report.

Use of resources

ERER
ENERGY CONSUMPTION- Electricity Year ended 31 March 2025
BRHEE-8D BZE2025F3A31BLFE
Total electricity consumption (kWh) Around 10,800 kWh
BHHEFEE (TRE) #)10,800F FL B
Intensity Around 48 kWh/Revenue in HKD million
=g HWAST R,/ B EB TR
ENERGY CONSUMPTION Year ended 31 March 2025
BE RO ¥ BE2025F3A31BLFE
Total energy consumption— Electricity (MJ) Around 38,800 MJ
geRErEE - H KER) #738,800JK £ H
Intensity Around 173 MJ/Revenue in HKD million
BE MNT3REE " BEB TS
PAPER CONSUMPTION Year ended 31 March 2025
REE BE2025F3A31BLFE
Total office paper consumption (Kg) Around 60 Kg
HARMBRES (TR) #60F 7=
Intensity Around 0.27 Kg/Revenue in HKD million
7E #0.27F 5w /BE BTN

Annual Report 2025 —Z - hE 453 59




Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRI -8Rk

VI.

VL.

ERRE

A3 ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group promotes environmental awareness among
our employees and encourages them to work in an
environmentally responsible manner. To further promote
environmentally friendly office conditions, the following
methods are used:

1. all used printer cartridges are returned to the supplier
for recycling;

2. recycling bins are placed in the offices’ common areas to
separately collect waste paper for recycling;

3.  employees are encouraged to print double-sided
documents to reduce paper usage; and

4. make sure its business operation complies with the
environmental law in Hong Kong and its operating
locations.

A4 CLIMATE CHANGE

The Group takes reference to the recommendations of the
Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosure (“TCFD")
in identifying and disclosing the potential impacts of
climate-related risks on the Group. We have assessed the
following risks:

Physical risks

o acute physical risk which arises from a particular event,
such as storm, flood or fire that may damage production
facilities and disrupt value chains; and

° chronic physical risk which arises from longer-term
changes in the climate, such as temperature changes,
and rising sea levels.
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Transition risks

° policy risk, for example, energy efficiency requirements;

o legal risk, for example, risk of litigation for failing to
avoid or minimize adverse impacts on the climate;

o technology risk, for example, a technology with a less
damaging impact on the climate replaces a technology
that is more damaging to the climate;

° market risk, for example, the choices of consumers shift
towards products and services that are less damaging to
the climate; and

. reputational risk, for example, the difficulty of attracting
and retaining customers and business partners if a
company has reputation for damaging the climate.

Based on the on-going assessment of the Group, it is believed
that the Group is subject to low physical risk and transition
risks.

SOCIAL
B1 EMPLOYMENT

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total number of
19 employees in Hong Kong. The Group is committed to
providing a fair and respectful workplace for our employees.
The Group ensures our human resources policies are in
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and
with reference to the general practice and benchmark of the
industry. A comprehensive system of remuneration, incentive
and performance management system has been established to
attract and retain talents for our long-term and stable growth.
The system consists of basic salary, legal and extra benefits
(i.e. mandatory provident fund, medical and other insurance,
annual leave, sick leave and various subsidies), and monetary
rewards (i.e. discretionary bonus) for the employees.
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The Group understands that the employees are its most
important asset. The Group has established a human resource
policy, under which:

J employees are reviewed annually on a performance basis
with reference to the market standards for consideration
of promotion and/or reward;

° in order to promote a harmonious and mutual respect
working environment, a staff manual is established to
govern the recruitment, promotion, discipline, working
hours and leaves. The staff manual also stipulates the
anti-discrimination policies and employees’ code of
conduct;

o clear work processes according to professional and
ethical labour practices have been clearly communicated
to all employees. Certain policies to govern employees’
affairs such as payroll, attendance and termination are
clearly set out in staff appointment letters in compliance
with the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
law of Hong Kong); and

J diversity of workforce is promised, including in terms
of age, gender and nationality, as well as a culture of
equal opportunity. The management regularly reviews
the Group’s remuneration policy in relation to relevant
market standards.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare.
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As at 31 March 2025, all of the employees of the Group
are permanent staff. The distribution of workforce and the

RE -#HE8REBHE

R2025%3A3108 ' A"EEFFERERE Y
BERET - "EBBTHMEEER

employee turnover of the Group are summarised as follows: RERMAT
2025
Number of Employee Employee
People Turnover Turnover Rate
2025F A ¥ BERE EBERK=E
By Gender g e k)
Male B 15 121 89%
Female peg i 13 76%
By Age Group RERARE D
Under 30 years old 305 AT 0 0 0%
30-50 years old 30-505% 14 134 91%
Over 50 years old 5058 A 5 0 0%
By Geographical Region kit & 8 2
The PRC H 0 35 100%
Hong Kong BB 19 99 84%
By Employee Category RERERE S
Entry Level R 13 134 91%
Middle Level AR 0 0 0%
Senior Level = 6 0 0%

Annual Report 2025 — T - HE5% 63




Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE -HERERKRSE

VIl.

The significant changes in manpower during the Reporting
Period observed were driven by the rearrangement of the
Group’s strategy and the economic downturn, which led
to a decline in the number of contracts. As part of this
rearrangement, most of the Group’s original in-house roles
— including design, operation and project management
personnel — have been outsourced. A small internal team
has been retained for quality assurance to ensure that
work delivered by external contractors meets the Group's
standards.

B2 HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group places strong emphasis on occupational health
and safety, and has established workplace safety policies in
compliance with all applicable local regulations and relevant
laws in Mainland China. These policies are subject to regular
reviews and updates to ensure they remain current, effective,
and fit-for-purpose. Where potential health or safety risks
are identified, the Group adopts preventive and corrective
measures to mitigate hazards and reduce the likelihood of
workplace incidents. Key initiatives implemented during the
Reporting Period included:

° Provision of auxiliary equipment such as trolleys,
pump-action water dispensers, and ladders to reduce
physical strain;

° Installation of safety signage, warning banners and
promotional slogans at work sites to raise awareness;

J Delivery of training sessions focused on occupational
safety and risk awareness;

o Regular organisation of emergency response drills to
ensure preparedness;

° Installation of fire safety equipment including
extinguishers, hose reels, sprinklers, and smoke
detectors;

o Enforcement of workplace rules prohibiting smoking and
alcohol consumption;
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

o Engagement of pest control services on a scheduled
basis; and

o Ongoing encouragement of work-life balance to support
employee wellbeing.

The Group remains committed to enhancing its occupational
health and safety practices and will continue to identify and
implement improvements as part of its continuous safety
management approach.

During the Reporting Period, one significant workplace
accident occurred, which resulted in a compensation claim
that was duly settled under the Group’s insurance coverage.
To the best of the Group’s knowledge, there were no cases
of non-compliance with applicable occupational health and
safety laws and regulations that had a material impact on the
Group.
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Year ended 31 March 2025

INDICATOR B BE2025F3A31BLFE
Number of work-related fatalities in each of BE=FFFMAEILT 0
the past three years' [N
Rate of fatalities as a result of work-related [EIL{S&EMREIET R (LAF 0
injury (per hundred workers)? 1002 & B ABFTHE)?
Number of reportable work injury3 ATHRIGRE 1
Number of lost days due to work injury* ATEEINITIEBE 81 days H
1 Hong Kong work-related fatalities defined with reference to 1 BERTHEBANSLTENIER R

circumstances in which an employer is liable for compensation
under the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, Chapter 282
of the Laws of Hong Kong.

2 Rate of fatalities as a result of work-related injury (per hundred
workers) = Number of fatalities as a result of work-related
injury/Number of workers* 100.

3 Reportable injuries refer to work-related accidents to employees
resulting in incapacity for a period exceeding three days in
Hong Kong or PRC.

4 Lost days refer to the days that could not be worked as a
consequence of a worker being unable to perform their usual
work because an occupational accident or disease.

SEBBEN L2828 (REBEGD)
TREBRIAELBENER -

2 A THEKRIET R (AF10084%
BABE) = BIEERNIET A
B EBAE A * 100

3 ATHRTHBEETEXTEGHIE
BRATHRENAHBB=ZRNTHE
HEEN -

4 BRIFABERTAZABENLE

SARBLELBERMBEERTERT
15 BHTRETIENBE -
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Vil. B3 DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING VII. B3 R RiE

As a professional facade and curtain wall solutions provider
in Hong Kong, the Group recognises that the professionalism
and competence of its workforce are essential to the
sustainability and long-term success of its operations. To this
end, the Group is committed to fostering continuous learning
and development among its employees. The primary objective
of the Group’s training and development initiatives is to
cultivate core competencies that enable employees to perform
effectively in their current roles and prepare for future
responsibilities.

However, in response to evolving business needs, the Group
has implemented cost optimization measures due to a decline
in the number of contracts during the Reporting Period.
As a result, the workforce has been reduced. Nevertheless,
the Company remains committed to upholding the highest
standards of corporate governance, compliance with listing
rules, and ensuring a safe workplace.

Training and development programmes are strategically
designed to:

° Enhance employees’ technical and functional skills and
job-related knowledge;

J Improve operational efficiency and overall productivity;

o Educate directors and senior management of the
Company on compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities and related requirements (“Listing
Rules Compliance”); and

° Nurture employees’ potential to support their personal
growth and contribute to the Group's success.
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To ensure ongoing compliance with the Listing Rules during
the Reporting Period, the Group has provided essential
training and relevant materials to staff, including: (i)
distributing e-learning resources from the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange to directors and senior management of the Group
for self-study, promoting continuous awareness of compliance
obligations; and (ii) offering mandatory induction training
for directors of the Company on the latest listing rules and
regulatory updates. The Group believes that the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s free e-learning resources, combined with
the directors' induction programs, are sufficient to meet our
current regulatory needs, ensuring that both directors and
employees of the Company remain well-informed about their
responsibilities under the latest listing regulations.

The Group provides access to a range of training and
development opportunities through both employee-initiated
and employer-initiated channels, including:

o Participation in external training programmes organised
by accredited training institutions or the Group itself;
and

J Company-sponsored development initiatives, which
may include in-house workshops or external courses
supported through funding or time-off allowances.

As previously noted, the number of contracts executed
decreased significantly in the Reporting Period compared to
the previous period, resulting in a substantial reduction in
headcount. For site project management, the Group have
engaged subcontractors to perform the necessary work.
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VIl.

During the Reporting Period, the Group made full use of
internal resources to organise various forms of training
covering management, customer service, financial, etc. to the

RBERR AEEXDMNBARABE
R REBSHER TPIR® MK
FEFNZELAFI -

employees.
Number of Number of % of
training hours employees employees
per employee trained trained
BEER ZiEE ZilEE
ZIRE A8 B
Entry Level IES 10 2 50%
Middle Level A AR 0 0 N/A
Senior Level = 4 60 1 25%
Number of % of
employees employees
trained trained
FIEES ZiIEE
A Bk
Male B 3 60%
Female pegis 0 0%
Going forward, the Group will take a dynamic, case-by-case RERK  ANEBEGEIREE - @ERIFH

approach to assess training requirements. As a result,
the number of internal training sessions has significantly
decreased compared to the previous reporting period.

B4 LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group acknowledges the universal prohibition against
child and forced labour and is committed to upholding
the highest standards in protecting human rights across its
operations. The Group strictly prohibits the employment
of child labour or forced labour in any form and has
implemented a robust recruitment system to enforce this

policy.

This system includes comprehensive background checks
during the hiring process and established reporting
mechanisms to promptly address any anomalies or suspected
violations. In addition to internal controls, the Group conducts
periodic reviews and site inspections to identify any potential
risks relating to the use of child or forced labour.
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VII.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Furthermore, the Group exercises due diligence in its supply
chain management. It avoids engaging with suppliers, service
vendors, or contractors who are known to employ child or
forced labour in their operations, thereby ensuring that ethical
labour practices are upheld throughout its business network.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to preventing child or forced labour on
the Group during the Reporting Period. In addition, no
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
resulted in significant fines or sanctions had been reported in
the Reporting Period.

B5 SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group’s general business suppliers include providers of
fabricated products, aluminium and steel, glass, installation
work and design services for construction projects.

The Group believes that the quality of its products and
services, as well as its reputation, will be influenced by the
work with its suppliers. Therefore, the Group has established
procurement policy to maintain high level of ethical standards
for choosing the right supplier through careful selection
and continuous measurement. The Group conducts reviews
on key suppliers annually so as to provide an opportunity
to suppliers to enhance their services and products quality,
which improves both the suppliers and our procurement
management effectively.

In selecting new suppliers, the Group compares at least three
different companies from the existing approved suppliers or
subcontracts list, keeps environmentally preferrable products
and services as an important indicator and emphasises the
legal compliance and integrity culture of suppliers’ operations,
beyond cost considerations. On-site inspections and research
are conducted before the commencement of business with
suppliers, and there are no child labour or forced labour
issues. The examination and evaluation results will be used
as the basis for continuation or termination of cooperation
in the future. The Board would monitor the status of
environmentally preferable products and services and report
to the Board.
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VII.

As of 31 March 2025, the Group is engaged with 81 material
suppliers and 22 sub-contractors. Our Executive Director,
Procurement department and Quantity Surveyor team work
together to monitor the performance and quality of our
suppliers and sub-contractors.

The number of suppliers/sub-contractors by geographical
region is as follows:

H E2025F3A31H  RNEBLERE
PR R M 228 DB ITESE -
BR80T K T LB AP B BB F A E
ERHEEASBEENREREE -

RiEBEESHHER HEEEE W
I

Supplier Sub-contractor
Region ith & e 2EH
Hong Kong N 78 22
PRC 2] 3 0

B6 PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

A high priority for the Group is to ensure customer
satisfaction in terms of our products and services. Strenuous
efforts are made to ensure compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations relating to product health and safety,
intellectual property right, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters of the jurisdictions in which the Group operates. The
Group’s code of conduct requires its employees to comply
with applicable governmental and regulatory laws, rules,
codes and regulations.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to health and safety, intellectual property
rights, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to services provided and methods of redress during the
Reporting Period. The Group has in-house rules governing
the work procedures for the projects in order to ensure
work quality. The Group considers that the quality of works
generally depends on the quality of building materials
supplied and installation works performed by sub-contractors
at construction sites, which in turn are generally controlled by
the Group’s quality control measures on suppliers, including:
(i) ensuring sufficient planning prior to executing the project
to ensure that quality control measures and procedures are
in place; (ii) maintaining a list of approved suppliers and
only engaging those on the list; and (iii) conducting sample
inspections on building materials supplied based on the
technical specifications of the relevant projects. Building
materials that are defective or do not meet the specifications
will be returned to the suppliers.
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During the Reporting Period, our Group did not receive any
material complaint or demand for any kind of compensation
from the customers, or recalls for safety and health reasons in
relation to the products and services.

B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Company has adopted the anti-corruption policy on 2
June 2022. Corruption, bribery or fraud in any form is strictly
prohibited. The Group’s anti-corruption policies set out
standards of conduct to which all employees are required to
adhere in order to promote the integrity of the workplace.

To combat corruption and to govern conflicts of interest,
ICAC seminars available to all Hong Kong staff on
anti-corruption have been conducted. In addition, unless
with prior approval from senior management, employees
should not give or accept any gifts, gratuities, favours or
benefits that are beyond common courtesies with accepted
business practices or any excessive entertainment. Breaches
are subject to disciplinary actions, including the termination of
employment contracts where necessary.

We aim to maintain the highest standards of openness,
uprightness and accountability and all our staff are expected
to observe the highest standards of ethical, personal and
professional conduct. We do not tolerate corruption, bribery,
extortion, money-laundering and other fraudulent activities in
connection with any of our business operations.

The Company has adopted the anti-corruption policy on 2
June 2022. The Group adopted a whistle-blowing system
for reporting any improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control, suspected or actual fraud or other matters.
Whistleblower can drop an email directly to the Audit
Committee. If they prefer, they can choose to use an
anonymous email address to report the matters.

The chairman of the Audit Committee can call for a meeting
with the Board to investigate the reported matters.
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The Board may also decide whether the Group needs to
appoint an external consultant (including professional parties,
ICAC or police, etc.) to deal with the reported matters.

The Group is not aware of any potential or confirmed cases
regarding corruption practices brought against the Group or
its employees during the Reporting Period. No whistleblowing
disclosures were received during the Reporting Period. The
Group is not aware of any non-compliant with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

B8 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is constantly aware of the needs of the community
and is ready to try its best to contribute to the community by
participating in and sponsoring community activities.

In addition, the Group encourages and supports its staff to
participate in volunteer services during leisure time.
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The Directors are pleased to present this Directors’ report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Since 2006, the
Group has mainly engaged as a subcontractor that provides facade
and curtain wall works solutions in Hong Kong. Details of the
principal activities of the Group’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025
are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. The
Group’s revenue for the year was derived mainly from activities
carried out in Hong Kong. An analysis of the Group’s revenue
for the year is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2025, assessment of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group, particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred subsequent to the end of the year as well as indication
of likely future development in the business of the Group are set
out in the section headed ”“Management Discussion and Analysis”
of this annual report. In addition, the Group’s environmental
policy, compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have significant impact of the Group and key relationships with its
stakeholders are set out in this Directors’ Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 227 of
this annual report.

The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group and in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 93 of this annual report respectively.

Directors’ Report
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EEEHRE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately HK$Nil.
Such amount represented share premium net of accumulated
losses of the Company, which may be distributable provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions undertaken by the
Group during the year in the ordinary course of business are set out
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following transaction between certain connected persons (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) and the Company had been
entered into or are ongoing for which relevant announcement, if
necessary, had been made by the Company in accordance with
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2024, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen and a company
controlled by Mr. Chow Mo Lam and his close family members
(namely, Polyfaith Holdings Limited), had pledged their properties
to secure banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries within
the Group for nil consideration. As at 31 March 2024, other
borrowings of HK$4,500,000 were borrowed from a close family
member of Mr. Chow Mo Lam.

Pursuant to Rule 20.88 of the GEM Listing Rules, such transaction is
exempted from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
has complied with the requirements in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules in respect of the above financial assistance received.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statement constitutes
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Prior to the Listing, the Company had conditionally adopted a
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) which became
unconditional and effective on the Listing Date. Particulars of the
Share Option Scheme are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report. No share option has been
granted under the Share Option Scheme since the Listing Date,
nor was there any share option outstanding, exercised cancelled or
lapsed as at the date of this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, no rights to subscribe for equity or debt
securities of the Company have been granted to or exercised by any
Directors or their associates since the effective date of the Share
Option Scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the years ended 31 March 2021, 2022, 2023, 2024 and
2025, is set out on page 228 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares.

DIRECTORS

The Directors for the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman)
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Wai Man
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Independent non-executive Directors:

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah
Mr. Man Yun Yee
Ms. Sun Shui

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, Ms. Sun Shui
(independent non-executive Director) shall retire and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles, Mr. Chow Mo
Lam and Mr. Man Yun Yee shall be eligible for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE INDEPENDENT
NON- EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the INEDs were appointed for a specific term of three years and
subject to the relevant provisions of the Articles or any other applicable
laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office.

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah, an INED, entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company with a term of three years in 2018 and renewed
his letter of appointment for a term of three years from 23 February
2021, and further renewed his service agreement for a term of three
years from 23 February 2024 until terminated by not less than one
month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other. Another
INED, Mr. Man Yun Yee, entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company with a term of three years from 12 February 2020 and
subsequently renewed his letter of appointment for a term of three
years from 12 February 2023 until terminated by not less than one
month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Another INED, Mr. Sun Shui, entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company with a term of three years from 11 December
2024 until terminated by not less than one month’s notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence from the Group, and as at the date of this
report still considers them to be independent pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors, Mr. Chow Mo Lam and Mr.
Yu Lap On Stephen, entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years in 2018 and renewed his
service agreements for a term of three years from 23 February
2021, and further renewed his service agreement for a term of
three years from 23 February 2024 until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other Mr. Wong Wai Man, an executive Director, has entered into
a service agreement with the Company for a term of three years,
commencing on 16 May 2024. The service agreement will continue
thereafter unless terminated by either party with at least two (2)
months’ prior written notice at any time during the term of service.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Particulars of the emoluments of the Directors on a named basis
for the year are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company did not enter
into or have any management and administration contracts in respect
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party, or in which a Director or its connected entities had a material
interest (whether directly or indirectly) subsisted at the end of the
Reporting Period or at any time during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their respective
close associates (not being the INEDs) are considered to have interests
in the businesses which compete or are likely to compete with the
businesses of the Group pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors and every one of them
is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which the Directors or any of them, shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty in their
offices or otherwise in relation thereto provided that this indemnity
shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
which may attach to any of the Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance throughout the Reporting Period which provides
appropriate cover for legal actions brought against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025 the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which are required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO, including interests and/or short positions which they
are deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO, or
which will be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

(a) Interests in shares of the Company
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(a) RAEQXFRHG N ER

Percentage of

Long/short Number of  shareholding in
Name of Director Capacity Position shares held the Company
RAREH
EEnR g7 BR/RKE RGO EE BRET DL
Mr. Chow Mo Lam Interest of controlled Long position 568,024,000 66.93%
corporation Shares (Nete)
B ML XEHEEES sy ) 568,024,000%
Fg {53 (R
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Note: 568,024,000 shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings

Limited, a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with
limited liability, which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr.
Chow") as to 83% and by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu")
as to 17%. Both Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu are executive Directors.
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow is deemed to be interested in
the 568,024,000 shares held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited. Each
of Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings Limited is regarded
as a Controlling Shareholder.

B &E -
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(b) Interests in shares of the associated (b) RAERQRBEEBR MDA ER
corporation of the Company

Percentage of

shareholding in

the associated

Name of associated Long/short Number of corporation

corporation Name of Director Capacity Position shares held REBEEN

REEEER EEng a4 Be/ %R FERGHE REBS L

CN.Y. Holdings Limited Mr. Chow Mo Lam Beneficial Owner Long position 83 shares Mt 83%
KBERARAF RARMEE EREAA #E 83MR M fp )

CN.Y. Holdings Limited Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen Beneficial Owner Long position 17 shares (ot 17%
XBERARAA RUREHE BEHEBA 2 178 {7 )

Note: 568,024,000 shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings BisE © 568,024,0000% B 15 F ok BB 1 AR B R

Limited, a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with
limited liability, which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr.
Chow") as to 83% and by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu")
as to 17%. Both Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu are executive Directors.
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow is deemed to be interested in
the 568,024,000 shares held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited. Each
of Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings Limited is regarded
as a Controlling Shareholder.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company or their respective
associates had any interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares, convertible notes or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange as at
31 March 2025.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” in this report, as at 31 March 2025, so far
as was known to any Directors or chief executive of the Company,
the interests which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or of whom were deemed to be directly
or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued capital of
the Company, or which were recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO or have been
notified to the Company were as follows:

FTERRRBRONBEZRXR

BRAREBEZRRSTHRAERKD - 18
B REEBNESEAR | —BEES
Gh 0 202543 A31H AR AT £ F
RS THRA BT - RIEHSH K HE (&G
BEXVEBE2RID B AR BENER KW EE
EESHEREARRBBEITRAS%EKIA
R - IREES R EGPIFE336158TF
ERERECMASENER  emae K
NAEIR DT

Percentage of
shareholding in

Long/short Number of the Company

Name of Shareholders Capacity Position shares held RAEATH

BRREBHE 30) BRKRR FriE R0 BB RER DL

C.N.Y. Holdings Limited  Beneficial owner (Note 1) Long position 568,024,000 Mete 1) 66.93%
KBIERBR AR EmEA A MED) R 568,024,000/%
B 5 (B3

Ms. Hau Pak Sui Interest of spouse (Note 2) Long position 568,024,000 MNote2) 66.93%

EREX L FoiBsgss (MaE2) R

568,024,0000%
B 15 (i)

Notes:

1. 568,024,000 shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with limited liability,
which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr. Chow") as to 83% and
by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu"”) as to 17%. Both Mr. Chow
and Mr. Yu are executive Directors. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow
is deemed to be interested in the 568,024,000 shares held by C.N.Y.
Holdings Limited. Each of Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings
Limited is regarded as a Controlling Shareholder.

2. Ms. Hau Pak Sui is the spouse of Mr. Chow and she is deemed to be
interested in the 568,024,000 shares, in which Mr. Chow is deemed
interested by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, and as at 31 March 2025, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the share capital of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be
required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate with the
exception of granting of share options to subscribe for shares under
the Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

For the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors and their respective associates (not
being the INEDs) are considered to have interests in the business
which compete or are likely to compete with the businesses of the
Group pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules (the “Required Standard”). Having made specific enquiry with all
the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Required Standard for the year ended 31 March 2025.

NON-COMPETITION

Each of the Controlling Shareholders, namely C.N.Y. Holdings
Limited, Mr. Chow Mo Lam and Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Company on 25
January 2018 (the “Deed”), details of which have been set out
in the Prospectus. The Company received a declaration from the
Controlling Shareholders in writing that each of the Controlling
Shareholders had complied with the terms of the Deed, including
all undertakings given by them in favour of the Company under
the Deed, during the year ended 31 March 2025. The independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the declaration and were
satisfied that the terms of the Deed had been duly complied with
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board had not
received any written confirmation from any of the Directors and
the Controlling Shareholders in respect of interest in any business
(other than the Group) which is or is likely to be directly or
indirectly in competition with our business.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS
AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and other stakeholders
to meet its immediate and long-term goals. During the Reporting
Period, there were no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its suppliers, customers and/or other stakeholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group’s five largest customers and the aggregate
purchases attributable from the Group’s five largest suppliers
were approximately 99.6% and 76.5% of the Group’'s sales and
purchases respectively.

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate sales attributable to the
Group's largest customer and the aggregate purchases attributable
from the Group’s largest supplier were approximately 72.3% and
29.3% of the Group’s sales and purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders, which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital, had a beneficial interest in any
of the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers during the
Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the shares during the period from the Listing
Date to 31 March 2025.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 19 (2024: 153) employees.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is formulated
by the Remuneration Committee based on their merit, qualifications
and competence. It is the Group’s policy to compensate each
employee fairly and equitably. The Group has a system for
measuring employees’ performance against agreed-upon goals with
specific performance standards. Performance discussion is carried
out on an ongoing basis and a formal evaluation is conducted once
a year to review employees’ overall performance, achievements,
and areas in need of improvement. Salary review will be based on
individual performance and subject to the Group’s discretion.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 23 to 50 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

As a subcontractor that provides facade and curtain wall
works solutions in Hong Kong, the Group is subject to certain
environmental requirements in Hong Kong. The laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group include,
among others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and Public Health and Municipal Services
Ordinance (Chapter 132 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

We require our subcontractors to be in strict legal compliance
with the applicable environmental protection laws and regulations
during the whole term of engagement. During the year ended 31
March 2025, the Group did not receive notice of any environmental
non-compliance in Hong Kong addressed either to the Group or to
our subcontractors.

Discussions on the environmental policies and performance,
compliance by the Group with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group and the account of key
relationships between the Group and our stakeholders are contained
in the ESG Report on pages 51 to 72 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group
during the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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EEEHRE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Acquisition of Construction Business Company

Reference is made to the Company’s announcements dated 24
and 25 April 2025 (together, the “Acquisition Announcements”).
Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the
meanings ascribed to them in the Acquisition Announcements.

On 24 April 2025, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement (SPA) with certain vendors
to acquire a target company engaged in the construction business,
which is also an approved minor works contractor (the “Acquisition”).
One of the vendors of the target company is Wong Wai Man, an
executive director of the Company. The Acquisition constitutes a
major and connected transaction for the Company.

The total consideration for the transaction is HK$7,500,000, which
will be satisfied through the issuance of convertible bonds. As a
result of this agreement, the target company will become an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The convertible bonds (1)
will have a principal amount of HK$7,500,000, with a conversion
price set at HK$0.023, enabling the issuance of a maximum of
326,086,856 conversion shares (“Convertible Bonds (1)”). Upon
full conversion of the Convertible Bonds, this will represent
approximately 27.75% of the issued share capital of the Company.

The Company retains the right to redeem the Convertible Bonds (1) at
any time within a three-year period from the date of issuance. These
bonds are non-interest bearing and may be assigned or transferred
to any transferee, subject to prior notification to the Company and
compliance with the Code on Takeovers and Mergers in Hong Kong.

For further details, please refer to the Acquisition Announcements.

Issuance of Convertible Bonds (2)

On 30 June 2025, the Company entered into Subscription
Agreements for Convertible Bonds (2) with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$1,274,938, aimed at settling outstanding salary debts
incurred since June 2024 for two former employees of an indirect
subsidiary. The conversion price for the Convertible Bonds (2) is set
at HK$0.024, subject to adjustments as outlined in the terms and
conditions of the Convertible Bonds (2). The Company plans to
issue a total of 36,216,166 units of Convertible Bonds (2) to former
employee A and 16,906,250 units to former employee B, both of
whom are independent third parties. For further details, please refer
to the announcements dated 30 June 30 2025 and 7 July 2025.
As of the date of this annual report, the listing approval for the
Convertible Bonds (2) is still pending with the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Group the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters including the review of the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 and this
report, with the external auditor. There were no disagreements
from the auditor of the Company or the Audit Committee in
respect of the accounting policies adopted by the Company.

AUDITOR

On 26 March 2024, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited resigned as the
auditor of the Company and Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited was
appointed as the auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited. Details
of the change of auditor were set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 26 March 2024. Saved as disclosed above,
the Company had not changed its external auditor in any of the
preceding three years.

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2025 were audited by Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited. A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint Asian Alliance (HK) CPA
Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

YU LAP ON STEPHEN
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 October 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % BRI S

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED

BEREZERERAAE

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 90
to 227, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matter
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our
report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements.

In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Material fundamental uncertainties relating to
going concern

As described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group reported a gross loss of approximately HK$83,283,000
and loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$133,071,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025 and,
as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and net
liabilities of approximately HK$58,002,000 and HK$57,898,000
respectively. Moreover, the Group's total borrowings amounted to
approximately HK$135,001,000 were classified as current liabilities
as at 31 March 2025, while its bank balances and cash amounted
to approximately HK$811,000 only.

These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern and therefore it may be unable to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have been
undertaking a number of measures to improve the Group’s liquidity
and financial position as described in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared by the Directors on a going concern basis, the
validity of which depends on the Group’s ability to obtain sufficient
future funding. Due to the uncertainty of the Group’s ability to
maintain adequate future cash flows, we were unable to ascertain
whether the assumptions made by the Directors in preparing the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis are
proper and appropriate.

Should the Group fail to achieve the plans and measures as
mentioned in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
it might not be able to continue to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would be necessary to reclassify all non-current assets
as current assets, to write-down the carrying values of assets to
their recoverable amounts and to provide for further liabilities
which may arise. The consolidated financial statements have not
incorporated any of these adjustments. In view of the potential
interaction of multiple uncertainties relating to going concern
and their possible cumulative effect on the consolidated financial
statements, we are unable to form an opinion as to whether the
going concern basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is appropriate and we disclaim our opinion
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group in respect of
year ended 31 March 2025.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B R BT R

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group's
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. However,
because of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion
on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Chung Chi Chiu

Practising Certificate Number: P06610

8/F, Catic Plaza

8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

31 October 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

REeREkEMERRAX

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE2025F3A31ALFE

2025 2024
20254 20244F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt ex FEx FHT
Revenue = 5 237,585 427,341
Cost of services Pl 75 X 7R (320,868) (403,214)
Gross (loss) profit (F8)ERN (83,283) 24,127
Other income, gains and losses, net Hab A ~ Was REE -
R 6 2,570 1,904
Impairment losses under expected credit  FEHEEEEER THRE
loss model, net Bt - JFEE 7 (22,954) (4,065)
Administrative expenses THAX (20,296) (9,214)
(Loss) profit from operation RET (BE) = (123,963) 12,752
Finance costs BhE A AR 8 (8,450) (10,765)
(Loss) profit before tax FRBEAT (B518) =R (132,413) 1,987
Income tax expense P58 ®i X2 9 (658) (750)
(Loss) profit for the year FR(EER) = 10 (133,071) 1,237
Other comprehensive income (expense) FREMEMEU A
for the year, net of income tax: (BAX%) @ BATBH :
Item that may be reclassified EiZrgeEF 7 E
subsequently to profit or loss: Bmi)EE
— Exchange differences arising on — BMEBINETFT
translation of foreign operations EEMEY Z5 12 (10)
Total comprehensive (expense) income FR2H (Fx%),/
for the year DON L (133,059) 1,227
(Loss) earnings per share Sk (E5E) 2R 14
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — BERREE (BIL) (16.16) 0.15
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R E B AR &
As at 31 March 2025
72025%3H31H

2025 2024
20254 20244
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M =E THET F&T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB k& 15 104 199
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 - 1,506
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAERH
profit or loss TREE 17 - 11,425
Deferred tax assets IRET IR B = 27 - 658
104 13,788
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Trade receivables 2 Z WA 18 6,385 84,630
Contract assets BREE 19 158,859 198,382
Prepayments, deposits and other TENFIE - Ze Rk
receivables H fib & U 3R 20 1,590 30,487
Financial assets at fair value through BATFEEGABEN
profit or loss TREE 17 10,147 =
Pledged bank balances B & HIRIT 4 5 21 35,287 36,630
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR MR 21 811 12,696
213,079 362,825
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEEE
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk E M ENFIE 23 135,912 148,508
Contract liabilities EHEaE 19 - 3,113
Tax payable JET A I8 168 168
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 24 135,001 148,892
Lease liabilities HEEE 25 - 1,539
271,081 302,220
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) ASSETS hE (AR EEFE (58,002) 60,605
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBAER
LIABILITIES (57,898) 74,393
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Other payables Hfh fE N 5B 23 - 532
Other borrowings H 18 5K 24 - 600
- 1,132
NET (LIABILITIES) ASSETS (BB EERE (57,898) 73,261
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e MBI E

As at 31 March 2025
72025%3H31H

2025 2024
20254 20244
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Mt FET FATT

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EARKEE
Share capital [N 26 8,487 8,000
(Deficit) reserves (Es4t) B (66,385) 65,261
(NET DEFICIT) TOTAL EQUITY (5 #l1) ez B 58 (57,898) 73,261

The consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 227 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31
October 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wong Wai Man
HEX
Director

EZE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

= AN 3£ 4=
mEEREER
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE202563A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NETE 2PN T
Retained
profits/
Share Share Other  Translation  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
RE&ER,/
B R a8 Hitfi e RERE ZiER 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL THL THL THL THL FHL
(Note)
(M)
At 1 April 2023 M2023E4A18 8,000 37,915 3,000 29 23,090 72,034
Profit for the year FREH - - - - 1,237 1,237
Other comprehensive FREMZERY
expenses for the year, AR
net of income tax
ltem that may be reclassified ~ AIEEENABEBHN
to profit or loss: HH
~ Exchange differences arising  — BEBHNEBHES
on translation of foreign MELER
operations - - - (10) = (10
Total comprehensive (expense)  FREM 2 (F%)
income for the year WA B - - - (10) 1,237 1,227
At 31 March 2024 M2024F3A318 8,000 37,915 3,000 19 24,327 73,261
Loss for the year ERER = = - - (133,071) (133,071)
Other comprehensive expenses  ERE M2 EFX -
for the year, net of income tax  Ji /3%
Item that may be reclassified to AT EFN A B EBHM
profit or loss: HH
- Exchange differences arising - AE BN EBHEL
on translation of foreign MELER
operations - - - 12 - 12
Total comprehensive (expense)/ FREM2E (F%),/
income for the year WA B - - - 12 (133,071) (133,059)
Issue of new shares under placing £ & & 3751k
(note 26(a)) (Fi:E26(a)) 487 1,413 - - - 1,900
At 31 March 2025 R2025%€3431R 8,487 39,328 3,000 £} (108,744) (57,898)
Note: Other reserve represented the difference between the share capital ek : EMBEEERQRBRTEAKBEERER

of the Company issued as consideration of acquiring Polyfair
Construction & Engineering Limited (”Polyfair HK”) and issued share

capital of Polyfair HK pursuant to a group reorganisation completed

on 19 January 2018.

TRAERRA([BEERE]) HREMRE
ERRIEN2018F1 A19H TR EREEHE
BRBEETRAZENERE -

Annual Report 2025 —ZE - AE 5% 93




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEEHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE202563A31HILFE

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FH T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETH
(Loss) profit before tax BRERT (BE) & A (132,413) 1,987
Adjustments for: MT5IEBELR T
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERRETE
equipment 69 86
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 1,506 1,505
Fair value losses on payments for life ASREBRE KA
insurance policies NEEEE 1,278 896
Written-off of property, plant and equipment #5412 « BE KR E 26 -
Finance costs BB A 8,450 10,765
Interest income B WA (633) (774)
(Reversal of provision) provision for long KRG € (BHEER) B4E
service payment (532) 517
Impairment losses under expected credit BHEEEERX THRE
loss model, net E518 - HEE 22,954 4,065
Operating cash flows before working EEESEBAIN
capital changes KEBHERE (99,295) 19,047
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables B 5 e W s IE R > (18 0) 72,944 (57,220)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and other J&{tZIE » 24 &
receivables H th i R IB R 8,415 6,445
Decrease (increase) in contract assets BHEERD () 21,890 (10,764)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N E b FE S FRIE L N 7,866 71,711
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities EHEECRD) B (3.113) 1,284
Cash generated from operations KEMBIRSE 8,707 30,503
Interest paid B F B (420) (262)
Income taxes paid B FT1EH - (305)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& ZEHMEELFEE 8,287 29,936
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZH
Interest received B U F B 633 774
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB - BE K& E - (96)
Release (placement) of pledged bank balances 2 EX (17 A) 2 & 1 R 17 4 &4 1,343 (595)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
REBRERERX

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FABIT
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEFESHELEE 1,976 83
FINANCING ACTIVITIES & E &
Interest paid EERESS (8,030) (10,488)
Issue of new shares under placing RIRER & BT AR D 1,900 =
New borrowings raised FTILE R 247,039 359,414
Repayment of borrowings BEEBR (265,236) (378,874)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEARE (1,539) (1,472)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEZEFFAREFE (25,866) (31,420)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND HERBEESEEYRLD FE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (15,603) (1,401)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SNEETE R E B o 2 12 (9)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FNNRERBEESEEY
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 8,179 9,589
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRNBEESRRESEEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR (7.412) 8,179
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH RERBSEBYDIN
EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR MRS 811 12,696
Bank overdrafts SRITHE X (8,223) (4,517)
(7,.412) 8,179
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE202563A31HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
and registered as an exempted company with limited liability
in the Cayman Islands on 25 May 2017 and its shares are
listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“the Stock Exchange”) on 23 February 2018. Its immediate
and ultimate holding company is C.N.Y. Holdings Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI"). The registered office of the Company is located at
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of
the Company is located at 9/F., Wing Hing Industrial Building
situate at No. 499 Castle Peak Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Company’s subsidiaries were principally engaged
in provision of design and project management services for
facade and installation of curtain wall systems in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency
of the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA™) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April 2024 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
”2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at
least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the classification should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12
months.

RAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
2022 Amendments”) (continued)

o clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer
of cash, goods or services, or the entity’'s own equity
instruments to the counterparty. If a liability has terms
that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in
its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises
the option separately as an equity instrument applying
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the 2022 Amendments specifically clarify that
only covenants that an entity is required to comply with on
or before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s
right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting date, even if compliance with the
covenant is assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022
Amendments also specify that covenants with which an entity
must comply after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants)
do not affect the classification of a liability as current or
non-current at the reporting date. However, if the entity's
right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity
complying with covenants within twelve months after the
reporting period, an entity discloses information that enables
users of financial statements to understand the risk of the
liabilities becoming repayable within twelve months after the
reporting period. This would include information about the
covenants, the carrying amount of related liabilities and facts
and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the entity may
have difficulties complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has
applied the new accounting policy to the classification
of liability as current or non-current retrospectively. The
application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B IS Rk M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards
Amendments to HKAS 21

HKFRS 18

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume 113

Lack of Exchangeability?

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2025.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2027.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards mentioned below, the directors of the Company
(the “Directors”) anticipate that the application of all other
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in

the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments

The amendments to HKFRS 9 clarify the recognition and
derecognition for financial asset and financial liability and
add an exception which permits an entity to deem a financial
liability to be discharged before the settlement date if it is
settled in cash using an electronic payment system if, and only
if certain conditions are met.

The amendments also provide guidance on the assessment
of whether the contractual cash flows of a financial asset
are consistent with a basic lending arrangement. The
amendments specify that an entity should focus on what an
entity is being compensated for rather than the compensation
amount. Contractual cash flows are inconsistent with a basic
lending arrangement if they are indexed to a variable that
is not a basic lending risk or cost. The amendments state
that, in some cases, a contingent feature may give rise to
contractual cash flows that are consistent with a basic lending
arrangement both before and after the change in contractual
cash flows, but the nature of the contingent event itself does
not relate directly to changes in basic lending risks and costs.
Furthermore, the description of the term “non-recourse”
is enhanced and the characteristics of “contractually linked
instruments” are clarified in the amendments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments
(continued)

The disclosure requirements in HKFRS 7 in respect of
investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are amended. In
particular, entities are required to disclose the fair value gain
or loss presented in other comprehensive income during
the period, showing separately those related to investments
derecognised during the reporting period and those related to
investments held at the end of the reporting period. An entity
is also required to disclose any transfers of the cumulative
gain or loss within equity related to the investments
derecognised during the reporting period. In addition, the
amendments introduce the requirements of qualitative and
quantitative disclosure of contractual terms that could affect
the contractual cash flow based on a contingent even not
directly relating to basic lending risks and cost.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2026, with early application
permitted. The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;
provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to be
disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS
1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7.
Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and
HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation of
the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B IS Rk M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEUBBRRZGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STHEER

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated 3, REMBHRRZEAEEE

financial statements

BAVBBRREREASHMA
SRHENE BT HERE LR
PO - A B mREA BB EEHRE
RSB ETER R RIGEME 75 £ iR
BI([GEM LM 8] REFERQ A
EHRENBEREESE -

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited (“the GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

3.1.1 Going concern

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the Directors have given careful consideration
to the future liquidity and performance of the
Group and its available sources of financing in
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. During the year ended 31 March 2025,
the Group reported a gross loss of approximately
HK$83,283,000 and loss attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$133,071,000,
and as at that date, the Group had net current
liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
HK$58,002,000 and HK$57,898,000 respectively.
Moreover, the Group’s total borrowings of
approximately HK$135,001,000 were classified
as current liabilities as at 31 March 2025,
while its bank balances and cash amounted to
approximately HK$811,000 only.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AN EHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

3.1.1 Going concern (continued)

The following plans and measures are formulated
to mitigate the Group’s liquidity risk and improve
the Group’s financial position:

- financial support from the major shareholder
from time to time, by considering the
financial needs of the Group;

- negotiating with banks for new facilities on
the future projects to be successfully engaged
by the Group;

- considering for fund raising by issuing shares
to enrich the capital of the Group;

- negotiating with certain suppliers and sub-
contractors to extend payment due date and
reduce the amount of payment;

- the Group is expected can be entered into
new profitable construction contracts and be
able to generate net operating cash inflows
from its future business operations; and

- the Group will continue to take active
measures to control administrative and
operating costs through various channels.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

3.1.1 Going concern (continued)

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
forecasts prepared by management of the Group,
which cover a period of not less than twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.
Taking into account of the plans and measures as
described above, the Directors are of the opinion
that the Group will have sufficient working capital
to maintain its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for at least
twelve months from the end of the reporting
period. The Directors are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

3.1.1 Going concern (continued)

Notwithstanding the above, the execution of the
plans and measures by the Group is in preliminary
stage or in progress and no written contractual
agreements or other documentary supporting
evidence from the relevant shareholder, banks,
suppliers and sub-contractors that are available
as at the date of the consolidated financial
statements were approved and authorised for
issue for extending the going concern assessment,
material uncertainty exists as to whether the Group
can (i) successfully obtaining financial support from
the major shareholder, ii) successfully negotiating
with banks for new facilities; (iii) successfully
raising funds by issuing shares; (iv) successfully
negotiating with the suppliers and sub-contractors
for those long overdue payments to be extended
and reduce payment; (v) successfully enter into
new profitable construction contracts and generate
net operating cash inflows; and (vi) successfully
implementing cost controls.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be
able to continue to operate as a going concern,
and adjustments might have to be made to write
down the carrying values of the Group's assets to
their recoverable amounts, to reclassify its non-
current assets as current assets and to provide for
further liabilities which might arise. The effects of
these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

3.1.2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial assets that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

The preparation of consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRS Accounting
Standards requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the
Directors to exercise their judgements in the
process of applying the accounting policies.
The areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to these consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 4 to these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

3.1.2 Basis of preparation (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair
value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
16 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

3.1.2 Basis of preparation (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

— Level 1: inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities that the entity can access
at the measurement date;

— Level 2: inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within level 1, that
are observable for the asset and
liability, either directly or indirectly;
and

— Level 3: inputs are unobservable for the asset
and liability.

The significant accounting policies applied in
the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Basis of Consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer with reference to
the customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised product or service exceeds
one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the
terms of a contract and the laws that apply to that
contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied over
time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is
satisfied over time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

-  the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time,
revenue is recognised by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point
in time when the customer obtains control of the
distinct good or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for products or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer that is
not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a trade
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer products or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Over time revenue recognition:
measurement of progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Over time revenue recognition:
measurement of progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation
(continued)

Input method (continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Construction service fee income

The Group provides design and project management
services for facade and installation of curtain wall
systems to the customers. When the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligations of
a construction contract can be measured reasonably,
revenue from the contract and the contract costs are
recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the percentage of contract
costs incurred to date to the estimated total contract
costs for the contract. This method provides the most
reliable estimate of the percentage of completion.

When the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligations of a construction contract
cannot be measured reasonably, revenue is recognised
only to the extent of contract costs incurred that is
expected to be recoverable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Over time revenue recognition:
measurement of progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation
(continued)

Input method (continued)

Construction service fee income (continued)

The customers pay the contract prices to the Group
according to the payment schedules as stipulated in
the contracts. If the service rendered by the Group
exceeds the payments, a contract asset is recognised. If
the payments exceed the service rendered, a contract
liability is recognised.

The contract price is allocated to the performance
obligations based on the relative stand-alone selling
prices of the performance obligations. The stand-alone
selling prices are determined by applying the expected
cost plus a margin approach.

Other income

Project management fee income is recognised when the
service was rendered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KA BBRRZGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AETHEERE (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B IS Rk M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBBRZBREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RETHERESR (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXRETTHRER (&)

(continued)

Leases (continued) HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (continued) EEBERAHA (E)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets FHIHERIREEEEHE

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition AEBEEHK AR HEBRR

exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months 12ME A s LA S BB 45 B A

or less from the commencement date and do not HEEREHHERRMAE - =5

contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short- HEMBENRIREBRRNAELR
term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line ERB RS EEBR AR
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets EHEERE

The cost of right-of-use asset includes: FREEEMNKRABREE

- the amount of the initial measurement of the lease — HEBBZVRTE2E
liability;

- any lease payments made at or before the — BB ZRIER AT
commencement date, less any lease incentives A ER R - BAEME WA
received; -

—  any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and - AEEEAMEMIGEEE

R &

—  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group — AEERFHREFEHEBE
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, E- -EBREBEEEMESH
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring FERBBEEZHENEK
the underlying asset to the condition required by KA B #5378 B9 iR 5 B iy
the terms and conditions of the lease. STEE HERIBCAN o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

The lease payments include:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

- amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

- the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option;
and

- payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AN EHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

- the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

- the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B IS Rk M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEUBHERZGEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AXEFBERER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXRETTHRER (&)

(continued)

Leases (continued) HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (continued) EEBERAHA (E)

Lease modifications HEKE

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a fFE TS - AEBEgREE

separate lease if: BEIER—BEBHEEARK :

- the modification increases the scope of the lease — REEBFEBEMER—IE
by adding the right to use one or more underlying % IEE & E TR
assets; and HEHE: &

- the consideration for the leases increases by an — FAREENREDSHE - EE
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price B8 R & EE AR ER E S
for the increase in scope and any appropriate B MERBEESHH
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the ERBRAHEBERETH
circumstances of the particular contract. FEE A -

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a MAIER—BEBFBHEEAKRZHA

separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, EEFIMs AEBEEREBER

less any lease incentive receivable, based on the lease ERTHE R B B2 RIS TR X Bh
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised WICEFIHERB ZEEBITHE

lease payments using a revised discount rate at the ZHH - EFEHEAE (R

effective date of the modification. FAEKEEERR) -

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease REBFBREYHBEREESERE

liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the LAAERZE  BHEEEEMNEN

relevant right-of-use asset. EAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognized in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of “translation
reserve”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

For Long Service Payment (“LSP”) obligation, the Group
accounts for the employer MPF contributions expected
to be offset as a deemed employee contribution towards
the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is
measure on a net basis. The estimated amount of future
benefit is determined after deducting the negative
service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived
from the Group’s MPF contributions that have been
vested with employees and would be used to offset
the employee’s LSP benefits, which are deemed to the
contributions from the relevant employees.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at
the earlier of when the Group entity can no longer
withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when
it recognises any related restructuring costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS Accounting Standards
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and
sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service cost,
interest and remeasurements are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that another HKFRS Accounting
Standards requires or permits their inclusion in the cost
of an asset.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets other than construction in progress less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold Over shorter of the lease terms
improvements or useful lives of 5 years
Furniture and office 20%
equipment

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, and right-of-use assets
(continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, and right-of-use assets
(continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or the group of cash-generating units) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit or the group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject
to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances
no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
Such overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) (“FVTPL”) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

- the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

- the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

- the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling the
financial assets and collecting contractual cash
flows; and

- the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AN EHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

- it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

- on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

- it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that is required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

132 Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 R AR A 7

RMAUEERE

CRR
ST RREHR (8

3.2 EXEFBEREHR (&)

SRI A (H)
EHEE (&)

EREENSERERTE
(%)

TRMEER MIBARKIERES :

- KBZEETZARNOHH
g%

- ROTHIBBEDAKES
TEEMNDHA SR TAE
BN —Hn YEAOHE
BRAGHIERE ;3

— EHDNTEIER BARWETE
BEERERIFHHFITA -

SESN - 7SS [ A AN B 9B 1 AR E
REBHR A EHIRAFERA
Hit2HRAZEREERTER
BRFER AR - iR IR
A B KER D SFHEAC



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(a)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured
at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(b) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in “other income,
gains and losses, net” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, contract assets, deposits
and other receivables and bank balances) which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets without significant
financing component. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances or collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(iy Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(iy Significant increase in credit risk
(continued)

- existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(iy Significant increase in credit risk
(continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in
the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristic when
formulating the grouping:

- Past-due status;

- Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

- External credit ratings where available.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables, contract assets, deposits
and other receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined
in that foreign currency and translated at the
spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
Specifically:

- For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated
hedging relationship, exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘other
income, gains and losses, net’ line item as
part of the net foreign exchange gains and
losses;

- For financial assets measured at FVTPL
that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the ‘other
income, gains and losses, net’ line item as
part of the gain (loss) from changes in fair
value of financial assets;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
lease liabilities and bank and other borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Bank and other borrowings are classified as current
liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains
and losses are determined based on the amortised cost
of the instruments. These foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in the ‘other income, gains and
losses, net’ line item in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and consideration paid or payable is recognised in profit
or loss.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit
and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities, and
the related assets separately. The Group recognises a
deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary difference can
be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable
temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied the same taxable entity by the same
taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Pa
=]

=r
=

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

MBRR I RAEBEERE
TR E R (M)

3.2 EXEFBEREHR (&)

BiIE (&)

RBEENREEREEAECH
EXFME  AEBERBBE B
BIZ12RREDRIEAREESR
BEERAEEE - A&EBSMERE
AMETREZEEREAEEAEGESR
B 2 R IE & B (DA FE R AR T
?E—I%?&ﬁﬁf’lf}fﬁﬁ—ﬁﬂﬁiﬁﬁ%%
BEAR) REEFIEAE

i B AJ 4R OA 58 I #0077 #E I 5K D A
HMAEERNMMBRERE - M
R & N [R] — 0 755 6 18 U Y P
SHiMER - AR EEEERAEE
KETE-

BIEA FOEAER RN IR s FERR - MEE
EREMEERASERR #EaR
ERNEB BRERI - EUIER

T A REER AT G 7 R E
o2 ERANE RN ERTER -

gn Hﬁﬁlﬁ‘iéﬁkﬁlﬁx BEBS
HETARES H‘Jffdﬁ%%

qu)\%ﬂ‘%éFFE’] 2ETRIER o

Annual Report 2025 —Z - R %55 149




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s material accounting policy
information, which are described in Note 3, the Directors are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Revenue and profit recognition

The Group estimated the percentage of completion
of the construction contracts by reference to the
proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date to the estimated total costs of the
contracts. When the final cost incurred by the Group is
different from the amounts that were initially budgeted,
such differences will impact the revenue and profit or
loss recognised in the period in which the determination
is made. Budget cost of each project will be reviewed
periodically and revised accordingly where significant
variances are noted during the revision.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

(b) Going concern

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared by the management on a going concern basis.
The assessment of the going concern assumptions
involves making judgement by the management, at a
particular point of time, about the future outcome of
events or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The
management considers that the Group has ability to
continue as a going concern and the major conditions
and business strategies about the going concern
assumptions are set out in Note 3.1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(a) Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers that it is probable for future
taxable profit to be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. The
outcome of their actual utilisation may be different.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the
tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future,
which is a key source of estimation uncertainty. In
cases where the actual future taxable profits generated
are less or more than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which result in revision of future
taxable profits estimation, a material reversal or further
recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of financial

(c)

Instruments

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s certain financial
assets amounting to approximately HK$10,147,000
(2024: HK$11,425,000) are measured at fair value with
fair value being determined based on the surrender
value of the policy of the financial assets (2024: based
on the valuation performed by an independent valuer).
Judgement and estimation are required in establishing
the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant
inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these
factors could result in material adjustments to the fair
value of these instruments. Further details are contained
in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

Provision of ECL for financial assets

Impairment loss on trade receivables, contract assets,
other receivables and deposits and bank balances
represent managements’ best estimate of losses
incurred at the reporting date under ECL models.
Management assesses whether the credit risk of trade
and other receivables and contract assets have increased
significantly since their initial recognition. The Group is
required to exercise judgement in making assumptions
and estimates when calculating impairment loss,
including any observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows of the above financial assets and historical loss
experience on the basis of the relevant observable data
that reflects current economic conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B IS Rk M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4, BRETHEHRMESTTFTEER
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION EMNEERFR(E)
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

THREREZNEEZRF ()

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(c) Provision of ECL for financial assets

() TREENHEHRFEBRR

(continued)

The measurement of the ECL involves significant
management judgements and assumptions, primarily
including the selection of appropriate models and
determination of relevant key measurement parameters,
criteria for determining whether or not there was
a significant increase in credit risk or a default was
incurred, economic indicators for forward-looking
measurement, the application of economic scenarios
and weightings, management consideration due to
significant uncertain factors not covered in the models
and the estimated future cash flows. The information
about the ECL is disclosed in Note 29(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AN EHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEKR D EHEH
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from (i) REEFEHANKRNMA
contracts with customers 53\
Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received Wi iR HEERS M E W R E
and receivable from provision of construction services. WL BHATE - NEBH W=D
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: MR :
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Construction services for residential MEEMERERD
properties 237,585 373,819
Construction services for commercial B EMERNEERE
properties - 53,522
Revenue from contracts with customers B & F & #9H) I 25 237,585 427,341
Information about major customers ERETEEFHNER
Revenue attributed from customers that accounted for RERA 525K B 48 W 5510%3k
10% or more of the Group’s total revenue during the AEWMERP ZEERZEIT
year is as follows:
2025 2024
20255 2024%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Customer A ZEA 159,395 210,105
Customer B =B 65,100 115,737
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

(i)

Disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers (continued)

Segment information

For the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment, the chief operating decision maker (i.e. the
chief executive of the Group) reviews the overall results
and financial position of the Group, which are prepared
based on the same accounting policies set out in Note 3
to the consolidated financial statement. Accordingly, the
Group presents only one single operating segment and
no further analysis is presented.

Geographical information

No geographical information is presented as the Group’s
revenue are all derived from Hong Kong based on the
location of services delivered and the Group’s non-
current assets (excluding financial assets at FVTPL and
deferred tax assets) are substantially located in Hong
Kong.

Timing of revenue recognition

All timing of revenue recognition is over time for the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Construction service fee income

The Group provides design and project management
services for facade and installation of curtain wall
systems to the customers. When the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligations of
a construction contract can be measured reasonably,
revenue from the contract and the contract costs are
recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the percentage of contract
costs incurred to date to the estimated total contract
costs for the contract. This method provides the most
reliable estimate of the percentage of completion.

When the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligations of a construction contract
cannot be measured reasonably, revenue is recognised
only to the extent of contract costs incurred that is
expected to be recoverable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

(ii) Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

The customers pay the contract prices to the Group
according to the payment schedules as stipulated in
the contracts. If the service rendered by the Group
exceeds the payments, a contract asset is recognised. If
the payments exceed the service rendered, a contract
liability is recognised.

The contract price is allocated to the performance
obligations based on the relative stand-alone selling
prices of the performance obligations. The stand-alone
selling prices are determined by applying the expected
cost plus a margin approach.

Based on the information available to the Group at the
end of each reporting period, the management of the
Group expects the transaction price allocated to the
above unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) contracts in
respect of provision of construction services as at 31
March 2025 of approximately HK$1,251,000 (2024:
HK$152,206,000) will be recognised as revenue during
the year ending 31 March 2026 (2024: the year ended
31 March 2025 to 2026). As permitted by HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.
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7.

6. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 6. HMWA - WaEREE  FHE
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TABIT
Bank interest income RITH BULA 633 774
Exchange gains, net I H Wz F 5 89 21
Fair value losses on payments for life ASRBIR BT
insurance policies NEEEE (1,278) (896)
Project management fee income EHEEEERA 1,000 2,000
Sundry income LS N 2,126 5
2,570 1,904
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 7. REEBFEEX NNRERS
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET B FE
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Impairment losses under expected credit JEHI{Z BB EER T HY
loss model, net, on: ERE R
— trade receivables — B 5 EsIE 5,301 1,385
— contract assets — EHEE 17,633 2,548
— deposits and other receivables — e RHMERFIE 20 132
22,954 4,065

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HIEFE

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 29(b)(iii).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BEMAE

2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHETT

Interest expenses on: MEFX
— bank borrowings — RITER 7,936 10,161
— bank overdrafts — RITHEX 420 262
— other borrowings — EAfbfER 52 218
— provision for long service payment — REIARTG @ B - 15
— lease liabilities —HEERE 42 109
8,450 10,765

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FAEBAEX

2025 2024
20255 2024%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Current tax: BVEA# 18
— Hong Kong Profits Tax — BBRMEH - 638
Deferred taxation (Note 27) PR T8 (M1 5¥27) 658 112
658 750
The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on AEEERERBEAERELATIRRNLSE
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which BB AR M EEEMERAEER
subsidiaries of the Group are domiciled and operated. Hm M FTEH - RIERSHE KR
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands BEREZEENRAIRER  NEEHE
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Group is not HNREHERRBEZHE N EMET

subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI. BF o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits
Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on
the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and
at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2
million.

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of
8.25% on assessable profits up to HK$2 million and 16.5%
on any part of assessable profits over HK$2 million for the
year ended 31 March 2024. For the year ended 31 March
2025, no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
for the Group as the Group did not generate any assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the PRC Income Tax Law and the respective
regulations, the subsidiaries which operate in the PRC are
subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 25% on the
taxable income. No provision for PRC income tax has been
made for the Group’s operation in PRC as such operation did
not generate any assessable profits for tax purpose for the
year of assessment 2025 (2024: Nil).

According to the Enterprise Income Tax Law and the
Implementation of Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC,
an entity eligible as a Small Low-profit Enterprise is subject
to preferential tax treatments. From 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2024, the annual taxable income not more than
RMB3,000,000 of a Small Low-profit Enterprise is subject to
Enterprise Income Tax calculated at 25% of its taxable income
at a tax rate of 20%.

During both years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, a
subsidiary of the Group is eligible as a Small Low-profit
Enterprise and is subject to the relevant preferential tax
treatments.

RAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

FREHA < (&)

BREMEHFNSHE c6EKREEE
RE2EESTaNNANSHRE R A
8.25% ' M2 H & % T & & A Bl 4%
16.5% & - THAMBFNFESHEE
BEEEE R G S EER16.5%
E—FBEHH - Bt 6EREEESR
NEBNEHRAETERTEEF A
2E BB LIRS 25%:THE  MBE2ES
7 TT B i 5T B SR Bl 0m K Bl #216.5% 5t

St

ﬁo

HE2024F3A31BILEFE - FA
FEF T ANBiE2H B8 T ER
BN B IR B R8.25% =t & o M B @
28 &7 JT K (E A1 20 0 B AR Bt v A1) Bl 4%
THE16.5%:T & o B, £2025F 12 A31
HIEFE BRAESEEEELEES
FERBEN - R B A KB FT1R
BB TS BB -

RIEPBATEHARBRAAG - R E
KEHHEBARBREERRKIALN
25%F T EREFBH - AR AEBEF
Bl B 275 20258 B FF [ 0 4 EE A E
A ERFER - R EHIRP BB
(20244 : #&) -

TR E AR MBI EREHEERF
= ANRAFBEDEMSTIEEHEIEG
FENIHMFACEERNERAIZER
TRAFH o 202351818 22024512
A318 - NEMFIE 2 FERERRK
AR B A R #3,000,0007T A 3515
EAREERTWARI25% LT EK20% 5T
HEEMEH -

#H 220254 K2024F3A31H IEMEF
B AEE—FWBRR/FE/NEMF
TEERTZEHEBAEERGTS -
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of PRC, withholding tax
is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned
by PRC subsidiary from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable
to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiary as the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The income tax expense for the years can be reconciled to
the (loss)/profit before tax per the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

FREHm =< (&)

BIERBE P ERTEHE © ;200841 A1
Bt - ZLHr BB A 5 TR EUR 7 = R
Z IR EAHRIBIT o WENERE B
HERNFP KB R A 2R MG 2
TR EEENELERERE  REA
NEBE RS EE R R 2 B O R
M ARZEGREBEENER 2R
ANARA[BEREE o

FAMERAXEEEEREREME
EWA KB RBAT (B518), % ) R
™

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE T
(Loss) profit before tax BRBLAT (B1R) = F (132,413) 1,987
Tax calculated at the domestic REMFTSTHHE16.5%
income tax rate of 16.5% STE BT (21,848) 328
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR MR OT B2
for tax purpose 3,432 594
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax B ZERF WA KT 52 2
purpose (8) =
Tax effect of estimated tax losses not REERGET T IEERD
recognised MR 18,503 -
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses B)) F 55 B R FE R T 1E S 1R Y
previously not recognised ks - (4)
Tax effect of different tax rates of BB A B[R 7 2 0 5 765 52 28
subsidiary (79) =
Tax effect of two-tiered profits tax rates ™ &% 15 % Fi & &l E 19
regime HBee - (165)
Others HAth 658 (3)
Income tax expenses for the year FAREBEX 658 750
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REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

10. (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. £ (B1R) &F
(Loss) profit for the year is arrived at after charging: FR(BEE) BN TIRNBRATSIERE
2
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Directors’ remuneration (Note 11) E=5M (K1) 2,748 6,449
Other staff costs: B8 T :
— Salaries and other benefits — ¥ & RHEAMEF 29,220 47,022
— Retirement benefit schemes — RRBEF G EIH R
contributions 1,785 2,774
— (Reversal of provision) provision for - KRR € (BERR)
long service payment ] (532) 517
— Provision for termination compensation — BB 7 (& 2,511 =
Total staff costs* B TR AR 35,732 56,762
Auditor’s remuneration % BRAD B 600 600
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses #& 32 /4 Fd 3 7 B AR 82,020 156,608
Subcontracting fee DEE 178,385 146,949
Depreciation of property, plant and W BEREETE
equipment 69 86
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEERE 1,506 1,505
Lease payments not included in the WIFAHER RS ED
measurement of lease liabilities HERZK 273 402
Loss on written-off of property, s - WE k& E 2 EE
plant and equipment 26 -
Written-off of other receivables Hf S8 B i FE W R I8 2,373 =
& The staff costs of approximately HK$24,490,000 (2024: @ BITRARRBEKARNRITHAX
HK$51,990,000) and HK$11,242,000 (2024: HK$4,772,000) R &% 9 Rl A24,490,0008
were expensed in costs of services and administrative expenses JC (20244 51,990,000 T) &
respectively. 11,242,0007% 7T (20244 : 4,772,000
BIT) °
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e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable GEM Listing Rules and

CO, is as follows:

11.

EE BRSTHAEME

RIZE B HIGEM_ET AR Al S (2 B PI)

BRENAFEEERESEMEOT :

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE2025F3A31HLEFE
Performance
and
Salaries and Emoluments discretionary Retirement
Directors' fee  other benefits waived bonus scheme
(note a) (note b) (note d) (notec)  contributions Total
EZHe HeREMEF BHEME EHRBERL
(Kizta) (H3tb) (KzEd) (Ko  BUGTEMRR &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TiEn TiEn THER Tin TER
Executive directors: HTES
Mr. Yu'Lap On Stephen{ Mr. Yu') #uREE([R%E4E])
(Chief Executive Officer) (frofs) - 2,263 (1,697) - - 566
Mr. Chow Mo Lam{ Mr. Chow") ~ BE#MEL ([AEL])
(Chairman) (TF) - 1,692 (1,269) - - 423
Mr. Wong Kam Man ER UL (R04F
(resigned on 11 December 2024)  12A11BEHE) - 336 - - 5 3
Mr. Wong Wai Man EREE (R2024F
(appointed on 16 May 2024) SA16BEE) - 840 - - - 840
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHFTES
directors:
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah ERERT 174 - - - - 174
Mr. Wong Chi Yung THEAE(R20045
(resigned on 11 December 2024)  12811HE() 160 - - - - 160
Mr. Man Yun Yee XBREE 174 - - - - 174
Ms. Sun Shui Finkt (R2024%
(appointed on 11 December 2024)  12R11BEZ) 70 - - - - 70
578 5,131 (2,966) - 5 2,748
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11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable GEM Listing Rules and
CO, is as follows: (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

11.

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

EE BETRAEME (&)
RIRIE A M GEM L T R8I R (2 RHEH)
REOAFEEEREEHSMT -

(#8)

B E2024F3A31BIEFE

Performance
and
Salaries and discretionary Retirement
Directors' fee  other benefits bonus scheme
(note a) (note b) (note ¢) contributions Total
e HEeREMREN ERRBETL
(M3ta) (Mi3Eb) (Mato)  RRGrEIHER Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET TR TAR TET
Executive directors: BTES
Mr. Yu RUREAE(ZRE)

(Chief Executive Officer) (fTHas) - 2,263 189 - 2,452
Mr. Chow (Chairman) RBRMEE(ER) - 1,692 141 - 1,833
Mr. Wong Kam Man (resigned  Z 883054 (R2024512 8118

on 11 December 2024) B - 1,344 112 18 1474
Independent non-executive BIFHTEES

directors:

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah EEERT 230 - - - 230
Mr. Wong Chi Yung (resigned 55 %4 (120245127118

on 11 December 2024) BHE) 230 - - = 230

Mr. Man Yun Yee NEREE 230 - - - 230
690 5,299 442 18 6,449
Notes: B 5

(@)  The emoluments of independent non-executive directors shown
above were for their services as the directors of the Company.

(b)  The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The emoluments of Mr. Yu
and Mr. Chow were also for his services in the capacity of chief
executive officer and chairman respectively.

@ LEXMRBIFATEENME RN
REREARRESMEENRE M
S EBE -

(b) LEXMTRBTESEOMEARKEE
BARABRAEEEBAERENRS
S BB & o A% 58 A K JB 5 A O
ETD R AR BERETRERRE
FERT R LR BR TS T S A RO BN &
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e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

11.

12.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

() The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the
operating results, individual performance and market condition
during the year.

(d)  During the year ended 31 March 2025, Mr. Yu and Mr. Chow,
the executive directors, agreed to waive their emoluments of
approximately HK$1,697,000 and HK$1,269,000 due to the
unsatisfactory financial performance of the Group.

No emolument was paid or payable by the Group to any
directors of the Company as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during
both years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
year ended 31 March 2024.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest employees of the Group during the year
included one (2024: three) directors whose emoluments
are presented in the disclosures in Note 11 above. The

11.

12.

EE  BSTHAEME (A)

M : ()

(0 BBREADZEZEANKELEESE @
ARBEHREE -

(dy & ZE2025F3A31MBIEEE BEAE
B ERFTEE  ITEBRELE
MALEREREERE 41,697,000
77T 11,269,000/ T °

RE E 20255 202438318 |- #
FE AEBBEARAREAESY
e EMAERBS - EAIMASKRIIA
ANEEE A B S B R o

REE20245F3A31BILFE - #ES
EHBESTHA ENENREWETM
B & B 2 HE o

hE&E%HESR

FRN AEERERSHEES  —F
(Q024F : =) BEF HBEBER L
XHFFTAREE - R TIHH (20244 ¢

emoluments of the remaining four (2024: two) individuals are ME) ATHMEmT :
as follows:

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Salaries and other benefits e kHEMmEF 3,199 1,931
Performance and discretionary bonus XBERBWIBIELL - 161
Retirement schemes contributions RARTE F 5T B 4 3K 32 18
3,231 2,110
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A B IS Rk M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) 12. EZ & EE (&)

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the FETSEEANSaFEESES
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands BABLT :
is as follows:
2025 2024
20255 20244
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T 3 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0018 7t £ 1,500,0007% 7T 1 1
4 2
During the year ended 31 March 2024, no emoluments were HZE2024F3R31BIEFE - NEEH
paid by the Group to any of the directors, the chief executive BEREMES FETBRABRESX
or supervisors as an inducement to join the Group or upon € - fEAIMAZESE Bk i AR
joining, nor as compensation for loss of office. RSB (E -
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group paid HE2025F3A31MHLIEFE  AEE A
aggregate compensation for loss of office of approximately IEESHFEHMESPHMNE AL 5
HK$1,475,000 to four individuals among the five highest paid B3 4 (8 & AR ZH 491,475,000/8 7T °
employees.
13. DIVIDENDS 13. K&
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders HZE2025F3A31BEFE - BIERAN
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2025, AEEERERIRASEZRIRMTRE -
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the B ¥R B R DA SR 1 2 53 R A< (E (] AR S
reporting period (2024: Nil). (20244 : 47) -
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e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

14. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per
share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

14. 28R (BR) BFN

ARBFEAANEIEERERREE (B
1B)BATDRBIATSIEE

2025 2024
20254 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH T
(Loss) earnings (E518) Z A
(Loss) earnings for the purpose of M EEREERR
calculating basic and diluted earnings BERMNME A
per share (B8 &7 (133,071) 1,237
2025 2024
20254 2024%F
‘000 ‘000
TR T &
Number of shares vl gE|
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January MIATERE EHTE B 800,000 800,000
Effect of shares issued under placing RIFEEZHITRMDTZE
(Note 26(a)) (FffzE26(a)) 23,504 -
Weighted average number of ordinary M ETRERR
shares for the purpose of calculating e (BEE)BNMEH
basic and diluted (loss) earnings per @A NFE T &
share 823,504 800,000

No diluted (loss) earnings per share for both years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024 were presented as there was no
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.
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A B IS Rk M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 1% - BERRE

Furniture
Leasehold and office
improvements equipment Total
HEHE FARBLARE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FTER FAER
COST iz
At 1 April 2023 M2023F471H 828 1,579 2,407
Additions NE = 96 96
Exchange adjustments BEE 54, o B = (14) (14)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024  12024F3A318 &
2024F4H18 828 1,661 2,489
Additions NE - - -
Written-off 1 88 (828) (287) (1,115)
Exchange adjustments BE N R - 2 2
At 31 March 2025 ®2025%3831H - 1,376 1,376
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION RINE
At 1 April 2023 M2023F4A1H 828 1,389 2,217
Provided for the year FEEE - 86 86
Exchange adjustments EREEE - (13) (13)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024  72024F3A318 Kk
2024F4A18 828 1,462 2,290
Provided for the year FEEE - 69 69
Written-off 35 (828) (261) (1,089)
Exchange adjustments ME KA - 2 2
At 31 March 2025 7202563 831H - 1,272 1,272
CARRYING AMOUNT REE
At 31 March 2025 ®2025%3831H - 104 104
At 31 March 2024 720243 A31H = 199 199

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after
taking into account the residual values, are depreciated on
straight-line basis at the following rate per annum:

Leasehold improvements

Over shorter of the lease

EaE - BERREER B EF RFER
BER U TIIFRRERETUTE

HEXE

HEA 55

terms or useful lives of AJ {5 A 4F Bf
5 years (B E RAE)
Furniture and office equipment 20% R RBAFZE  20%
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. ERAEEE
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
As at 1 April R4A1H 1,506 3,011
Depreciation charges ETIRITE (1,506) (1,505)
As at 31 March M3A31H - 1,506
Expenses related to short-term leases EAE S HEER X 273 402
Total cash outflow for leases HERE ML AR
(including short-term leases) (BEEHAE) 1,854 1,983
For both years, the Group leases offices for its operations. RREFER - AEBHHERBHAES
Lease agreements typically run for fixed periods of 2 years TEE - HEWBZBEIR2F (20244 -
(2024: 2 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual 29F) W E E B ET L - M EIERRK IR
basis and contain different terms and conditions. In (DI B A =R N il DR S S
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the HoREEHEER T AT RN
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a HER  AEBEERAYNERENRET
contract and determines the period for which the contract is A 58 Fl 1T & A8 EAfE o
enforceable.
In addition, the Group also regularly entered into several AN - REEITNEBRT B PRAER
short-term leases for office. There were no outstanding lease HATE 49 © 720254 K202443H31H -
commitments relating to these short-term leases for office at WEEZERAZTEABLNEENRE

31 March 2025 and 2024. TRA4EHE o
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A B IS Rk M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 17. RAFESTAEBZNEREE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2025 2024
2025% 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAETT

Financial assets at FVTPL: BEAFEFAEBEGHNEREE !

— Life insurance policy, at fair value — AERBERENK -
EAVEE 10,147 11,425
Notes: D

The amounts of US$572,000 (equivalent to HK$4,494,000) and
US$473,000 (equivalent to HK$3,715,000) (2024: US$575,000
(equivalent to HK$4,481,000) and US$546,000 (equivalent
to HK$4,255,000)) represent two life insurance policies (the
"Policies”) entered into by Polyfair Construction & Engineering
Limited (“Polyfair HK") in September 2017 for two directors of
the Company, namely Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu respectively, with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Under the Policies, the beneficiary and policy holder is Polyfair
HK and the total insured sum is US$2,000,000. Polyfair
HK paid an upfront payment of US$623,822 (equivalent to
HK$4,881,000) and US$471,857 (equivalent to HK$3,692,000).
Polyfair HK can terminate the policies at any time and receive
cash back based on the net nominal account value of the
Policies at the date of withdrawal, which is the gross premium
paid, plus accumulated interest income less any deductions
and the applicable surrender charges made in accordance with
the Policies. Surrender charge is payable if the Policies are
terminated by Polyfair HK between the 1st and the 15th policy
year in accordance with the Policies. The management expected
that the Policies will be held upon the expected lives of the two
directors insured for a period of 20 years.

&% /A572,000% 7T (FHE 144,494,000
#Bor) k473,000% ¢ (B E R
3,715,000/ 7) (20244 : 575,000
7 (}88 74,481,0003% 7T) & 546,000
7T (FBE 74,255,000/ 7T ) ) B 8
RERERIBRERAR([ERF
1) R2017F9R8 D Bl B QR M A
EE(AALERRELE)FT LMD
ASRBRRE ([RE]) EATFEE
HERBSTER -

BIERE I ARREFBEALE
BES 0 R IREE 52,000,000 T °
BRRBE XA F)IE623,822% T
(#8 & 724,881,000/ 7T) K471,857%
JT (FEE 143,692,000/ 7T) - BEES
AIBERF AR IEIREE - WIRIERERIRE
BzEmEEEKEESER  %E
BEAEHBREMEZRFF WA -
B0 B T ] 0 38 B2 AR HE AR B8 AR TE U B
ZHEBARRER WEZHEANRE
EMEIE15FEHRKILIREE - BIZE
BIERELFRRER - BEEBEH
REBEMEZRESNEHE G
- BHI20%F -
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 17. RAFETAEZNEREE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)  The amount of US$247,000 (equivalent to HK$1,938,000)
(2024: US$345,000 (equivalent to HK$2,689,000)) represents
one life insurance policy entered into by Polyfair HK in
November 2022 (the “HS Policy”) for one director of the
Company, namely Mr. Chow, with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Under the HS Policy, the beneficiary and policy holder is Polyfair
HK. Polyfair HK paid an upfront payment of US$256,000
(equivalent to HK$2,000,000). Polyfair HK can terminate the
HS Policy at any time and the HS Policy is surrendered for cash
equal to the net cash value plus special dividend and policy
value management balance calculated at the date the surrender
request is processed. The management expected that the HS
Policy will be held upon the expected lives of the director
insured for a period of 20 years.

The fair values of the Company’s life insurance policies at 31
March 2024 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on those dates by Valtech Valuation Advisory
Limited, an independent firm of professional valuer not
related to the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Directors decided
to terminate the Policies and the HS Policy and therefore in
the opinion that the surrender value of the Policies and the
HS Policy provided by the insurance companies are the best
approximation of its fair value. The Policies and the HS Policy
subsequently fully redeemed in May 2025.

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES

(#&)
HisE : (48)

(b) £FA247,000% T (FHE 71,938,000
7 7T) (20244 : 345,000k 7t (HHE R
2,689,000/ 7L)) MFIBAE LA SR
2022F 1B AEARAR A —REE (BE
EE)FIV— I ABRBRE ([EE
EE2RE]) - HATFEZHERIE
R o

BRIBEREERLZERE  ZmARRE
BEAARBRES BERBIBIMNT
256,000 7t (8 & #2,000,000/% 7T )
KITE(I SRIE - BEB B Al BERF R 12
BERZ2RE  EHERERZERE
BAREHRR  RRESEENF
REEEMESHAFEERE B
AEEFEMBZREEEETELS
% THEEBHEERZEZREGE
ZREEMERSHEHE - BHI20F -

AARBRIREN2024F3A3182ZA
FEDBDERDEFEERAR (BAE
B3 4 R E 2 B B E A ERNTT) N
EZRMMEGEMSD -

HE2025F3A31BILFE  EFRFTE
BRIERERBERZEZRE  BUHRA
REBARIRENRERBREREZERE
EREERERMEQATE - RELE
REEEZE2REEZEEN2025F5 K2
HEE -

18. EZ EWRIE

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FABT

Trade receivables: B 5 rEWFE
Contract with customers XEAH 6,386 84,888
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEEEE (1) (258)
6,385 84,630
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

As at 1 April 2023, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to approximately HK$28,795,000 (net of
allowance for credit loss of approximately HK$2,775,000).

The Group allows a credit period of 14 to 30 days to its
customers for construction works after the work is certified,
except for several credit worthy customers to whom an
extended credit period would be granted. An ageing analysis
of the trade receivables (net of allowance of ECL) as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the date of issuance of the
payment certificates issued by customers, is as follows:

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

18. E 5 B RKTA ()

i

w

MR2023F481H  BEFAHNZESE
W FRIE#) /528,795,000 7T (F1BZ &
B8R 492,775,000/ 7T) °

AEEREHIRERERAZET
BETHEEFI14Z230BEMEE8H - &
ETEERHNETFERRREEY
BRoh o MRS HIRE 5 B UGRIR Gk
EEEEREB RETPRANTES
ZRABMERNREDNMAT

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

0-30 days 0%230H 1,337 55,240
31-90 days 31290H 5,048 29,390
6,385 84,630

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed
regularly.

As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$5,048,000 (2024: approximately
HK$29,390,000) which are past due as at the reporting date,
but none of them were past due 90 days or more.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set
out in 29(b)(iii).

REZERHEPZA  AEE g
EEEEPNERERLIEERPH
SEHEE AKEgTHRAELH
EEEE -

M2025%3A31H ' st AXRNEBEZ
SERAREESKOBEFAKRE L
{8 49 /55,048,000 7T (20244 : 49
29,390,000/ 7T) * ZEBEBARRE
HEE @ - W A0 B skIA L »

BRE 5 RUGRERENENFBER
B &E29(b)(iii) ©
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 19. EHNEERAERE

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TABIT
Contract assets arise from construction REREAELHNZENEE
contracts
— retention receivables of construction — BEASHMNEKRT
contracts BREB€ 76,896 65,992
— unbilled revenue of construction — BEANHNRERE
contracts EE A& 102,868 135,662
179,764 201,654
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (20,905) (3,272)
158,859 198,382

Notes:

As at 1 April 2023, contract assets amounted to approximately
HK$190,166,000 (net of allowance for credit losses of
approximately HK$1,256,000).

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for products or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer.

Retention monies will be released after completion of defect
liability period of the relevant contracts or in accordance with
the terms specified in the relevant contracts, ranging from
1 to 2 years from the date of the issuance of the practical
completion certificate. Upon satisfactory completion of contract
work as set out in the contract, the architect for the building
project will issue a practical completion certificate. Generally,
upon the issuance of the practical completion certificate, half
of the retention money of such contract work will be released
to the Group, while the remaining half will be released to the
Group upon the issuance of the certificate at the end of defect
liability period that identified defects in respect of the entire
building project have been made good.

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets are set
out in Note 29(b)(iii).
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(b)

MR2023F 4818  AHEENB
190,166,000/ 7t (MR EE BB EE
1,256,0005& 7T ) °

BHEBEERASERARERNE P E
% an 3R T AR AR B RO AE A ©

REBESRREBANNRIEEESRE
M RRKARIBE WA KT ET B 6K
(BEHERRIEZABHALT —EM
F)ERR - RENPAHENAHTRE
Bl TE R 1% - 3EERTR B Ay ELEMAS B
HERRTER - —KRM s - NEWL
ERRTHERE LEAHTEN—
FRESHERTAKE  MFH—
FHRRBEIS [EE F A RKZEHE
EZEERAERNBREEEBED
BERBEMRTALEH -

BERAHEEREN N IBENME
29(b)(iii) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 19.

(continued)

The decrease in contract assets and liabilities in the current
year are mainly attributable to substantial completion of
projects during the year ended 31 March 2025.

Consequently, both contract assets and liabilities declined
compared with the prior year.

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

BREERAER (@)

AEEANEERAHNEBERLIIEE
RN AEEEREE2025F3A318 1t
FESTHATE

At - ENEERABHBREFET

B o

2025 2024

20255 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FETT

Contract liabilities — construction AEHBE-EE - 3,113

As at 1 April 2023, contract liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$1,829,000.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer products or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

MN2023F4818  AHABH A
1,829,000/ 7T °

BRNABRARERKEKE (KE
RETB) MATFBBERARBEDH
e

Year ended 31 March BZ3A3MBILEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue recognised in the year that was REFFAB N EE
included in contract liabilities at A P 6 1A T R B U 2
beginning of year 3,113 1,829
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

20. FAFIR - BEREAEWK

RECEIVABLES 15

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FE T
Prepaid project expenses TEfTIE B X - 18,045
Prepayments A FRIB 192 464
Rental and other deposits He RHMmES 75 522
Trade deposit B 5% - 10,000
Other receivables H fib e U 3R 1,352 1,465
1,619 30,496
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEEEE (29) 9)
1,590 30,487

Analysed as: DR
Current assets mENE E 1,590 30,487
Non-current assets ERBEE - =
1,590 30,487

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other

receivables are disclosed in 29(b)(iii).
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21. BANK BALANCES AND CASH/PLEDGED

BANK BALANCES

Bank balances and cash/pledged bank balances:

Bank balances and cash/pledged bank balances are
denominated in the following currencies:

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

1. RITERRRE BERRIT

B
RITRBRERSBEAMBITEH

RITEBRRS EERRITEBRNUAT
Sl EHE -

2025 2024

20255 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET Tt

Denominated in — HK$ LA TTETE 36,094 49,146
Denominated in — RMB A R¥HE 4 180
36,098 49,326

Bank balances and cash include cash on hand and short-term
bank deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short
term cash commitments, with an original maturity of three
months or less, and carry average effective interest rate of
0.25% (2024: 0.88%) per annum.

Pledged bank balances of approximately HK$35,287,000
(2024: HK$36,630,000) carry interest at prevailing market rate
ranging from 0.50% to 3.50% (2024: 0.88% to 3.70%) per
annum as at 31 March 2025.

At 31 March 2025, the pledged bank balances of
approximately HK$35,287,000 (2024: HK$36,630,000) have
been pledged to secure the bank loans of approximately
HK$110,344,000 (2024: HK$120,437,000) and bank
overdrafts of approximately HK$8,224,000 (2024:
HK$4,517,000). Details of bank loans and bank overdrafts
have been disclosed in Note 24.

BITRBEECRETFEASRARER
AEE RN AENREIBEITER
HEBEBAAB=ZEABHUAT » FHE
BRAF FI 2 £0.25% (20244 £ 0.88%) °

M20259F3A31H @ 2 & # i 17 4
#4 4 /35,287,000 7T (20244 :
36,630,000/ 7T ) Z IR 17 T %5 F F| E )
F0.50%%3.50% (2024 : 0.88% =
3.70%) 5F & °

7202593 H31H © 4J35,287,000% 7T
(20244 : 36,630,000/ JT) K E &
RITHSBEE R - 1ER#%110,344,000
7 ot (20244 : 120,437,000/ 7T) 8
TE 8,224,000/ T (20244 :
4,517,000 70) IR1TEZ HER - B
RITERMIRITETNFBERKE24
W o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

22. PERFORMANCE GUARANTEE 22.

Construction business

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the performance guarantees
given by banks were granted under letters of guarantees of
the Group and were secured by the Group’s pledged bank
balances and trade receivables as disclosed in Note 31, which
will be released upon completion of the contract works.

BHAER
BEXRK

MR20254F 2202443318 » iR1TiR
MEAERDIBEAEEEREIFL -
WAREECEHIBEHR L E SRR
TEEER (M 31 FTIRE) - BRAER
BRENIRETIRRER -

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. EF R HMEMNRIE
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Trade payables E S EMRE
— from third parties (Note a) — RBEFE=H (KizFa) 83,288 103,084
Other payables and accruals HitENREREGEA
Accrued charges s E A 13,096 7,499
Amounts due to directors (Note b) FESE E3RIE (Ml sEb) 3,467 13,844
Other payables b &5 5RIR 14,444 2,137
Provision on long service payment RHEIRRTS & B &
(Note 33) (MH5E33) - 532
Retention payables FERIRE & 21,617 21,944
52,624 45,956
Total trade and other payables B 5 R E M ENRIBLAEE 135,912 149,040
Less: Other payables classified as B D RRERBEED
non-current liabilities H b e RE - (532)
Total trade and other payables classified D EARBAGBHNE S K
as current liabilities H A JfE 5 R IE 42 R 135,912 148,508
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REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HIEFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 23. EZ R EMENFIE (&)

Notes: Bt 5

(@) The credit period granted to the Group by suppliers and (@ HEIERIBIGTAZEENEER
subcontractors is 30 to 60 days. The following is an ageing A30E60H c LN ARBREHK &
analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date SEMNFIBERETE B B ERE DT

at the end of the reporting period:

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH& T FATT
0-30 days 0Z230H 7,708 49,551
31-60 days 31£60H 914 8,941
61-90 days 61290H 34,910 11,896
Over 90 days 90H A E 39,756 32,696
83,288 103,084
(b) As at 31 March 2025, the amounts due to directors were (b) H2025%F3H31H  ENESFEHEA
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. EIER 2R RAREREE -
24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24. BITRHEMERK
2025 2024
20254 20244
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Jokza F#& T THT
Bank loans — secured RITER—FERA (a) and (b)
(a) X (b) 110,344 120,437
Bank loans — unsecured RITER—EIKAE (a) and (c)
(a) X (c) 12,694 20,038
Bank overdrafts — secured RITESZ —HIEA (a) and (b)
(a) M. (b) 8,223 4,517
Loan from a related party — KBRS B R — &K (a) and (d)
unsecured (a) A2 (d) 2,980 4,500
Loan from the immediate REEEERARERK (a) and (e)
holding company (a) X (e) 760 —
135,001 149,492
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

24

Bank loans and

. RIT R B Ab 5K ()

overdrafts Other loans Total
RTERREX H & X #t
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
2025 20245 20255 20245 20255 20245
HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
T AT THER THT T AT
Carrying amount repayable based 2 & Z i Fréist 2l
on scheduled repayment dates 3 A HFt E /A
set out in loan agreements: EREHE:
- On demand or within one year — REX&—FR 127,678 136,577 3,740 3,900 131,418 140,477
- More than one year, but not - —ENEERER
exceeding two years 537 1,674 - 600 537 2,274
— More than two years, but not ~ — WEULERER
exceeding five years 1,71 4,820 - - 1,71 4,820
- More than five years - RFENE 1,335 1,921 - - 1,335 1,921
131,261 144,992 3,740 4,500 135,001 149,492
Less: Carrying amount of bank &l : IR RBBEET
and other borrowings REKEER
that are repayable on BERERER
demand or contain EFREBTR
a repayable on demand Hita R ERE
clause and shown
under current liabilities (131,261) (144,992) (3,740) (3,900) (135,001) (148,892)
Carrying amount under e B H A £ TR A
non-current other borrowings RHEE - - - 600 - 600

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's bank borrowings with
carrying amounts of HK$131,261,000 in aggregate have
become overdue and/or the Group has defaulted on the
repayment of borrowings of HK$124,514,000 on their
respective due dates. The Group is negotiating with banks
for the financial restructuring plan. Up to the date of the
consolidated financial statements, the negotiations were still
in progress.
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/131,261,000 JT Ky R 17 1& 5K E. 81 &f
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REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24. SR1T R H M5 5 (&)
(continued)
Notes: P&
2025 2024
20254 2024%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAT
(a) Variable-rate bank loans, bank overdrafts and (@) FEBETER ROIBIRESR
fixed-rate other borrowings comprise: HipfE R 4E
Secured bank loans (Note (b)) BHEARITER (FI5E(0))
- HK$ bank loans at Hong Kong Interbank — BEBRTAERFE
Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) plus 2.50% to 2.75% ([BBRITRERES])
(2024: HIBOR plus 2.50% to 2.75%) 12.50%%2.75%
per annum (20245 - HHBRITRZE
FENM2.50%E2.75%)
B E R R 5T BB T
RITEN 110,344 120,437
Unsecured bank loans (Note (c)) EWFRITER ()
— HK$ bank loans at HIBOR plus 2.75% — BEBRTRAEFEM2.75%
(2024: HIBOR plus 2.75%) per annum (2024%F - HHBRITRZE
HFEM2.75%) By & F K
FTERABTRITER 8,503 10,000
— HK$ bank loans at bank's lending prime rate - RIRTREBERFIE
(“Prime Rate”) less 2.25% (2024: Prime Rate ([REBERNX])RFH2.25%F
less 2.25% to 2.50%) per annum 2.50% (2024%F : BER
FI = %2.25%%22.50% )
FREFEHBITRITER 4,191 10,038
123,038 140,475
Secured bank overdrafts (Note (b)) BEMEBITES (K 3ED))
— HK$ bank overdrafts at Prime Rate less 1.15% to — RREEMNERH.15%E
1.25% (2024: Prime Rate less 1.25%) per annum 1.25% (20245 : EE
FEIF1.25% ) B F F| &
STERBTRITEX 8,223 4,517
Unsecured other borrowings (Note (d)) 48 R H 15 30 (BT RE(d)
— 0% to 0.229% per month (2024: 0.229% per — 0.229% M A 7 % (2024 :
month) 0.229%/) A #%) 2,980 4,500
Unsecured other borrowings (Note (e)) FEAR AR E 5 5% (P aE(e))
760 -
135,001 149,492

M2025%3H31H K2024%F3A31H » &8
RITRIERERHERFEHERIBITRE -

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the HIBOR and Prime Rate
are quoted by the respective lending banks.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)  As at 31 March 2025, the secured bank loans of approximately
HK$110,344,000 (2024: HK$120,437,000) and bank overdrafts
of approximately HK$8,223,000 (2024: HK$4,517,000) are
secured by the pledged bank balances of HK$35,287,000
(2024: HK$36,630,000), trade receivables of approximately
HK$5,048,000 (2024: HK$20,021,000), and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$10,147,000 (2024: HK$11,425,000) are guaranteed by
corporate guarantees of the Company and a PRC subsidiary.

In addition to the pledge of assets and guarantee disclosed
above, included in the secured bank loans are bank loans of
HK$102,629,000 (2024: HK$109,542,000) which are also
secured by properties held by a director of the Company and a
company controlled by a director of the Company and his close
family members (2024: secured by properties held by a director
of the Company and a company controlled by a director of the
Company and his close family members).

The secured bank loans carry effective interest rates ranging
from 6.31% to 7.43% (2024: 7.18% to 7.43%) per annum.
The bank overdrafts carry effective interest rates ranging from
4.25% to 4.60% (2024: from 4.75% to 4.98%) per annum.

(c) As at 31 March 2025, the unsecured bank loans are guaranteed
by HKMC Insurance Limited under SME Financing Guarantee
Scheme and personal guarantees given by Mr. Yu and Mr.
Chow, directors of the Company. The unsecured bank loans
carry effective interest rates ranging from 3.00% to 7.34%
(2024: 3.50% to 7.43%) per annum.

180 Polyfair Holdings Limited B2 £ AR A 7

24. R 17 R H 5 5K (8)

fifeE : ()

(b)

M202543A310 BEBRTE
F#9110,344,000% 7T (20244 :
120,437,000/ 70) RRITEZ L
8,223,000/ T (20244 : 4,517,000/
J0) LA B & 18R 17 45 $435,287,0007%
7T (20244 : 36,630,000/ 7T) * & 5
JE YT FR OB 495,048,00058 7T (20244 -
20,021,0007T) RIZ A FET ABm
K £ B & E #910,147,0007% 7T (2024
£ 11,425,000 70 ) EH 3 R AR R
Ak —EPEHBARRER AR E
RIEER -

BREXFBEBEONEELEREER
Sh - BEIFSERTERBERITE
102,629,000 7t (20244 :
109,542,000/ 7T) * IRAAR R B —%
EEREALRR—RESEREEBERE
il #) — FE R =) B Hs ) ZEAEHE R (2024
FPUARRR—BEERBHARA—
FEEREBBESN —BARME
Y AEIRHR) o

ERBRITEFTNEBRFENENT
6.31%%7.43% (2024F : N F7.18%
E7.43%) - IRITESZHERFF X
BN F4.25%E4.60% (20244 : M F
4.75%%4.98%) °

202543 A318  EEARITE R
HESRBRBR AR A RBREFR /N
EMERRABER TUARAE
EREERALEERENEAERE
BR - EBEFEITERNERF R X
N F3.00%%E7.34% (20244 : N F
3.50%%27.43%) °
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24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(d)

As at 31 March 2025, other borrowings of approximately
HK$2,980,000 (2024: HK$4,500,000) were borrowed from a
close family member of a director of the Company, and were
repayable within one year (2024: repayable within two years).

As at 31 March 2025, other borrowings of approximately
HK$760,000 were borrowed from the immediate holding
company, were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. As at 31 March 2025, the Group has available
unutilised bank loan facilities of approximately HK$10,656,000
(2024: unutilised overdraft and bank loan facilities of
approximately HK$3,483,000 and HK$563,000 respectively).

In respect of bank borrowings with carrying amount of
approximately HK$118,567,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$124,954,000), the Group is required to comply with the
covenants which are:

- assignment of all the sales proceeds from assigned
projects to the bankers;

- maintenance of total bank balances to the bankers of not
less than HK$35,200,000; and

- maintenance of aggregate amount of assets (excluding
the charged portion, if any) with the bank of not less
than HK$1,500,000 annually.

During the year, in respect of a bank loan with a carrying
amount of HK$106,820,000 as at 31 March 2025, the Group
breached the assignment of all the sales proceeds from
assigned projects to the bankers. On discovery of the breach,
the Directors commenced a renegotiation of the terms of the
loan with the relevant bankers. As at 31 March 2025, those
negotiations had not been concluded. Since the lenders have
not agreed to waive their right to demand immediate payment
as at the end of the reporting period, the loan has been
classified as current liabilities as at 31 March 2025. Up to the
date of approval for issuance of the consolidated financial
statements, the negotiations are still in progress.

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

24. BT R H 5 5K (8)

MiE : ()

(d) HM2025%3A31H - EfafERH
2,980,000/ 7T (20244 : 4,500,00078
L) REARA - BEENHRBEEL -
WA —FAEE (2024%F : KRMFA

B&) °

(e) M20259F3A31H & & fibt& K4
760,000 SLHEEIERARIEL © B
IR - R B RAREREE -

f) ANEBMEKBRITERIEABEZERE
B4 KR - MN202543H31H © &
SEAHARSARTERRELD
10,656,00076 7T (20244 : RENAHFE X
RIR1TEREE D 5I#3,483,000/ 7T &
#9563,000/8 7T) °

(90 SEMMMER2025F3A318 4
£118,567,000/% T (20244 :
124,954,000/ 7T) BV IRTTEE M = -
REEEETAT R -

-  BEERBNMEHEEMRSHEA
BETRT

- RARITAER A R35,200,000/8
TCRVERIT A ERARER - |2

- RIBTHESEELSBECIERE
BRELD WB) 2ETLR
1,500,000/ 7T °

RAFEERN - 5t —EM20256F3 31
B R M {8 /4106,820,00078 7t &9 48 17
BRms AEEERTEAMEE
IEEEEHEMBRIERETRT
MER EFSRHELBRE B
s EERRITHBE R GEREN S
1TRERS - R2025%3A31H » i
RIER - HRERAR RS HRDA
AERELBRIAFROEF -
ZERR2025F3A31B D EARH
BRE -HEGAVBHRREENE Y
B - EREEEIIEETH -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

25. LEASE LIABILITIES 25. HE&E
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TABIT
Within one year —FR - 1,539
Within a period of more than one year — H— & LA BB 1B ™M F A
but not exceeding two years HIF A - =
- 1,539
Less: Amount due for settlement within & : 1218 A A EIEAF B 455 8
12 months shown under current HE(RREEETTIR)
liabilities - (1,539)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 A& 2 HA
12 months W 7B #8 K kIR - -
The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities 20245 - BRANRBEBEEBHBRESE
recognised under HKFRS 16 was 5.19% per annum in 2024. A6 ERNEEEENIEEEET

RAEFFE519%
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REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. R
Number of
shares Amount
RGO E k-]
‘000 HK$'000
T FH T
Authorised: EE
As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024  72023%4H18 + 20243 H31H K
and 31 March 2025 at HK$0.01 202553 A31H &R EE0.01E T
each 5,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHE:
As at 1 April 2023 and M2023F4H18B &
31 March 2024 202493 H31H 800,000 8,000
Issue of new shares under placing R IKEL & 21751 (M aE@))
(note (a)) 48,744 487
As at 31 March 2025 202543 H31H 848,744 8,487

All issued shares rank pari passu in all respects including all
rights as to dividends, voting and return of capital.

Note:

On 7 October 2024, a total of 48,744,000 shares have been
successfully placed by the placing agent to not less than six
placees at the placing price of HK$0.041 per placing share
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the placing agreement
under the general mandate. The gross proceeds from the
Placing are approximately HK$1,998,000 and the net proceeds
from the Placing (after deducting the commission, professional
fees and other related costs and expenses incurred in the
Placing) are approximately HK$1,900,000.

On 7 October 2024, a total of 48,744,000 shares have been
successfully placed by the placing agent to not less than six
placees at the placing price of HK$0.041 per placing share
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the placing agreement
under the general mandate. The proceeds from the placing
are approximately HK$1,998,000. The Company will utilise
the net proceeds from the placing for general working capital
in the following manner, namely, (i) HK$1 million for bank
loan repayment and (ii) the remaining balance will be used
as the Company’s administrative expenses including staff
cost, professional fees, rental payments and other general
administrative and operating expenses.

ECBTRORABETE(EREAR
BE BRERMERNEREMAEN)
BB R FHAL

B &

(@) M2024F10A7H EEREBRE—
BEETHESHZIGEREES B
BMIhBEARLRANELERARLE S
48,744,000k iz fn - BREEE KM E
1% 50.04178 7T - BR&E BBEASRIER
EA#/1,998,00078 7T i it & EEFT 15
FHIEFRE (ENRAES HEEXEA
REESZHEES 2L tAEBKEARRHE
) #9/41,900,0007 7T °

M2024510R7H - B E R BRI —
BEETHESHZIGEREES B
BRINm AR ANBERREALES &
48,744,000k iz tn - BIREEE IR M E
BAROOMBIL -BEEMBRENE
1,998,000 7T ° AR B #HIE T 55 R
ERREMESREFRIERA—REE
B (NEBBTRAREERITER:
(NHREBRIEARRTHRAX - 81
BIRA ZXEA HekHM—
MITER R EERS -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

27. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 27. EEEHIBEEE
The component of the deferred tax assets recognised and the FRAEHBRELEHEEENAKE D &
movements thereon during the year are as follows: HEmT :

Impairment Accelerated
allowance depreciation

for ECL allowance Total
EHREE
R REE
BB METERE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT T FHT
At 1 April 2023 R2023F4H1H 666 104 770
Charge to profit or loss (Note 9) MR8z 1k (FF7E9) (82) (30) (112)
At 31 March 2024 and 2024538318 &k
1 April 2024 2024%4 818 584 74 658
Charge to profit or loss (Note 9) 825K (MF:E9) (584) (74) (658)
At 31 March 2025 7#202563H31H - - -
The Group has unused tax losses of HK$111,926,000 ANEEBAREATIIEEE111,926,000
(2024: HK$264,000) available for offsetting against future 77T (20244 : 264,000/ 7T) 7] R
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. HEE B BEEBHNARMRKERT &
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the F o BRI VE TR AL R R0 A 2ROR - #l
unused tax losses due to unpredictability of future profit ERADANBEEERERELCTIEE
streams. The tax loss of HK$2,516,000 will expire in 2025 to B o Fi T8 E5482,516,0007% JT #5 122025
2028. FZ2028F HEM °
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28. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group also monitors the current and expected liquidity
requirements regularly to ensure that sufficient working
capital and adequate committed lines of funding are
maintained to meet its liquidity requirements. The capital
structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes
borrowings as disclosed in Note 24, net of bank balances and
cash and equity of the Group, comprising issued share capital
and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure regularly taking
into account the cost of capital and the risk associated with
the capital. Based on the recommendations of the Directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
issuance of new shares. The Group's overall strategy remained
unchanged from prior year.

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

28. EXE e EHE

AEBEEHERN  SHEEBERKHE
RERELRETSE  BEIAEEER
ARERE  TRBRRGERADR -

AEBTEREZBNLERANRDE
EHEK UHEREFTENEEESLR
RENEAHETHE  WHRERD
BE2BK - ARENEARBREER
(@%WEMWT&&%E’JF FEERR
TSRS RAKERE (BRED %
ﬁﬂﬁﬂw&ﬁ%ﬁ)f’

EETHRANEARE  ERFEREN
RANEERBRANER - RIFEZZE
@ AEBEEBBITHRG  NFEE
%éﬁaézli A - NEE M BEERAEEE
FHER
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AN EHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 29. €T A
(a) Categories of Financial Instruments (a) =R T EER
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FABT
Financial assets at FVTPL: EAFETTABREN
SREE :

Life insurance policy ASRERE 10,147 11,425

Financial assets at amortised cost: REBERATENSRERE
Trade receivables =0 & e 6,385 84,630
Deposits and other receivables e N H b fE U G IE 1,398 11,978
Pledged bank balances BERIRIT 4 35,287 36,630
Bank balances and cash RITEHRRIRS 811 12,696
43,881 145,934

Financial liabilities at amortised cost: ZR#ERAAFENERES !
Trade and other payables B 5 KkEMEMNTKIE 135,912 148,508
Bank and other borrowings BRIT S E BB K 135,001 149,492
Lease liabilities HEaE - 1,539
270,913 299,539
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A B IS Rk M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

29. €@ T A ()
(b) BHEEREEBEBRREE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVTPL, trade receivables, pledged bank
balances, other receivables and deposits, bank balances
and cash, trade and other payables, lease liabilities and
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

AEEZTEZSRMTABEREA
FEFABENEREE ZEHK
WHkIE - EEMIRTTAER: - HAME
WHIERRE - |RITEREESE
B RN FRR R EMEMNFE -
ERERMER - ZFERTAZH
IBRERAM R - 2 FeRMT A
whzBBR(BEMZAR (8%
R EMERR) - EERRER
PETRR) KRERR 2 B R
T - EREEEEREREARE
B ARECRGERS M A RO IREVEE
i ©
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e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(i) Currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign
currency risk as most of its business transactions,
assets and liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the Group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The Group has financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of HK$10,147,000 (2024:
HK$11,425,000) which are denominated in US$.
As HK$ is pegged to US$, the Directors consider
that the currency risk of US$ is insignificant.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis for US$ is
presented.

The Group also has certain transactions
denominated in RMB, but the Directors consider
such exposure is not significant to the consolidated
financial statements and hence no sensitivity
analysis for RMB is presented.

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to its variable-rate bank balances
and borrowings as set out in Notes 21 and 24
respectively.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to its fixed-rate pledged bank
deposit, unsecured other borrowing and lease
liabilities.
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BEHERIINE AR -

REBHBZRAFEFFAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. €@ T A (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) HXEREEBEERBEK
and policies (continued) (&)
(ii) Interest rate risk (continued) (i) RE@(E)
The Group currently does not have an interest rate N6 B B A A A R O IK
hedging policy. However, the Directors monitor KoAM  EFERNER
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging R W EEETERZEY
significant interest rate risk should the need arise. BRI -
The Group's exposure to the risk of changes 7N £ [ B [ ¥ /9 T 35 B 22 &
in market interest rates relate primarily to the B 3 fx = 2 B R 5 [ )2 B
Group’s bank borrowings with floating interest MERITEEFH -
rates.
Total interest income from financial assets that are RBEXATENSREE
measured at amortised cost is as follows: R S A BRI T ¢
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TR
Other income R ON
Financial assets at amortised cost 1% # 5 AN 51 £ &Y
TREE 633 774
Interest expense on financial liabilities not WIEAFEFAERZN S
measured at FVTPL: BMEENAERXE
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
F& T FAT
Financial liabilities at REHEKATED
amortised cost TEBE 8,450 10,750
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity
to a reasonably possible change in interest rate
of 100 basis points, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s (loss) profits after tax
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

29. €@ T A (#)
(b) B EREEBEERBE

(#4&)
(i)

AR E k2 (5)

FREFEL 2B R
TRZERT  FEAET
B2 B 100E LR - ¥ KK
5 B 1k (B5HR) i F) (538
T BEROTE) 288

DT e

2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET

If interest rates decrease by 100 fied 1 2= T~ £ 1 00 fE £ B
basis points 1,312 1,211

If interest rates increase by 100 {18 ) == 3 Hn 10018 2 2
basis points (1,312) (1,211)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) 15 & & bz &R E 1

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’'s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, contract
assets, deposits and other receivables, bank
balances and cash and pledged bank balances.

The carrying amounts of financial assets at
amortised cost stated in this note represented
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
in relation to financial assets which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit risk
associated with its financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

29. €@ T A ()

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) IBREREEBEERBX
and policies (continued) (&)

(iii) 15 & &b R B 7T 1

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy
that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad
debts is not significant.

The Group’'s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is wholly in HK, which
accounted for 100% (2024: HK100%) of the
total trade receivables as at 31 March 2025.
The Group has concentration of credit risk on
trade receivables amounting to approximately
HK$4,847,000 (2024: HK$76,046,000),
representing approximately 76% of the trade
receivables (2024: 90%), due from a single
customer (2024: a single customer). As at
31 March 2025, trade receivables from the
three customers amounted to approximately
HK$6,385,000 (2024: five customers amounted to
HK$84,630,000) representing approximately 100%
(2024: 100%) of the total trade receivables. In
order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
The Group reviews the recoverable amount of
trade receivables and contract assets at the end
of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts.

(%)
ESRUFBERENEE

AEEEERIREEEN
F=ZNETRP - AKEK
R R P BIR 15 B G
TRZNEFHEBBER
BRERF U AEEE
SEE B RIRL S -
N5 A R SR AR R B 0
EX-

AEERMRESHNEER
&= R A - 1572025
F3A3MEHE HRWAIELR
BEH100% (2024%F : B %
100%) - A BERE FEWK
FRIE 414,847,000/ 7T (2024
£ 1 76,046,000/ 7T) (4915
B E —%F (20244 : B
—XF) B S EWKFKIATC%
(20244 : 90%)) HEREE
S E K - R2025F3 31
B EUW =1 (20245F : £
) BFESEWRFIELN A
6,385,000/ 7T (20244 :
84,630,000/8 7T) (Uh & 5 &
W FRIB4EEE100% (20244 :
100%)) - AR=REEE
B AEBEEEBZE—
TEEECEERE B
EHRREMEREFHE
B - DAHER BE R 3 38 Uk i B
B e AEERNREHARE
HESRBREREGNEE
WAl E &5 UWERET
AT B & BEAT IR T S0 0R (B /S

18-
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GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(continued)

In addition, the Group applies the simplified
approach on trade receivables and contract assets
to provide for ECL model, which permits the use
of the lifetime impairment allowance for trade
receivables and contract assets. In this regard, the
Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

In determining the ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets, the management of the Group has
taken into account the historical default experience
and the future prospect of the industries and/or
considering various external sources of actual and
forecast economic information, as appropriate, in
estimating the probability of default of each of
the trade receivables and contract assets occurring
within their respective loss assessment time
horizon, as well as the loss upon default in each
case.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's
rights to consideration for work completed but not
billed at the reporting date. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional. The contract assets have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the
trade receivables for the same types of contracts.
The Group has therefore concluded that the
ECL rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for the contract
assets. The contract assets are still performing and
the payments are not due. The expected loss rate
of contract assets is assessed to be the same as
trade receivables as neither past due nor impaired,
and is considered to be insignificant.
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GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

29. €@ T A ()

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) IBREREEBEERBX
and policies (continued) (&)

(iii) 15 & &b R B 7T 1

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Bank balances and cash/pledged bank
balances

Credit risk on bank balances and cash and pledged
bank balances is limited because the counterparties
are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The
Group assessed 12m ECL for bank balances and
cash and pledged bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and
loss given default of the respective credit rating
grades published by external credit rating agencies.
Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL
on bank balances and cash and pledged bank
balances is considered to be insignificant.

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables, the management
makes periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of deposits and other receivables
based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. For the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024, the management
believes that there are no significant increase in
credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition
and the Group provided impairment based on 12m
ECL.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
recognised the impairment loss of deposits and
other receivables of approximately HK$20,000
(2024: approximately HK$132,000).

(%)

RITHGBREEL BE
HRAT AT B

RITERLRBEESUARDER
RITHEBNEERRAR
ARRZEFHARBER
HFRRTT - WREBREEH
BETSEEFR - AKHE
DEHNEEFREBEHR L
MEEEFENEORERK
ERAEEEEER - FER
THEHBERA AR EE MR
THEHEN12EARBEES
BoREBEFHEREX  RT
BB RIRE AN EHIRT
EHRNNRERAEREEER
WRBILTEK -

Mz e REMEWZKIEM
T OEEERBEBAAER
B BAERR UREER
BTN TS K&E MRTIE
MER  EHRES REA
JIE U R I8 B m] 4R [B] 14 A
RIFHE o B £2025%F 22024
FIAZIBLEFE BEE
HEZESEA VS ERN
R EERNEERRIE M
mAEBEZI2EABHEE
B8 E R E B o

#H E2025F3A318H IE&F
B AEERRES REM
Jr& L SR IE R B B 15 4920,000
70 (20244F : #9132,000/%8
JT) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. €@ T A (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) HEEREEEFERBXE
and policies (continued) (#&)
(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment (iii) EERR KRBT
(continued) (4&)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment REBHRNIEERBRT R
comprises the following categories: S BREATER
Internal credit Description Trade receivables/ Other financial assets
rating contract assets
ABEEFR B g5EWRE/ HitemERE
BRNEE
Strong The counter-party is either a listed company or Lifetime ECL 12 months ECL
subsidiary under listed parent holding company with - not credit-impaired ("12m ECL")

strong financial background based on published
financial information publicly available in the market,
creditability and with debt balance past due within

0-1 year, and is aged within its historical settlement
pattern. The debtor has very low probability of default.

B RHEFAFR-FLETRARARERBEN—HLTER 2HRACEHR REARBEEER
BRuEwiERE - RigH E“Eﬂ?%ﬁ’ﬁ?fﬁﬁﬂ ¥ -YELREERE (MM2fEATEH
BESREE  FERY BEHERANTE—FA K EEEE])

BRITRBERERA - Fi‘*}\UﬂA“’\EiFﬁﬁf’

Good The counter-party is a private company with debt Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
balance past due within 0-1 year, and is aged within - not credit-impaired
its historical settlement pattern. The debtor has low
probability of default.
R#f XHHFR—BEUARG  BHERANTE—F PHEHEEHA REARBEEER
" EE%"??%E.?@&%ZTﬁi EHAEBORREMLE - —TERHREERE

(el

Satisfactory The counter-party is either a listed company or Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
subsidiary under listed parent holding company with - not credit-impaired - not credit-impaired
strong financial background based on published
financial information publicly available in the market,
creditability and with debt balance past due within 1-2
years. The debtor frequently repays after due dates and
the balance often aged beyond its historical settlement
pattern. The probability of default is moderate.

wE RHUFAGR-ALNARFRLBR-HLTE 2HRPEEER THEBEERR
RELARMMEAR - RED E‘"E‘-ﬂ%‘*%ﬁ’lﬁﬁ%é - YELREERE - YELREERE

o BBERER  FERY  BHEHEE-
FR - BEARERIHRARERN -/ E%EEW‘“
BBERERER - BOARIEN -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

BZE2025F3831HILEFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. €T H (&)
(b) BEEREEEERBEK

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories: (continued)

Internal credit Description
rating

(&)

(iii) 15 & &b R B 7T 1

(%)

AEBENABEERRFR
FHERENRTER : (&)

Trade receivables/
contract assets

Other financial assets

ABEETR  Hd EZEyTE/ HttEMEE
BNEE
Watch list The counter-party is either a private company with Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

debt balance past due more than 1 year or a listed
company or subsidiary under listed parent holding
company with strong financial background based on
published financial information publicly available in
the market, creditability and with debt balance past
due more than 2 years. The debtor frequently repays
after due dates and the balance often aged beyond
its historical settlement pattern. The probability of
default is concern.

BrzE RHHFR-BLARA  BHAESRBA—FAL -
g —fd E MR A REBN —H Em R E A R4
WEAR  RETSLARERNABEN  BBER
%E - EERI  BRESKBRDBEARTF - AHAL
FREBARES  ARRRECEHAAEAER
A o BHARM S ARE -

Loss The counter-party has debt balance past due for
more than 2 years and there is evidence indicating
the debtor is credit-impaired. The probability of
default is high.

BB REEFREBERBAREN L YEEBRERE
BACHREEHE - BOMTRMS -

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the counter-party
is in severe financial difficulty and the Group has
no realistic prospect of recovery.

fii s FREBBRRRZUTENRENR  A&EYEER
WEI SRR AT EE -

- not credit-impaired

2HRAEERR
~WEHRESRE

Lifetime ECL
— credit-impaired

cHRBEERR

—CHREERE

Amount is written off

THECHE
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AN EHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures
of the Group’'s financial assets and financial
guarantee contracts which are subject to ECL

29. €@ T A (#)

(b) BHEEREEBEFERER
(#4&)

(i) 5 & = b RRl B 5 14
(%)
TRANNEEAEETRY
FEBRFEZEREER
ERERAOMERNEER

assessment: [R Bz
External Internal 12-month or 2025 2024
Note creditrating  creditrating lifetime ECL 20255 2024%
N mE 12{8 A%k Gross carrying amount Gross carrying amount
Wi EEIR EEHR  2HEHEEEE FEEAR FHELE
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TEn AL AL
Financial assetsat ~ HEHAAHELN
amortised costs SREE
Trade receivables EHENGE 18 NA (Note2) Lifetime ECL (not
AER (H&2)  creditimpaired)
rHRNEERE
(TEEREE
) 6,386 84,888
Contract assets EHAE 19 NA (Note2)  Lifetime ECL (not
Sl (f32)  creditimpaired)
rHRBEEFE
(TENRES
W) 129,270 201,654
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
L HRBEEFE
(LREERE) 50494 179,764 - 20165
Other receivablesand ~ EfERFEREE 20 NA Lowrisk ~ 12mECL
deposit TR ERE  NEAEHEE
Bl 142 11,987
Bank balances Rk 21 BB+ to AA- N/A 12mECL
BB+ZEAL-  TER  NEABHEE
BB 36,098 49,291
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A B IS Rk M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. T B (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) HHKEREEEBFERBX
and policies (continued) (%)
(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment (iii) 15 & = bz & 8 8 7214

(continued) (4&)

Notes: B &

(1)  The credit quality of the financial assets is (1) MemEENGEEZEN
considered to be low risk when they are not past e HYEANET
due and there is no information indicating that the SRIEE B Y P HRIAKR
financial assets had a significant increase in credit EERREZEM - B
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit ZeRmEERBERER
quality of the financial assets is considered to be B2 BRI eMEENGE
doubtful. EEERR AT -

(2)  For trade receivables and contract assets, the (2) HESHEUWKREREHNE
Group has applied the simplified approach in EMs  A&EBEERS
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime 7 B 75 i & 22 Bl B8 95 R
ECL. WL AT ERERE

HrEBEEEENER
B -
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e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The tables below provides information about
the exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets which are assessed
individually based on internal credit rating within

29. €@ T A ()

(b) BEEREEEERBE
(48)

(iii) 15 & &b R E T

(%)

TRINKEZREKEARA
MEEEERRREMEE
EBENER  DRAEHRE
HEEBEREABEETR

lifetime ECL: 1B | R Bl 5T A
Gross carrying amount Impairment losses
RBEETR REAERERSS
Internal credit Average Trade  Contract Trade  Contract
rating loss rate  receivables assets Total receivables assets Total
EAEK E5EW
RBEEFR THERE BB RHEE @t BB ANEE At
% HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
THR TER THER THR THR THR
At 31 March 2025 742025%3A31R
Strong =) 0.16 5,048 47,386 52,434 - 36 36
Good RiF 0.08 1,338 6,415 1,753 1 5 6
Satisfactory ME 1.18 - 8,521 8,521 - 101 101
Watch list b 5.74 - 66,948 66,948 - 3,476 3,476
Loss BB 32.99 - 50,494 50,494 - 17,2817 17,2817
6,386 179,764 186,150 1 20,905 20,906
At 31 March 2024 1R2024%3A31A
Strong ) 0.92 84,466 165,068 249,534 255 2,042 2,297
Good R 252 422 15,386 15,808 3 395 398
Satisfactory ME 2.06 - 9,693 9,693 - 200 200
Watch list BizE 5.52 - 11,507 11,507 - 635 635
Loss BE N/A i R - - - - - -
84,888 201,654 286,542 258 3,272 3,530
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B IS Rk M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

29. R T B (@)
(b) BEEREEEERBE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued) (%)

(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment (iii) EERR KRBT
(continued) (4&)
Trade receivables and contract assets are written EBERBRERARRE
off when there is information indicating that the = B 7 TR 2 I A PR B AT

debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when
the trade receivables are over two years past due,
whichever occurs earlier.

There has been no change in the estimation
techniques or significant assumptions made
during the year in assessing the loss allowances
for the trade receivables and contract assets.
The individual assessment is regularly reviewed
by management of the Group to ensure relevant
information about the specific debtor is updated.

B (MEBABBRIEAN
WERRFF) - REEHEKR
HEMEBME ARFE
EERE) - RIMIHE 5 R
REREBHEE -

FA - HEEZEERER
BREEBRBENGT
AREBEARRLEEZS - KX
SHEEEEEREHEEN
- UERBBBEEHA
MREER BRMEM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The following tables show the movement in
lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade

29. €@ T A ()

(b) B EREEBEREE
(&)
(iii) 15 & &b R E T
(%)

TRINERBEHEENE S
FEMSRIRE fER K 2 HITR

receivables under simplified approach: FEBIEEE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
2HEHEEFE 2UEHGERR
(CELREERE) (HREEHME) @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TEL FHL
As at 1 April 2023 2023F4 418 128 2,647 2,775
Changes due to financial instruments E#2023%4 718
recognised as at 1 April 2023: EREBIAMEL
~ Transfer to lifetime ECL - BRE2HEAEE
(credit-impaired) BR(LREERE) (14) 14 -
- Impairment losses recognised - BAREER = 1,241 1,241
~ Reversal of impairment losses - REBEED (114) = (114)
New financial assets originated EERTEREE 258 - 258
Written-off 8 = (3902) (3,902)
As at 31 March 2024 12024534318 258 - 258
Changes due to financial instruments E#2024F4 718
recognised as at 1 April 2024: BASBIANEL
~ Reversal of impairment losses - REBEED (258) = (258)
New financial assets originated EENHEREE 1 5,558 5,559
Written-off ik - (5,558) (5,558)
At 31 March 2025 #2025%3A318 1 - 1
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REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables

29. €@l T A (&)
(b) BHEEREEBERREE

(&)
(iii) 15 & &b R B 7T 1

(%)

B 5 IR R R B R B

are mainly due to: BETERHN
For the year ended 31 March 2025 B ZE2025F3A31HLFE
(Decrease) Increase
increase in (decrease) in
Lifetime ECL (not Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
2HEHNCEFE 2UEHGERR
(H2)Em Bmiasd)
(EEEREERE) (HBEEEHE) EH)
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THEL TEL TET
New trade receivables B HENFE 1 5,558 5,559
Settlement in full of trade receivables ~ FE&EE 5 EWZE (258) - (258)
Written-off i 38 - (5.558) (5,558)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 B E2024F3A31BIEFE
(Decrease) Increase
increase in (decrease) in
Lifetime ECL (not Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
HEHCERE 2AESREERSE
(B)Em EMRD)
(TELREERE) (EREERE) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TEL FEL
Further impairment on trade receivables & % M FB R — & 5B - 1,241 1,241
Settlement in full of trade receivables ~ BE&FE 5 EYGE (114) = (114)
New trade receivables o8 SRENFE 258 - 258
Written-off f 34 - (3,902) (3,902)
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The following table shows the movement in
lifetime ECL that has been recognised for contract

29. €@ T A ()

(b) B EREEBEREE
(&)
(iii) 15 & &b R E T
(%)

TR B R & 7 LA 3 18 5
FENANEECHERNE

assets individually assessed under the simplified B EEEEE
approach:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
2HEHEEFE 2UROGERR
(CELREERE) (EREEHE) @3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL FEL
As at 1 April 2023 12023E4 418 1,256 - 1,256
Changes due to financial instruments E52023F4A1H
recognised as at 1 April 2023: BASBRIANEL
— Transfer to lifetime ECL - BB HBHEEER
(credit-impaired) (ERIEERAE) (8) 8 -
~ Impairment losses recognised - BAREER 1,509 524 2,033
~ Reversal of impairment losses - REFBEEMD (397) = (397)
New financial assets originated EENFESREE 912 - 912
Written-off i35 - (532) (532)
As at 31 March 2024 12024537318 372 - 372
Changes due to financial instruments E12024F4 718
recognised as at 1 April 2024 BREBIAMNEL
~ Transfer to lifetime ECL - BREHEAEESR
(credit-impaired) (HREERE) (779) 779 =
~ Impairment losses recognised - BAREESE 1,939 15,487 17,426
~ Reversal of impairment losses - REFRER (855) - (855)
New financial assets originated EENFESREE 41 1,021 1,062
At 31 March 2025 R2025€3A318 3,618 17,287 20,905

202 Polyfair Holdings Limited B 342 AR A 7




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. @ T A (8#|)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) HHKEREEEBFERBX
and policies (continued) (&)

(iii) 15 & &b R B 7T 1

(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued) (&)
Changes in the loss allowance for contract assets EHEEEBEERENESE
are mainly due to: EEHEN:
For the year ended 31 March 2025 B ZE2025F3A31HLFE
Increase (decrease) Increase (decrease)
in Lifetime ECL (not in Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
2HEHEE HEHEE
EREM D) EREM D)
(TELBEERE) (HREEHE) @t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER
Transfer to trade receivables ERERSRNTE (855) - (855)
Further impairment on contract assets & 414 EME—FR{E 1,939 15,487 17,426
New financial assets originated EENNEREE 41 1,021 1,062

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Increase (decrease)

B E2024F3A31HILFE

Increase (decrease)

in Lifetime ECL (not in Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total

2HRBEE PHBHEE

BEEM(RD) BEEMCED)
(TELREERE) (HREERE) @&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TEL FEL
Further impairment on contract assets A X1&ERE—FhfE 1,509 524 2,033
Transfer to trade receivables BREEEHRNFE (397) = (397)
New financial assets originated EENNEREE 912 - 912
Written-off i 38 - (532) (532)
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e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

29. R T A (@)
(b) BEEREEEERBE

204 rolyfair Holdings Limited B34 A R A 7

and policies (continued) (#&)
(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment (iii) EERR KRBT
(continued) (&)
The following table shows the movement in 12m NRES B IRE R E A EW
ECL that has been recognised for deposits and FRIECFERN121E BB E
other receivables: BEEBiEES :
12m ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
NERENEERE 2HEHGEFA
(TEEREERE) (LREERE) @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT THT THT
As at 1 April 2023 20234418 3 - 3
Changes due to financial instruments ~ E#X2023%4A1H
recognised as at 1 April 2023: ERLBIANEL
- Impairment losses recognised - BRARESE 1 126 127
New financial assets originated EENNEREE 5 - 5
Written-off i34 - (126) (126)
As at 31 March 2024 M2024%3R318 9 - 9
Changes due to financial instruments B 5202454718
recognised as at 1 April 2024: BALBIANE®L
~ Reversal of impairment losses - REEEER (8) = (8)
New financial assets originated EENEREE 28 - 28
At 31 March 2025 R2025%38318 29 - 29




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

(iii) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for deposits and

other receivables are mainly due to:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

29. €@l T A (&)

(b) gﬁﬁﬁ"éﬁ BEEREXE
S

(iii) 15 & &b R B 7T 1
(%)

12 & No B b U R IR S 4R 1
BOEHTEEAR

B E2025F3A31HILFE

Increase
(decrease) in
12m ECL

(not
credit-impaired)
2HENEE
B8 1% in Opi 2>)
(HBREFEERE)
HK$°000

FERT

New financial assets originated
Settlement in full of deposits and
other receivables

For the year ended 31 March 2024

EENHEREE 28
BB EE M EMEKFR
(8)

B ZE2024%3A31HILFE

Increase
(decrease) in
12m ECL
(credit-impaired)
ZHFEEEE
5183 o0 CRl 2)
(HIREERE)
HK$'000

FHTT

Further impairment on deposits and
other receivables
Written-off

Be M H A EACRIR R E — RE
126

1 35 (126)
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e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(iv) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policies are to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements, and to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and available banking facilities to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. Specifically, borrowings with
a repayable on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability
of the banks choosing to exercise their rights.
The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The maturity analysis, based on
undiscounted cash flow, of the Group’s financial
liabilities is as follows:
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29. €@ T A ()
(b) B EREEBEREE

(&)

(iv)

RBESER

AEENBRRAERERR
ERBEHMRSHESHFFR A
BAASEEFEHNRS
K ] B A ERTT B B feé 1 DA 8
NEREPNRBESHFLK -

TR AEESHAEH
ReraWEHMBE - ZRDIR
IEAREE A BRI BRI
RERHY RERABNR
FRBERERE - LM
5 MHEAREREEGRK
WiER - TwmRITERETR
HEMM AR - 95t AR
ERR-AMFETESRA
& 2 8 A LAt E B8 B 8
RER -AEESBRARE
RAFBRBSRENZHA
DT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B IS Rk M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. @ T B (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) HEEREEEBERBRE
and policies (continued) (&)
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued) (iv) "BESR (&)
On
demand or Total
less than Between Between undiscounted Carrying
Interest rate Tyear 1to2years 2and5 years cashflow amount
BRERY, AR

iz 1EREE 126 25% ReREAR Raf
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
TE TR T TR TR

At 31 March 2025 R2025%3A31H
Trade and other payables BARA RN N/A RE 135,912 - - 135,912 135,912
Bank and other borrowings BT REMER 0% to
1.43%
0%Z7.43% 137,592 - - 137,592 135,001
273,504 - - 273,504 270,913
On
demand or Total
less than Between Between  undiscounted Carrying
Interest rate Tyear  Tto2years 2and>5 years cashflow amount
BER i
flx  1EREE 128 -5 RERELE AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx TR TEL iR iR
At 31 March 2024 R202443A318
Trade and other payables BARH N NA 148,508 - - 148,508 148,508
Lease liabiities HERE 5.19% 1,581 - - 1,581 1,539
Bank and other borrowings BT REMER 2.75% to
7.43%
275%%7.43% 151,610 603 = 152,213 149,492
301,699 603 - 302,302 299,539
The amounts included above for variable interest il ) Bl ) 2 5 B B p0 ¥R 5 A
rate instruments are subject to change if changes RETE 2 FIEEFAE - Al
in variable interest rate differ from those estimates EaFrE 2 ZE T ARSI
of interest rates determined at the end of the = HESE) o

reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The following disclosures of fair
value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that
categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Group can access
at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market
observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the management would
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the valuation model or to engage third party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
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29. @ T & (&)
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F—R@A AEERFERA

B ESHNHAREEX
BERERMSH
HECREHAE) -

F_RBA FRARARE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B IS Rk M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. €@ I B (&)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial (c) EMIANAFEETE
instruments (continued) (%)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets REEEEULNTFETEZ
that are measured at fair value on a rEBeREEZATYE
recurring basis
The Group's financial assets are measured at fair value AEENERMEERNSREHR
at the end of each reporting period. The following BEAFERE o TREIFBImE
table gives information about how the fair values of ErZEemEEATENER
these financial assets are determined (in particular, the (%5 Bl = P EE A8 09 (4 B B 1l Kol A
valuation technique and inputs used). ) o

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2025
R2025F3A31HHNAFEER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& FZR E=H Bt
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TERT THET TERT TET

Financial assets BRAFEFTABREN
at FVTPL CREE
Life insurance policy AEREBRE - - 10,147 10,147
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2024
F2024F3A31AMAFESH
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EF—H E-; F= w@Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FAT T T FHT
Financial assets BAFEFABEN
at FVTPL tHMEE
Life insurance policy AEREBIRE - - 11,425 11,425
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e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis (continued)

The Directors are responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for
financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value
measurements.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group initiated
the surrender process for all of its life insurance policies.
As a result, the valuation technique for these policies
was changed from a discounted cash flow (“DCF")
model to a surrender value basis as of the reporting
date.

The carrying value of the policies as at 31 March 2025
has been adjusted to reflect their surrender value, which
represents the realisable amount payable by the insurer
upon termination in accordance with the policy terms.
The surrender process was subsequently completed in
May 2025.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
engaged external valuation experts with the recognised
professional qualifications and recent experience to
perform the valuations.
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REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HIEFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. €@ T H ()
(c) Fair value measurements of financial () ERMTEANAFEE
instruments (continued) (#&)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets REEEEULNTFETEZ
that are measured at fair value on a AEEEMEEZLATE
recurring basis (continued) (%)

The valuation techniques and key unobservable inputs
used in fair value measurements are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2025:

RAFEMGESERZGBERM
REZAABRGAZBBENT

H 220253 A31HILEE :

Description Valuation techniques Unobservable Fair value
inputs
it fh{E & fir AU BEEARE DFE
HK$'000
THERT
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss:
BEAVFEFABGZEREE
- Life insurance policies under Based on credit rating, ages of  Surrender value 8,209
category A life insured persons and (note ii)
discount rate (note i)
-REASRBRE ERGEATR ZRAFREK RREE (FHaEii)

BE 3R R (M i)

- Life insurance policy under Based on credit rating, ages of
category B life insured persons and
discount rate (note i)
-~ CEAERBRE ERERATR  BRAFREK

BE 3R & (M aEi)
Notes:

(i) The surrender value of the life insurance policies are
provided by the insurance companies.

(i) At 31 March 2025, if the surrender value was 5% higher/
lower while all other variables were held contract, the
carrying amount of the life insurance policy at FVTPL
would increase/decrease by HK$507,000.

Surrender value 1,938
(note ii)

EREE (i)

GEE

(i) BREREENRFREERRBAF]

Bl o

(i)  M2025%3A31H @ MERRE
BELEHTH5% mATH EA4
BYERTE AR TETA
BENERRBREMERLMN
et 4>507,0007 7T ©
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 29. €@ I A (&)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial (c) EMI AN LA FEFE
instruments (continued) (&)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets REEEEUANFEFTEZ
that are measured at fair value on a rEEERMEEZAFE
recurring basis (continued) (%)
For the year ended 31 March 2024: EHZE2024F3A31BIEFE :
Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for
Description techniques inputs Range increase of inputs Fair value
FAEE BABBEM
it R AABE g8 HATENYE RYE
HK$'000
THT
Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss:
BATEFARRNEREE
- Life insurance policy under Discounted cash ~ Mortality rates 0.72% -100%  Increase in fair value of 8,736
category A flow A life insurance policy
-REASRRRE TREER ANERBRREATESL
m
Discount rates 2.14%-527%  Decrease in fair value of
FRE life insurance policy
AERBRREATLENR
2
- Life insurance policy under Discounted cash ~ Mortality rates 1.08% - 100% Increase in fair value of 2,689
category B flow AR life insurance policy
-LBEASRBRE THREER ABRBREATES
m
Discount rates 2.46% - 5.24%  Decrease in fair value of
FRE life insurance policy
ABRBRREATENR
9\
There were no transfer between levels of fair value RAFERBTFE  S2FEE
hierarchy in the current and prior years. Mo B mEE -
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis (continued)

At 31 March 2024, if mortality rate for life insurance
policy under category A was 5% higher/lower while all
other variables were held constant, the carrying amount
of life insurance policies at FVTPL would increase/
decrease by HK$55,000/HK$55,000.

At 31 March 2024, if mortality rate for life insurance
policy under category B was 5% higher/lower while all
other variables were held constant, the carrying amount
of life insurance policies at FVTPL would decrease/
increase by HK$31,000/HK$31,000.

At 31 March 2024, if discount rate for life insurance
policy under category A was 5% higher/lower while all
other variables were held constant, the carrying amount
of life insurance policies at FVTPL would decrease/
increase by HK$242,000/242,000.

At 31 March 2024, if discount rate for life insurance
policy under category B was 5% higher/lower while all
other variables were held constant, the carrying amount
of life insurance policies at FVTPL would decrease/
increase by HK$78,000/78,000.

RAEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

29. @ T A ()
() EMIANAFHEE

(&)

BEEEENQAFVEFEZ
AEEETMEEZNAFE
(%)

20243 A318 - 4B EASE
REBRERT RE N, HA5%
MATEEMERERFTE - IR
AFEFABRZZ ASHERER
% AR B #5 1 hn R 455,000/%5
7t,/'55,0005 7T °

M2024%3 8318 - HZ B AE
REBRET RE N, HA5%
MATEEMERERFTE - BlIR
AFEFABRZZ ASHERR
% AR [ B 15 % 215 HN31,0005%8
7T,/ 31,000/ 7T °

R202453A318  MBAEASE
RIBREREIR TN, WA 5% -
ﬁ%ﬁﬁ@“@%%?m’J&
RFEFABRBZASHRRAEE
AR B B A 8L 8 11242,0007%
7T,/ 242,000 7T °

MR2024%3 8318 B AS
RERREBRIREE I, HA5%
MATAEE MBS ERFTE Ak
AFEFABRZZASRRER
IR (A 1508 418 078,000
7T,/ 78,0005 7T
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

Reconciliation of assets measured at fair
value based on level 3:

29. @ T & (&)
() EMIANAFEE

(&)

BREE=REQIFETEN
EEHK:

Payments for life
insurance policies

ASREBREMNSR
HK$'000
T3

Description 3 it
At 1 April 2023 M2023F4H1H 12,321
Fair value changes NEEES) (896)
At 31 March 2024 M2024%F3A31H 11,425
Fair value changes NEEEH) (1,278)
At 31 March 2025 7A2025%43H31H 10,147

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
recognised fair value losses on financial assets at FVTPL
of approximately HK$1,278,000 (2024: HK$896,000).

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at the
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximated their fair value.

30. RESERVES
(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B IS Rk M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

30. RESERVES (continued) 30. f# 4 (4&)
(b) Company (b) &= F
Share Other Capital  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
R a8 Hivfife RAGRE ZiER -
(Note)
(FizE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL THL THL THL THIL
At 1 April 2023 1202354718 37,915 3,000 35,536 (26,603) 49,843
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREBER
expense for the year EARYGE - - - (2,393) (2,393)
At 31 March 2024 and #2024453A318 &
1 April 2024 202454718 37,915 3,000 35,536 (28,996) 47,455
Loss and total comprehensive FREER
expense for the year 2ERY AR - - - (71,598) (71,598)
Issue of new shares under RERERTHRN
placing 1,413 - - - 1,413
At 31 March 2025 #2025%3A31H 39,328 3,000 35,536 (100,594) (22,730)
Note: Bt 5 -
Capital reserve represented the difference between the BRAFEEEERBNR2018F£EE
carrying amount of the equity of Polyfair HK prior to a group HATHRAREEHEEEEBIRESE
reorganisation in 2018 and the issued share capital of Polyfair EEMEDBEITRAZHEMNZER -

HK pursuant to the group reorganisation.

31. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 31. EEE#
As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s bank deposits with M2025%F3A31H - A& B E #H K
carrying amounts of approximately HK$35,287,000 (2024: T 1B # /35,287,000 7T (20244 :
HK$36,630,000), trade receivables with total amount of 36,630,000/ 7T) BV RITE K - B HJE
approximately HK$5,048,000 (2024; HK$20,021,000) IR 3K TE 42 58 49 45,048,0007% 7T (2024
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of % :20,021,000% 7T) R~ FEF
approximately HK$10,147,000 (2024: HK$11,425,000) were AE %K & @& E 410,147,000 7T
pledged to secure certain letters of guarantee facility and (20244 : 11,425,000/ L) * AfEAA
banking facilities respectively, granted to the Group. SERGETRERRE KRG RBITHE
BHELR o
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mEnBHRERME

For the year ended 31 March 2025

BE2025F3A31HLEE

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. BBE AR B
Saved as disclosed in elsewhere of the consolidated financial bréza
statements, the Group entered into the following material 7N £ B A 47 1A B A B
balances and transactions with related parties during the year: BERS

(a) Key management compensation

Details of the compensation of
personnel of the Group, who are the

key management
executive directors,

are disclosed in Note 11 to the consolidated financial

statements.

(b) Material transaction with other related

Mg mREME Y AHEEI -

VANV N

(a) EEEEE %M

AEBTEEREAE (AMTE

F)MFMFEBR

AEITRRE -

NN p R e

(b) HEMBEABINEARS

party
Name of related party Nature of transaction Relationship 2025 2024
HES &8 REME 1R 20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Chow Pok Yin Interest expense Related party
Stephenson (Note)
Chow Pok Yin F B> B2l
Stephenson (B 5E) 38 218
Note: M &

The related party is a close family member of a director of the

Company.

(c) Material balances with other related

B RARBERNAR -

() BREABEARES WE XE&ER

party
Name of related party 2025 2024
S A8 20254 20244
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt it FHET FAT
Loan from an immediate holding KRB BE&ZIZER AR Z
company B
— C.N.Y. Holdings Limited — XBEREBR
2~ A] (i) 760 -
Loan from a related party R B B 5 B %
— Chow Pok Yin Stephenson — Chow Pok Yin
Stephenson (ii) 2,980 4,500
Amounts due to directors FETE = HKIE
~ Mr. Chow - BA%4&E (iif) 2,259 12,986
~Mr. Yu — REHE (iif) 1,208 858
3,467 13,844
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(c) Material balances with other related
party (continued)

Notes:

(i) The loan from the immediate holding company was
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i) The loan from the related party was unsecured, interest
being from 0% to 0.229% per month and repayable
within one year (2024: interest bearing at 0.229% per
month and repayable within two years).

(i)  The amount due to the directors were unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

33. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for
all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. Under the scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs
to the scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees employed by the PRC subsidiary are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiary is
required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll
to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligations of the PRC subsidiary with respect to
the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$1,790,000
(2024: HK$2,792,000) represents contributions paid or
payable to the above schemes by the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025. As at 31 March 2025, contribution
of HK$318,000 (2024: HK$401,000) due in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2025 had not been paid over to the
scheme. The amounts were paid subsequent to the end of the
reporting period.

32.

33.

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

BB S X5 (#)

(c) EEEfHREAMS NERGER
(&)

GEX

(i) REERZERARZERREE
A 2ERAREREE -

(i) BBAIERAEEE -ZAF
L0%ZE0.229% B R AR —
FEREE (20245F : B A A X
0.229%5T B RZERME A E
) o

(i) BENEFZHEREER 28

R K18 A
ERE TS

AEERBEEMBAERERRILAH
HERELEE - RIBEZATE - BERE
B&BAREHFK  ARAEFEER
EEBBBANS%  BABHKAN
FMR 730,000 7T © %At EIHEERAK
SEEESHAFE  YAESTEAHE
AAEBE AEEEEBBLEBREH
TEKAHIS% AL AT & F R -

hEIM B AR IS E R R B AT BB
REMBIREERKBREEIHKE -
TEMBARAREIENE —BASL
) AR PR AR A AT BIVE R AR - RE A B
A& - PEIKB A RA BRKERE S
MM —RERREE M EFL R EN

K

BB A B A1,790,000/ 7T
(20244 : 2,792,000/ 7T) BAEEEH
F2025F3H31HIEFE A Lz EIE
s E ST B i 3k - 720253 H318 -
H E2025F3A31H L FEEMHK
318,000/ JT (20244 : 401,000/ JT)
MRS FxarE c ZERBERTRS
BRI ©
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

33. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

(continued)

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57)

For the Group’s subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong,
pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the
Group has the obligation to pay LSP to qualifying employees
in Hong Kong under certain circumstances (e.g. dismissal by
employers or upon retirement), subject to a minimum of 5
years employment period, based on the following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment) x 2/3
x Years of service

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while
the amount of long service payment shall not exceed
HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for as a
postemployment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise
the Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any
positive/negative returns thereof, for the purpose of offsetting
LSP payable to an employee.

The Amendment Ordinance was gazetted on 17 June 2022,
which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from
employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP.
The Abolition will officially take effect on the Transition Date
(i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the Government of the HKSAR
is also expected to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist
employers for a period of 25 years after the Transition Date
on the LSP payable by employers up to a certain amount per
employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory
MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns,
after the Transition Date can continue to be applied to
offset the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but are not
eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation.
Furthermore, the LSP obligation before the Transition Date
will be grandfathered and calculated based on the Last
monthly wages immediately preceding the Transition Date
and the years of service up to that date. The Amendment
Ordinance has impact on the Group’s LSP liability with respect
to employees that participate in MPF Scheme and the Group
has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and its abolition
as disclosed in Note 2.
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33. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
(continued)

LSP obligation

Movements in the present value of unfunded LSP obligation in
the current year were as follows:

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

33. R KB F 8 (#)

RUBRZEEE

NREERMARYPRES S THIREE
B :

2025 2024

2025 20244

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET T

Opening unfunded obligation FUREREE 532 =

Current service cost BIVER Al 75 A 2R - 517

Interest cost BB & - 15
Reversal of provision for long service ol & HA AR 7% & B 4

payment (395) -

Return on offsetable MPF contribution RE AT IHRTE® (137) =

Closing unfunded obligation FRRMAERE - 532

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31 March
2024 is 6 years.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, all employees
eligible for long service payments resigned from the Group.
Of these, two employees voluntarily forfeited their LSP
entitlements totaling HK$395,000, while the remaining
balance of HK$137,000 was settled through offsetting against
Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF) contributions.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the current
service cost and the net interest expense are included in
the employee benefits expenses in profit or loss. Of the
expenses for the year ended 31 March 2024, approximately
HK$517,000 has been included in administrative expenses.

Significant actuarial assumption for the determination of the
LSP obligation are discount rate of 3.47% and 4.14% for
employees aged over 65 and under 65 respectively, expected
salary increase of 3.00% and expected investment return on
MPF accrued benefits of 2.50%.

The Group’s LSP obligation is not sensitive to these actuarial
assumptions, thus a sensitivity analysis is not presented.

R2024F3 A31BEAEEZ FHHER
B6LE o

B E2025F3831MHIEFE  FTERA
BERERNRARBSNEEHEBASE
EEE - EFMEAEEBRERELRS
AR75 4 #£25395,000/8 7T * #2%E137,000
BT EEBEG T EATES CafES)
KEEEE N EE -

HE2024F3A31H ILFE - BNHIRTE
BRARFFNERIEFABRRZTHE
TEAER - & ZE2024F3A8318 IE4
& B XA 49517,0005 7t B 5t A 1T
FX o

ETRHRESETHNEERERR
% 658 A £ K655 A NE B Ry HTIR X
DR E3.47%KA414% ~ T8 2R L 5 R A
3.00% ' A RsaiEe 2 F TR AR
& Bl A2.50% °

AEBNRARKEETHESHEER
R AR - B 2 I GRRAE DAT
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e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 34. BRHESTE
In order to provide incentives or rewards to participants of the REERESENZEHE (BEARQT
share option scheme including the directors of the Company MNEERAEENSGEBER) BT
and eligible employees of the Group, the shareholders of the Bk EEE) - N A RIREAARRAFR2018
Company passed an ordinary resolution at the annual general FIHABRTHNRRBAFAS LRB
meeting of the Company held on 25 January 2018 to approve —IHET@RER  HERRN—EERE
the adoption of a share option scheme (the “Share Option sTEl ([FEAHEET 1)) - BR2018F 1A
Scheme”). No share options were granted under the Share 25 B ERANBE IR M ST B DAZR - B IRIRAE
Option Scheme since its adoption on 25 January 2018. A e 5t Bl R M AE fr] B AR A ©
The major terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarised BRRET BN EZHRFTBA N T
as follows:
(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme () BRESENBE/
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide BREZNENRRAAEREE
an incentive or a reward to participants for their HEREZ2EELS T B R -

contribution to the Group.

(b) Eligibility (b) EERM
Eligible participants include employees (whether full EERSEERERE (BER2H
time or part time employees, including non-executive LEBES  BEIRTES) R
directors) and such other eligible participants. EAEMEERDEE o

(c) Maximum number of shares (c) ROWESEHE
Maximum number of shares in respect of which options 1R B A i ot B Ne N & [ (R {r] HoAth
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any B8 IR #E 5T 81 AT RE 3% T AY BB AR R P
other share option schemes of the Group must not, in BROBRMDNESEE & H£TE
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of shares in HEB T EBITIRN BB HI30% °

issue from time to time.

Total number of shares in respect of which options may RIS BT 8 R M
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any H b B AR M 5T 8 F] e IR MO R AR
other share option schemes of the Group shall not in BRF RGO EEHTEEAM
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares HEEREST S LR BB EITR
in issue as at the date of approval of the Share Option MBEEI0% ' BRIEAE BER
Scheme limit, unless the Group obtains the approval of NAIRERBREREG EREER
the shareholders of the Company in general meeting BT EI R B PR EE o

for renewing the scheme mandate limit under the Share
Option Scheme.

(d) Period of the Share Option Scheme (d) BRREFTEIMHEIFR
Subject to any prior termination by the Company in a BRIERARRIBRREASKREEZS T
general meeting or by the board of directors, the Share ARAIAR L - BRI SRR
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period AR T 218 B R EH10F 5
of 10 years commencing on the date of adoption of the NBRRER

Share Option Scheme.
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(e) Maximum entitlement of each
participant

No share option shall be granted to any participant if
any further grant of options would result in the shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share
options granted and to be granted to such person
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period up to and including such further
grant exceeding 1% of the total number of shares in
issue, unless:

(1)

such further grant has been duly approved, in the
manner prescribed by the relevant provisions of
Chapter 23 of the Listing Rules, by resolution of
the shareholders in general meeting at which the
participant and his associates shall abstain from
voting;

a circular regarding the further grant has been
despatched to the shareholders in a manner
complying with, and containing the information
specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 23
of the Listing Rules (including the identity of the
participant, the number and terms of the share
options to be granted and options previously
granted to such participant); and

the number and terms (including the subscription
price) of such share option are fixed before the
general meeting of the Company at which the
same are approved.

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

34. B RESTE (&])
(e) BSHENRSIREE

A ER2EEE - FREHBER
BEEYNEERE BH (BEZ
B) EER2EAREEERT &
KR TR2EENBRE(BRED
T R i AR 7150 1O 8 B ) JE AT fiE
mETRETERITHRNERD
BTN A% - BT & Mm%
SEERBERE - BRIE -

(1) ARE-—ZFREHERGEML
MRAE -+ =FARIKX
PR E R T AR RN IR
REEURBREIEAME -
M2 EEREBEARAR
CLEMERRE

2) KEXRGEM LM B FE
Tt =EBHAKXREDN
FARBRRTE—HEBE
—PEENBE  2FREHE
GEMEMHBE-_+=FF
BIEXFATHER (B
2EENHH - BRTFZZ
HENBREREIERT
Z2EENBRENEE K
B &

(3) ZEBHREMBEB RER
(BHEREE) R EZAR
HEOARRBRRAESRIETE °
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Payment on acceptance of the share
option

HK$1 is payable by the grantee to the Company on
acceptance of the share option offer. The share option
offer will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21
days from the date on which the offer is granted.

Subscription price for shares

The subscription price of a share in respect of any
particular option granted under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the board of
directors at least the higher of:

(1) the closing price of the shares;

(2) the average closing price of the shares for the five
consecutive business days immediately preceding
the offer date; and

(3) the nominal value of a share on the offer date.

The remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme

Approximately 2 years and 10 months (expiring on 24
January 2028).
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35. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities:

35.

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

MEERBMELEEENHEK

TRFAAEEREEIFELREL
25 ERASLIRSED - BEE
BFELABREESRIHERNAEELR
BRERERTIRRBETHAES
ZREREAARARRAEREZAR -

Bank Other Lease Financial
borrowings  borrowings liabilities payable Total
RITER Hit g HESE EAHBEHRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL FAT TAT FHET FET
At 1 April 2023 20234 A1H 155,535 8,900 3,011 - 167,446
Change from cash flows: Hengs

Proceeds from borrowings ERAEHE 359,414 = = = 359,414

Repayment of leases BEMAE = = (1,472) = (1,472)

Repayment of borrowings BEER (374,474) (4,400) - = (378,874)

Interest paid BRFS - - (109) (10,379) (10,488)

(15,060) (4,400) (1,581) (10,379) (31,420)
Non-cash changes: kR EH:

Interest expenses FISAX - - 109 10,379 10,488
At 31 March 2024 2024%3A31H 140,475 4,500 1,539 - 146,514
Change from cash flows: Hengs

Proceeds from borrowings ERAEHE 246,279 760 - = 247,039

Repayment of leases BEMAE = = (1,539) = (1,539)

Repayment of borrowings BERER (263,716) (1,520) = = (265,236)

Interest paid BRFE - - (42) (7,988) (8,030)

(17,437) (760) (1,581) (7,988) (27,766)
Non-cash changes: *HeE

Interest expenses FERZ - = 4 7,988 8,030

At 31 March 2025 202538310 123,038 3,740 - - 126,778
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e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36. A B BY B # AR R &
THE COMPANY
2025 2024
2025 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR MIEE - 68,058
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other ERRIE - ZE Rk
receivables H b jE W R IE 192 192
Amount due from a subsidiary FE Uz — I BT /B A R SRIE - 60
Bank balances and cash RITHERNIE S *. 157
192 409
Current liabilities RBAE
Amount due to a subsidiary FE AT — BT B R R FRIE 13,084 12,460
Other payables H b e 5RIR 1,351 552
14,435 13,012
Net current liabilities REBEFEH (14,243) (12,603)
Net (liabilities) assets (BB EESFE (14,243) 55,455
Capital and reserves EAXRREE
Share capital LN 8,487 8,000
(Deficit) Reserves (&) & & (22,730) 47,455
(Net deficit) Total equity (BARE) ERARE (14,243) 55,455
*  Amount less than HK$1,000. * SEAL,0008 7T
The Company’s statement of financial position was approved RAR R NEKE HEFSR2025F
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 10A31 BHL/AE RERIEE - SR T5IE
October 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: FEREREE
Wong Wai Man Yu Lap On Stephen
BHEX RUE
Director Director
EFE EFE
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REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 37. X AFMEB R RFE
COMPANY
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the RARIRIwEHREZRBEZERFE M
Company at the end of the reporting period are set out BARR BN
below:
Place of
incorporation  Issued share
and capital/
placcof  registered Proportion of nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of Principal
Name operation capital issuied share capital held by the Company issued share capital held by the Company activities
A
BER BRAR AL ERLAfH
. Pk TRERHE  4RRx BRARAEENLA BRRAEENLA TEEE
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly Total
Bk B Bk Bk 3t
2025 204 205 204 2025 204 2025 204

W5 2004 W5 004 W5 004 W05 W004%

Direct subsidiary

ERHRAA

Polyfair Group Limited BYI US$1 100% 100% - - 100% 100% - - Investment
holding

FLEERRLT AERAES 157 100% 100% - - 100% 100% - - REER

Jumbo Rock International BVI US$1 100% N/A - NA 100% NA NA Investment

Limited*** holding

AERAES 1£7 100% T - N1 100% T TR REER

Indirect subsidiaries

BENEAR

Polyfair HK Hong Kong ~HK93,000,000 - - 100% 100% - - 100% 100% Project
management
services for
facade and
installation of
curtain wall
systems and
investment
holding

BUER B 30000007 - - 100% 100% - - 100% 100% AMERRER
RBREE
ZOZENR

Shenzhen Polyfair People's  HK$1,000,000 - - 100% 100% - - 100% 100% Design of

Curtainwall Technology ~ Republic of facade

Company Limited* China ('PRC") systems

MIBERENR  PEARLAE 10000087 - - 100% 100% 100% - 100% 100% SMERGRE

BRAT (m))

Faithful Galaxy Investment BYI Us§100 - NIA 100% NIA - NIA 100% A Investment

Limited*** holding

RERAEE  10%T - ZN i 100% il - it 100% TR REER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HLFE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 37. A AR B A EIFE (&)
COMPANY (continued)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the RNR AR IS BRE B K M5 15 A H Bt
Company at the end of the reporting period are set out BRARKFEEINET : (&)

below: (continued)

Place of
incorporation Issued share
and capital/
placeof registered Proportion of nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of Principal
Name operation capital issuied share capital held by the Company issued share capital held by the Company activities
3T
BHR  2EAR fRDFRE LN
WEARAR IRERHE  4RRX BRARAEENLA BRRAEENLA IERE
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly Total
Bk i Bk B ot
2025 2004 2025 2004 2025 2004 025 2004
0055 20048 055 2048 055 20048 05 2048
Faithful Galary Hong Kong HK§100 NA 100% N/A - /A 100% NIA Project
Construction & management
Engineering Co. services for
Limited*** facade and
installation of
curtain wall
systems and
investment
holding
& 00En - TR 100% TR - ki 100% TER SERRER
RBRGA
RHRENR
D
& Shenzhen Polyfair Curtainwall Technology Company Limited * RINEBBEBERBRBERARTDREHR
is registered under the law of the PRC as foreign investment BUEZAMAIEKRERE - ZER
enterprise. The official name of the entity is in Chinese. The MWEFRBARXEE KXAEE
English name is for identification purpose only. HEE R -
**  None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the o REEmEERAR  MERQ R EET
end of the respective reporting periods. EREBES °
***  Subsidiaries newly set up during the year ended 31 March *xx AEZE20259F3A31H L FEH KL
2025. ColiapE PAI
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38. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a) Acquisition

On 24 April 2025, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company (the “Purchaser”) and the vendors
entered into the sales and purchase agreement,
pursuant to which the Purchaser has conditionally
agreed to purchase, and the vendors has conditionally
agreed to sell, the 10,000 ordinary shares of Kings
Construction & Decoration Company Limited (the
“Target Company”), a private company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability, representing the
entire issued shares in the Target Company, at the total
consideration of HK$7,500,000 by issue of convertible
bonds. Upon completion, the entire shareholding of the
Target Company will be owned by the Purchaser, and
accordingly, the Target Company will become an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Further
details of this transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 24 April 2025.

(b) Issuance of convertible bonds

On 30 June 2025, the Company entered into two
subscription agreements with Mr. Wong Chi Kan Johnny
and Ms. Yip Nuen Yu (the “Subscribers”), pursuant to
which the Company has conditionally agreed to issue to
the Subscribers, and the Subscribers have conditionally
agreed to subscribe for, the convertible bonds in an
aggregate principal amount of HK$1,274,938 at the
conversion price of HK$0.024 per conversion share,
the ordinary share of nominal or par value of HK$0.01
each in the share capital of the Company which may
be allotted and issued upon exercise of the conversion
rights attached to the convertible bonds. Further
details of this transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 30 June 2025.

39. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

On 29 March 2025, Mr. Chow and the Group agreed to
settle HK$20,462,000 of the balance due to him by setting
it off against the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other
receivables of the same amount. As a result, HK$20,462,000
of the amount due to a director was settled, and the
corresponding prepayments, deposits and other receivables
was derecognised. After the set-off, the remaining balance
due to Mr. Chow amounted to HK$3,467,000.

REMB|RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3H31HILFE

38. {EHIREE
(a) Wig=1E

M2025F4[248 - X ARHEES
BWBARI(TES]) BEFIL
BEEHmE Bt EHAGKRAGR
ERE MEAAKHRELE
Kings Construction & Decoration
Company Limited (B2 A A]] -
RREBTMELZILABRA
A]) 210,000k T @AX - 16 B 1R
NEIZHDEITRD BKER
7,500,000/8 7T © & B 1T A ] X
BHEXf - EkiE - BERFEE
BREFHESESR @ Bt - BER
AR ARARRTZEEE2ENS
NE - WEAR S Z#E—THBHR
RNRARBHA2025F4A24A 2R

t:lto

(b) BITAIRKRES

MR2025%6 A30H » AR AIEER
HreEkERmat ((REBF]
R M RE R - BRI - ARA
ERHREMRE ST MRE
HAIBRHERERERNCEA RS
1,274,938 B T A RIRES « 8
I&(E B &R H R (70.0245 7T
77 {50 AT HR A% (B 25 T P 2 A% A 0 ] i
BRBEITARBRATEFREE
0.01BTH TR - AR FH 2
—SHEBHN AR R A 852025
F6H30BZR4E -

30. X EHFHRERS

MR202563H29H & B EEAE B
EEBUAARERETFTEMNTE B K
H i fE YRR IE20,462,0005% 7T 4K 85 FE 1~
FHRzASSERE - Al - BN —%
EEFRTA20,462,000/8 T 4555 - AR
FER B FRIE ~ B e R H A FE U GRIE IR
RIETER - HEHTE - B AL ERIEH
%4 /3,467,000 7T ©
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Financial Summary

MBHE

RESULTS ¥E
For the five years ended 31 March 2025, 2024, 2023, 2022 and B E2025%F + 20245 - 2023%F ~ 2022F
2021 20213 A31H IEFE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
2025 20244 20234 20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT FHETT FHET FHATT
Revenue Yz 237,585 427,341 330,715 362,094 299,995
(Loss) profit before taxation Br#i Al (EE) & 1 (132,413) 1,987 3,488 3,352 2,941
Income tax expense P15 #5 F (658) (750) (470) (695) (1,002)
(Loss) profit for the year FN(EE) & (133,071) 1,237 3,018 2,657 1,939
Other comprehensive (expense) FREME2E (LX)
income for the year WA 12 (10) (9) 28 (2)
Total comprehensive (expense) FREMEME (FX)
income for the year N L] (133,059) 1,227 3,009 2,685 1,937
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
20255 20244 20234 20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FET FET
Total assets EERAE 213,183 376,613 323,044 253,766 209,886
Total liabilities BEMAE (271,081)  (303,352)  (251,010)  (184,741)  (143,546)
Net (liabilities) assets (BRE)EERAE (57,898) 73,261 72,034 69,025 66,340
Note: i =E -

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.
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